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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

{Doltzrs in miffions, excopt per shere and empioyes amounts) 2007 2008 2005
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Net Sales $ 27,240 $ 24,083 § 20975
Operating Earnings 3,113 2,625 2,179
Operating Margin M1.4% 10.9% 10.4%
Earnings from Continuing Operations 2,080 1.710 1,448
Return on Sales (a) 7.6% 7.1% 6.9%
Discontinued Operations (8) 146 13
Net Earnings 2,072 1,856 1,461
Oiluted Earnings Fer Share

Continuing Cperations 5.10 4,20 3.58

Discontinued Operations (0.02) 0.36 0.03

Net Eamnings 5.08 4,56 381
Net Cash Provided by Continuing Operations 2,952 2,156 2,033
Capital Expenditures (474) (334} {262}
Free Cash Flow from QOperations (b) 2478 1.822 1771
Cash Conversion (c} 19% 107% 122%
Return on Invested Capital {b) 16.9% 15.6% 14.9%
AT YEAR END
Total Backlog $ 46,832 $ 43,667 $ 40,754
Total Assels 25,733 22,376 19,700
Shareholders' Equity 11,768 9,827 8,145
Qutstanding Shares of Common Stock 403,979,572 405,792,438 400,363,054
Number of Employees 83,500 81,000 70,800
Sales Per Employee (d) $ 329,400 $ 309,300 $ 300,700

{a} Rotum on sales is calcutated a3 eamings fom gontinuing operations divided by nel sales.

b} See dafinitions and reconcifations of non-GAAP linancial measuwres in Management's Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Repont.
{c} Cash comversion i calcutated as free cash flow from operations divided by eamings from continuing operations,

(0} Sales per employee is calouiated as nel sales for the past 12 months dvided by the averepe number of empioyess for the period.

This Arrud Repon cormiaing forward-looking statemends that are
tased on managament’s expectations, estimates, projections
and assumptions, Words such as “expects,” “anticipetes,”
"olans,” “befleves,” "schadued,” ‘estimates’ and varations of
these words and similar expressions are intended o idenlify
iorward-lookdng statements. Thesa include but are not Emited 10
projections of revenues, eamings, segment perkomance, cash
flows, contract awards, aircraft production, defiveries and back-
log stabiity. Forward-looking statements &e made pursuant 10
the safe harbor provisions of the Private Secuities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, as amended. These statements are not
guarartees of fulure perfomance and involve certain dsks and
uncentainties thet are difficut to predict. Thersiom, actual uture
results and trends may differ matenally from whal is forecast in
farward -looking statements due 10 a varlaty of factors, including,
without Emitation, general U.S. and intemational poitical and
economic condiions; changing pricriies in the U.S. govem-
ment's defense budget (ncluding the outcome of supplemental
defensa spending measures: and changes In priorties in
response (o terronist thveats, continuing operations in Afghanistan
and ragq, and improved homeland secuily); termination or

restucturing of govemment contracts due o unilateral govern-
ment action; differences in anlicipated and actua progam
performance, ncuding the adity {0 perform under long-lemn
foasd-pica contracts within estimated costs, and perormance
issues with key supplers and subcontractors; expected recov-
ary on contract claims and requests lor equitable adjustment;
changing cuslomer demand or preferences lor Dusiness aircrat,
induding the effects of economic condiions on the business-
arcrall markst; potential for changing prces for energy and raw
materigls; and the status or outcome of legal and/or reguiatory
proceedings.

Al forward -looking statements speak only as of the date of this
report or, in the case of any document incomorated by reference,
the date of that document. Al subseguent witten and o forward-
looking statements atiributable to the company or any person
acting on the company's behalfl are quathied by the cauticnary
staternents in this section. The company does not underake any
obigation to update or publicly release any revisions 10 forward-
looking siataments 1o mflact events, crcumstances or changes
in expectations efter the date of this report.







Letter to Shareholders

Dear Feflow Shareholder,

Your company enjoyed a terific 2007, Sales, operating
earnings, net earnings, cash flow from operations,
orders and backlog surpassed any previous year in the
company's history. The market rasponded accordingly.
Shareholders received a share price increase of 19.7
percent and a total return of 21.3 percent,

Revenues were $27.2 billion, a 13 percent increase
over 2006. Each of our businass groups contributed to
this year’s strong top-fiine performance, led by 30
percent sales growth at Combat Systems and 17
percent growth at Aerospace.

Operating eamings outpaced sales growth, generating
eamings from continuing cperations and fully diluted
eamings per shara growth in excess of 21 percent.
Growth in the company’s operating eamings resutted
from significant operating leverage in three of the com-
pany’s four business groups. The company's sustained
focus an continuous operational improvements has
generated four consecutive years of operating margin
expansion and a total 260-basis-point improvement in
marging during the past five years,

Cash from continuing operations totaled $3 billion for
the year, an increase of 37 percent over 2006. Free
cash flow, defined as net cash provided by operating
activities from continuing operations less capital
expenditures, was $2.5 bilion, which represents 119
percent of eamings from continuing operations. As a
result of strong cash generation, the company ended
the year with cash and short-term investments
modestly in excess of our lotal debt.

# Aerospace

Gulfstream enjoyed a blockbuster year in 2007,
Revenues grew by $712 milion to $4.8 billion.
Operating eamings reached $810 milion with 16.8
percent margins, Pricing improvemenis and manufac-
turing efficiencies combined to generate 120 basis
points of margin improvement.

Robust demand for Guifstrearn aircraft continued in
2007. Gulfstream booked orders for 257 aircraft, a 62
parcen! increase over 2006, Order growth of more
than 30 percent year-over-year in North America was
outpaced by powerful demand across an increasingly

broad global customer base. For the first time in the
company's history, intemational orders were more than
50 percent of total orders.

Despite a 22 percent increase in aircraft deliveries in
2007, backlog grew to an historic high of $12.3 biflion.
This sizeable backlog now extends the entry-into-
senvice date of our larger aircraft to 2011-2012, Based
on the strength of this backlog and the group’s proven
ability to increase production efficiently, defiveries wil
again increasa in 2008.

Wa remain commilied to investing in product develop-
ment at Guifstream. As pant of this commitment, the
company is building additional facilities 10 enable
Gutistream to efficiently design, build and service our
next-generation alrcraft, Last year we broke ground on
a new manufacturing faciiity that is now complete. We
also opened the first half of a new service faciiity,
doubling the Georgia-based capacity of Gulfstream’s
aircraft service business.

Earlier this month, we announced Gulfstream’s
next-generation ultra-large-cabin, ullra-long-range
aircraft, the GB50, which will enter senice in 2012,
Guifstream aircraft will continue to set the standard for
innovative business alircraft with the announcement of
yat another product offering later this year.

s Combat Systems

Combat Systems experienced powerful growth in
sales and operating sarnings in 2007. Ravenues
increased 30 percent to $4.8 bilion, while operating
earnings grew 35 percent to $916 million.

Sales growth was driven largely by demand for the
group's combat vehicles, particulady M1 Abrams
tanks, Stryker whesled combal vehicles, Light
Armmored  Vehicles (LAVs} and Mine-Resistant,
Ambush-Protected (MRAP) vahicles.

Our European business also enjoyed a successful year.
Military vehicle sales in Europe were up over 40 per-
cent, with notable volume increases on the Pandur
and Piranha wheeled-vehicle contracts for several
European governments. Additionally, management
continued to make great strides in the integration of

Pzt to right) Gerard J. DeMuro, Executive Vice President - information Systems and Technology.

Michael W. Toner, Executive Vice President — Maring Systems; Charles M. Hall, Executive Vice President -
Combat Systems; Nichotas D. Chabeaja, Chaimman and Chief Executive Ofiicer: Joseph T. Lombardo,
Executive Vice President — Aerospace, and President, Gulistream Aerospace.
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our Spanish, Swiss, German and Austrian-based
businesses, significantly improving operating efficiency.

The Combat Systemns backlog grew amost 8 percent
in 2007, totaling $12.9 bilion at year end. This backlog
contains many of our core programs including $2.8 bifion
for the M1 Abrams main bettle tank, $1 bilion for Stryker,
$2.3 billion for weapons systems, munitions and
detaction systems and $1.2 bilion for Leepard tanks and
Pizarro intantry fighting vehicles for the Spanish
government.

Looking forward, there are broad-based growth
opportunities in the group’s core markats, including U.S.
mifitary reset, replenishment and modernization and
sales 10 gllied nations.

u Marine Systems

General Dymamics' shipyards had a very productive
2007. The group generated better-than-expected
earnings growth of 12 percent, reaching $421 milion on
revenue of nearly $5 bilion. Operating margins grew 80
basis points to 8.4 percent, driven by improved perform-
ance on several of the group’s key programs, including
the Virginia-class submarine, the Arsigh Burke-class
destroyer and the T-AKE combat-logistics ship.

Marine Systems passed several milestones this year
clical to achieving strong future growth, Working closely
with our Navy customer, we settled the cormpany’s
request for equitable adjustment (REA} on the T-AKE
contract, solidifying our continued work on the program
and enabling our NASSCO shipyard to begin recognizing
profit on T-AKE. NASSCO also began construction on a
$1 billien, nine-ship commercial product-carier contract,
This new work broadens our customer base and
provides additional opportunities in the U.S.-based
commercial shipbuiiding market.

The Navy and the Congress remain committed to
shipbuilding as evidenced by the $13.6 bilion
appropriated ior the Nawvy's ship programs in Fiscal Year
2008. This funding in¢ludes the first DDG-1000

Revenusg by Group
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destroyer, the 10th Virginia-class submarine and the 10th
T-AKE ship. Notably, the Congress also added money 10
accelerale two-per-year submarine production and to
fund advanced procurement for an additional threg
T-AKE ships.

Given the group’s order intake during 2008, both already
received and anticipated, | believe that Marine Systems
has the potential to lead the company in sales growth
over the next four years.

= Information Systems and Technology

Information Systems and Technology revenues this year
lotaled $9.6 bilion, a 8.8 percent increase over 2008,
Operating sarmings grew 5.2 percent and surpassed $1
billion for the first time. Performance inftiatives throughout
the group enabled Information Systems and Technology
10 achieve margins of 10.7 percent, only a 10 basis-point
decline from 2006, despite my early concerns that
margin compression would be more significant as a result
of the increasing sarvice profile of the group's porticlio.

The group’s 2007 performance was marked by above-
market growth in our core markets, including 13 percent
growth in our North American tactical communications
business and 10 percent growth in our defense
information technology services business. The group's
performance is particulaty notable in ght of severa)
distinct headwinds for the year, including an expected
decline in the United Kingdom BOWMAN tactical com-
munications program, a siuggish commercial wireless
infrastructure business and a prolonged procurement
pause in our classified inteligence market.

The group received a racord-breaking $9.5 bilion in
ordars this year, flustrative of the continued marke!
demand for the group's products and senvices. At year
and, the group's backiog totaled $9.8 bilfion, down
slightly from year-end 2006. This backiog includes $900
million for Warfighter Information Network-Tactical
(WIN-T), $430 milion for tha Canadian Maritime
Helicopter Project and $300 million for the Intelligence
Information, Command-and-Control, Equipment and

Net Cash Provided by Contimting Operations

in billions)
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Enhancements (ICE2) program, Reported backlog does
not include approximately $8.7 bilion of potential contract
value asscciated with indefinite delivery, indefinite
quantity awards.

| believe that continued customer demand for our core
market programs and the group's ability to identify and
win new opportunities position us well for future growth,

@ The Future

We anlicipate another year of solid growth in 2008,
supporied by a Fiscal Year 2008 defense budget of $480
billion. This budget includes $176 billion in investment
spending for procurement and research and develop-
ment programs, a 10 pencent incraase over 2007 funding.
The President’s proposed 2009 budget request totals
$515 bilion, including $184 billion in investment
spending, an increase of 5 percent from the 2008 level.
These funding accounts provide the majority of the
company's revenues.

The President has also requested $189 bilion in
Fiscal Year 2008 supplemental funding. This funding is
incramental to the base budget and supporis the
governments efforts in the Global War on Terror. The
Congress has already approved $87 bilion in 2008
supplemental spending and is kely to consider the
remaining requast sometime this year. The Defense
Departrment has also indicated the need for additional
supplemenial funding in Fiscal Year 2009.

We continue 10 believe that defense spending is driven by
customer requirements and perceived threat. When our
country feels threatened, the government spends on
defense programs, In the years ahsad, we expect the
continued uncertainty in our global securily environment
1o sustain support for the needs of our military services.

Beyond the defense environment, we follow closely the
larger macroeconomic envirenment. [n light of the econ-
omy's recent uncertainty, we continually review order
activity and backlog strength at Gulfstream. Having
enjoyed seven consecutive quarters of book-to-bit in
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excess of one, | believe cur Agrospace busingss remains
well positionad to enjoy continued growth and profitability
over the next several years notwithstanding the apparent
skowdown of the Amexican economy.

m Capital Deployment

Management remains focused on deploying cash to
create value for our long-term shareholders. In 2007, we
took advantage of market weakness from time to time 1o
repurchasa 6.5 milion outsianding shares for a total of
$505 milion, Shareholiders also received $445 million in
dwidend payments last year. Earfier this month, the Board
increased the quarterly dividend for the 11th consacutive
year 10 $0.35 per share, an increase of nearly 21 parcent.

We also conlinued to invest in our businesses in 2007,
including spending $330Q milion on four acquisitions and
$474 millon on capital investments across the enterprise.
At year end, our strong cash generation leaves us with
the balance sheet strength and fiexdbility 10 madmize
shareholder value through further prudent deployment
of capital.

u In Closing

2008 is shaping up to be another productive year.
Management remains focused on the fundamentals that
have driven our company’s success over the years:
earnings, free cash flow, disciplined capital deployment
and return on invested capital. Our strong balance sheet,
enduring backlog and seasonad management team
position us well for the opportunities that fis ahead.

Nicholas D. Chabraja
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 21, 2008
Backlog
{in bilkons)
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General Dynamics is a market leader in the aerospace and defense industry,
creating shareholder value by providing products and services designed to
meet the needs of the most demanding customers. With a global employee
base of more than 83,500 workers, the company operates in four segments:
Aerospace, Combat Systems, Marine Systems and Information Systems
and Technology. Across the breadth of its offerings, the company is committed
to fulfiling the mission-critical requirements of its customers: the U.S. and aflied
national security, defense apd intelligenge communities, and select
commercial organizations.
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Agrospace

The Agrospace group,
comprising Guifstream
Aerospace Corporation and
General Dynamics Aviation
Services, has a global
reputation for superior
aircraft design, quality, safety
and reliabllity; technologically
advanced onboard systems;
and industry-leading, award-
winning product support.
Together these companies
design, manufacture and
service a comprefiensive
fleet of advanced business-
jet aircraft.

Combat Systems

The Combat Systems

group is a world leader

in producing, supporting
and sustaining land and
expeditionary combat
systems for the t).S. military
and its allies. Products
include a full spectrum of
wheeled armored combat
and tactical vehicles,
tracked main battle tanks,
infantry fighting vehicles,
weapons systems, ammuni-
tion and composites, as well
as new combat systems for
the future.

Marine Systems

The Marine Systems group
designs, builds and supports
submarines and a variety

of surface ships for the

1.5, Navy and commercial
customers. Among the
sophisticated platforms and
capabililies it delivers are
Virginia-class nuclear-
powered attack submarines;
surface-combatani, auxiliary
and combat-logistics ships;
commercial tankers;
engineering design support;
and overhaul, repair and
lifecycle support services.

Information Systems
and Technology

The Information Systems
and Technology group
provides technologies and
service capabilities that
suppoit a wide range of
government and commercial
needs for digital, network-
centric information systems.
The group’s key customers
rely on its offerings to
continuously meet critical
command, control, commu-
nications, computing,
intelligence, surveillance and
reconnaissance (C4ISR)
needs at home and abroad.

General Dynamics 2007 Annual Report 7
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Aerospace

Gulfstream is one of the world's leading
designers and manufacturers of business-
jet aircraft and, with General Dynamics
Aviation Services, is a leading provider of
husiness-fet support services. The group’s
diverse aircraft models — with varying
ranges, speeds and cahin dimensions -
are well suited to meet the needs of an
increasingly global base of corporate,
government and grivate customers.

In 2007, the group demonstrated ils
continued commitment to meeting
customers’ needs through a variety of
technology and service enhancemenis.
In an aviation first, Gulfstream flew an
experimental business jet using synthetic
vision and an enhanced vision system
together, establishing a new standard
for flight safety and technology in

business aviation. The company intro-
duced upgrades to its PlaneView® flight
deck including PlaneConnect?, a wireless
data link that can automatically
transmit service-relaled information
to rec¢uce the schedule impact of
maintenance procedures, as well as
enhancements to its flight-management
and ground-safety systems. In addition,
Gulfstream doubled its service capacity in
Savannah, Georgia, as part of a facility
growth ptan that also includes expanded
manufacturing and research and develop-
ment capabilities.

Gulfstream’s G550 (facing page), the flagship of the Gulistream fleet, flies higher and faster than any other
alrcratt in its class. The new G650 (rendering above), announced in spring 2008, will be produced in
Gulfstream’'s new Savannah manulacturing center. The mid-stze G150 (abowe, left) has been well recelved
since its entry into senvice in 2006, Distinclive aircraft design (second photo), standard-setting technologies
like the PlansView® cockpit (third photc) and superior cystomer service {right} conlribute to the popularity of

Aerospace’s products.

Generat Dynamics 2007 Annual Report
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Combat Systems

General Dynamics Combat Systems is a
market-leading integrator of tracked and
wheeled combat and tactical vehicle
systems, weapons systems, ammunition
and ordnance, maobile bridge Systems,
performance compasite products and
chemical, biological and explosive
detection systems.

Among Combat Systems' accomplish-
ments in 2007 was record production of
Mine-Resistant, Ambush-Protected {MRAP)
vehicles, through joint ventures and
organic capacity, designed to protect U.S.
and allied troops against the threats of
improvised explosive devices. Ongoing
contracts for manufacture, detivery,
upgrade and repair of Stryker infantry
combat vehicles and Abrams main battle
tanks underscored hese vehicles' critical

roles as mainstays ol the American
combat force. In addition, customer
support continued for development of
future combat and expeditionary fight-
ing vehicles. The group was also
awarded significant orders for mobile
bridging systems, weapons sysiems,
rockels and bomb bodies, demonstrating
widespread demand for the breagth of
Combat Systems’ products and capabili-
ties both in the U.S. and abroad.

Abrams 1anks {facing page} will play a vitai rolg in the U.S. Army's force structure for many years {0 coms.

The Stryker vehicle (mortar variant show In action, above) has aso been proven etfective in combat since its
firsl deployment in 2003. The USMC Expeditionary Fiphting Vehicle (gbove, (eft) is a nexd-generation combai
vehicte cumently under development. Along with machine guns (second photo), ammunition (third photo) and
tactical vehicles (right), these products are representative of Combat Systems' broad offerings to customers

around the world,

General Dynamics 2007 Annual Repon
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viarine Systems

General Dynamics Marine Systems
designs, develops, manufactures and
integrates complex maritime platforms
that are essential o the U.S. Navy's ability
to project power around the world. In
three shipyards, the group produces
state-of-the-art submarines, surface
combatants, supply ships and commercial
product carriers, each ¢apable ot meet-
ing demanding mission requirements
today and into the future.

In 2007, Marine Systems delivered three
modern T-AKE combat logistics ships,
faunched a third and achieved significant
shipbuilding milestones on three others.
Construction of new Virginia-class
nuclear-powered atlack submarines
continued, and significant orders for
maintenance and repair of exisling

submarines were received. Shipbuilding
and engineering support of the Navy's
current class of surface combatant, the
Arleigh Burke gquided missile destroyer,
continued al the group’s northernmost
shipyard, as did detail design work on the
next-generation Zumwalt Class (DDG-
1000). In addition, Marine Systems
continued construction of ils innovalive
new Littoral Combat Ship {LCS), the first
of a new category of small, fast, network-
centric surface combatants designed to
overcame €merging asymmetric threats
around the world.

Zumwalt-ctass DDG-1000 destroyers (facing page) draw on lessons leamed from the 34 Arlelgh Burke
destroyers (above, lett) bullt in Maine. USS Virginia (photo above) is the first of a 30-ship class that the
Nawy plans to procure. The Navy's new T-AKE ships (second photo) use commerclal technologles to
Improve performance and reduce lifecycfe costs. USS Hawail (third phoio), a Virginia-class submarine, was
commissioned in May 2007. The Littoral Combat Ship {right) is & new class of surfate combatanis.

General Dynamics 2007 Annmual Report
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Information Systems and Technology

General Dynamics Information Systems
and Technology delivers key digital,
network-centric capabilities to the U.S.
and allied national security, defense and
intelligence communities and select
commercial customers. The group’s
expertise and track record of innovation
span all aspects of the decisive technolo-
gies that enable design, development,
deployment, technology insertion and
support of lactical and strategic mission
systems, information technology (T} and
mission services, and intelligence
mission systems.

Representative programs include the
" Wartighter Information Network-Tactical
(WIN-T), the U.S, Army’s current and future
lactical batilefield broadband communi-
cation system; the U.S. Army Reserve

{USAR) Enterprise Data Center program,
for which the company provides
operations and maintenance, consolida-
tion and enterprise desktop managemern
services for 55,000 users at 900 sites; and
development of the open-architectuse
core mission system for the Littoral
Combat Ship, which will provide greater
mission flexibility while requiring fewer
sailors than current combatant ships.
The group is well positioned to
support growing requirements as
customers extend their reliance on
information technology, systems and
services to achieve their business and
mission objeclives.

Force-muiliplying technologies like the Land Warrior soldier system (facing page) and the USMC Combat
Operations Center {above) deliver erhanced tactical-communications capabiities to deployed torces,
Through high-qualily integration services (above, left), direct support to customers {second phoig) and new
products Including WIN-T's mobile sateflite communications (third phote) and the small, lightweight MR-1
rugged notebook computer (rght), General Dynamics conlinues to expand its relationships with cusiomers.

General Dynamics 2007 Anncal Repon
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(Dtary in milions, uniesy oiherwisy noted}

PART |
NEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

General Dynamics offers a broad portfolio of products and services in
business aviation; combat vehicles, weapons systems and munitions;
shipbuilding design and construction; and information systems, tech-
nclogies and services. Incorporated in Delaware, the company employs
arproximately 83,500 people and has a global presence.

General Dynamnics is a company dedicated (o consistently defivering
superior shareholder retums. Shareholder value is created by a strategy
that emphasizes excellence in program execution, sustained organic
grawth, continuous margin improvement, efficlent cash-flow conversion
and disciplined capifal deployment. To perpetuate growth, management
is Jedicated to ideniifying the fast currents in the company’s core markets,
sesking opportunities in adjacent markets and broadening the company’s
portfollo 1o encompass a variety of military, federal government, com-
mercial and international customers. The company deploys capital through
intemal investment, acquisitions, dividends and, when appropriate, the
repurchase of company shares on the open market.

In addition to creating sharehalder value and delivering the highest
quality products and services, the company’s management losters a
comporate culture centered on continuous improvement, innovation,
ethical behavior and integrity. This culture is evident In how the company
intaracts with shareholders, employees, customers, parmers and the
conmunities in which it operates.

Formed fn 1852 through the combination of Electric Boat Company,
Consolidated Vultee (CONVAIR) and other companies, General Dynamics
grew internally and through acquisitions until the early 1990s, when it
sold nearty all of its divisions except Electric Boat and Land Systems.
Beginning in 1995, the company expanded those two core defense
businesses by acquiring additional shipyards and combat vehicle-related
busingsses. In 1997, to reach a new, expanding markel, General
Dynamics bepan acquiring companies with expertise in information
technology products and services. In 1999, the company purchased
Guifstream Aerospace Corporation, a business-jet aircraft and aviation
support-services company. Since 1995, General Dynamics has acquired
and successfully integrated 47 businesses, including four in 2007.

General Dynamics operates through four business groups -
Aerospace, Combat Systems, Marine Systems and Information Systems
and Technology.

AEROSPACE

The Aerospace group designs, manufactures and services a comprehensive
offering of mid-siza and large-cabin business-|et aircraft. With nearly
50 years of experience in the asrospace market, the groug Is noted for:

* superior afreraft design, quality, safety and reliability;
e technologically advanced onboard systems; and
¢ [ndustry-leading product support.

To address the wide-ranging requirements of carporate, govemment
and individual customers, the Aerospace group offers a portfolio of six
Gulstream aircraft actoss a spectrum of price and performance oplions.
The varying ranges, speeds and cabin dimensions are well suited 1o the
diverse needs of an increasingly global customer base.

\\ 2,950 NM WITH 4 PASSENGERS MID-SIZE, HIGH-SPEED
_yes i =
B S ITTIVE N ]
. )\ 3,400 NM WITH 4 PASSENGERS LARGE-CABIN, MID-RANGE
NS T e G200
R S——
\ 3,800 NM WITH 8 PASSENGERS LARGE-CABIN, MID-RANGE
N G seeces G350
e - -
- 4,350 NM WITH 8 PASSENGERS LARGE-CABIN, LONG-RANGE
G450
S0 aaas _J
5,800 NM WITH 8 PASSENGERS LARGE-CABIN, ULTRA-LONG-RANGE
G500
8,750 NM WITH B PASSENGERS LAHC%E()CABlN. ULTRA-LONG-RANGE

General Dynamics 2007 Annual Repon 3




For the past several years, the Aerospace group has seen & steady
increase in demand for its products around the world, particularly in
Europe, the Middte East, India and the Asia-Pacific region. Notably, while
experiencing record growth in North American demand, intemational
orders surpassed North American orders in 2007 for the first time In the
group's history. Gulfstream also remains a (eading provider of aircraft
for government and military service around the world, with aircraft at
work in 34 nations. These government aircraft are used for a variety of
special-mission applications, including head-of-state/exscutive trans-
portation, aerial reconnaissance, maritime surveillance, weather
research and astronaut training.

To respond to this robust worldwide demand, and to perpeluate that
demand guing forward, the group has steadily Increased annual aircraft
production in each of the past four years, has invested in innovative
product development and significant facility improvements, and has
enhanced its global service network Aircraft production increases have
included both large aircraft, assembled at Agrospace's headquarters in
Savannah, Georgla, and completed at one of four large-cabin completion
facifities; and mid-size aircrafi, assembled at a supplier's facility and com-
pleted in the group’s Texas facilities. To ensure that increases in production
maintain profitability, the Aerospace group works closely with suppliers
and invests in manufacturing productivity and efficiency improvements.

The group continuously invests in research and devetopment (R&D)
over the course of ach aircraft's lifecycle to introduce new products and
first-to-market enhancements thal broaden custemer choice, improve
aircraft performance and set new standards for customer safely, comfort
and in-flight procuctivity. The latest Gulfstream to enter service, the mid-
size Gulfstream G150, demonstrates this inrovation, The G150 reptaced
the G100 mode! with an entirely new cabiin design that incorporates a
wider fuselage to Improve passanger comfort, The G150 has been well
received in both North American and intemational markets since its entry
into service In 20086.

in addition to meeting customers' demand for the latest in performance,
technotogy and safety, Gulfstream’s new and upgraded aircraft models are
designed to minimize lifecycle costs while maximizing parts
commonatity among the various Gulfstream modeis. Four of the group's
alrraft — the Guifstream G350, G450, G500 and G350 — as well as the
out-of-production GV, share the same pilot-type rating. For multiple-
aircraft fleet operators, this uniformity reduces training and malntenance
costs and enhances safety in the operation of the aircraft,

Current product-enhancement and development efforts include initia-
tives in advanced avionics, fiight-control systems, cabin technologies and
enhanced vision systems. In 2007 and early 2008, the Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) certified two of Guifstream's safety-enhancing
produsts — the second-generation Enhanced Vision System (EVS 1)) and
the new Synthetic Vision-Primary Flight Display (SV-PFD). EVS i is a
specially designed, forward-looking infrared (FLIR) camera that projects a
real-world infrared image on the pliot's head-up display (HUD), while
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Synthetic Vision provides three-gimensiona terrain Images cveriaid onto
the EVS Il images. The products work in tandem to provide pllots
with unparalieled situational awareness regardless of weather, temain or
landing-field conditions.

In March 2006, General Dynamics embarked on a $400, multiyear
facilities project designed to create additional RED offices, improve the
customer sales and design cenler, increase aircrafi service capacity and
create facililies to build next-generation aircraft in Savannah. Key 2007
developments include: '

= the ground breaking in April for a new manufacturing facifity, with inl-
tial phase construction scheduled for completion in spring 2008,

* a |ease signing In May for expanded R&D faclliles;

« the opening in June of a new Sales and Cesign Center, @ unique factity
to hetp guide customers through the aircraft purchase and Interior-
design selection process; and

« the apening in August of Phase One of the new South Service Center,
which more than doubled the indoor capacity of the Savannah service
opesation.

In addilion to the increased service capacity in Savannah, the
Aerospace group continues to enhance service support capabilities to
address the needs of a growing global fleet of installed aircraft. The group
remains committed to providing high-quality technical support 24 hours
a day for customers in the United States and around the world. The group
is building an its extensive network of service centers, warranty facilities,
fleld-service representatives and parts inventory locations. In March
2007, the group acquired WECD Aerospace Systems, Inc. (WECQ), of
Lincoln, California. WECO |s an aviation-component oveshaul company
specializing in electronics and flight-instrument services.

Asrospace's commitment to superor customer service continues 1o
gamer top industry awards for exemplary product service and support. The
group’s unique Airbome Product Support aircraft program, in operation
sinoe 2002, exempiifies this award-winning service. This program provides
a specially modified G100 to move technicians and parts rapidly to
customers when commercial transportation methods would prevent the
timely retumn to service of customer aircratl.

As a market leader, Gulfstream remains focused on:

» profitably increasing aircrait production to capitalize on increased
globa! demand;

» driving efficiencles into the aircraft production and service processes;
and

o continuously investing in innovative first-to-market technologies and
products.




Net sales for the Aerospace group were 18 percent of the company's
consolidated net sates in 2007, 17 percent in 2006 and 16 percent in
2005. Net sates by major products and services were as follows:

]

Year Ended Oecambar 31

Mew aircrafi $ 4,081 $3341 §$27%¢
Aircraft services 669 558 484
Fre-owned aircraft 78 217 219
Total Aerospace $ 4,828 $416 § 3433

COMBAT SYSTEMS

The Combat Systems group is a global leader in the design, devefopment,
production, support and enhancement of tracked and whesled military
vzhicdes, weapons systems and munitlns for the United States and its ailles.
The gmup's product lines include:

» wheeled amored combat and tactical vehicles;

+ tracked main battle tanks and infantry fighting vehicles;
» guns and ammunition-handling systems;

s ammunition and ordnance;

+ maoblle bridge systems;

* passive, active and reactive armor;

= chemical, biplogical and explosive detection systems;

« gfectronic counter-measures; and

« high-performante composite products.

Combat Systems has established a strong foundation of key products
trat have become core platforms for customers across the combat
vehicle, armaments and munitions product lines. These long-term
production programs provide the group's management the opportunity
¢ pursue continuous process and productivity improvements to
increase customer satisfaction, reduce product lifecycle costs and
improve the group’s financial performance. Al the same time, the group
appties its design and engineering expertise to develop product
inprovements that advance the utility and performance of these systems,
while identifylng and positioning itself for opportunities in emerging and
adjacent markets.

At the heart of Combat Systems' core programs are the Stryker
wieeled combal vehicle and the Abrams main battle tank. The group is
the sole provider of these vehicles — two of the key ground-force assets
for the group's primary customer, the U.S. Army. Both of these vehicles
hewe praven highly effective in gperations in Irag, securing their place in
the Army’s force structure for some time to come.

Combat Systems produces Sirykers under a contract awarded in 2001,
with nearly 2,400 units defivered to date and another 425 remaining
through 2009, The Stryker supports numerous missions with 10
varlanits: infantry carrier, command and control, medical evacuation, fire
supporl, engineering, anti-lank, mortar carigr, reconnaissance, mobile
qgun system (MGS), and nuclear, bislogical and chemical reconnaissance
vehicte (NBCRV).

Although Combat Systerns has not produced new Abrams tanks since
1996, It continues to support the Anny's evolving needs with technological
upgrades, including the System Enhancerment Package (SEP) and tha Tank
Urban Survivability Kit (TUSK). The SEP-configured task is a digial platiorm
with an enhanced command-and-control System, second-generation
thermal sights and improved armor. The TUSK increases the iank's
utility and crew survivability in modern urban warlare scenarios. In
addition, through an innovative partnership with the Anniston Amny
Oepot, the group's Abrams Integrated Management (AIM) program
refurbishes the ofdest M1A1 Abrams tanks 1o a like-new condition,

Complementing these combat-vehicle programs are Combat Systems'
munitions and weapons-system programs. The group holds leading or
s0le-source munitions supply positions for products such as:

« the 120mm mortar and the 155mm and 105mm artillery projectile for
the U.S. government;

» conventional bomb structures for the U.S. government;

» all mortar systems and large-caliber requirements for the Canadian
Depariment of National Dafence; and

» military propeflant requirements in the North American market.

in addition, Combat Systems has basn designated the principal second
source for the U.S. military’s smali-caliber ammunition needs,
The acquisition of Canadian corporation SNC-Lavalin Group’s munitions
business in January 2007 enhanced these offerings and expanded
Combat Systems' international customer profile,

Combat Systems is also a long-standing leader in the field of high-
pesformance weapens systems, The group manutactures the M2 heavy
machine gun and the MK19 and MK47 grenade launchers, as well as
weapons for most U.S. fighter aircraft, including all high-spaed Gatling
guns for fixeg-wing aircraft and the Hydra-70 family of rockets.

in addition to supporting these long-term platform and supply
programs, Combat Systems has been active in supporting the United
States’ ongoing operallons in Irag and Afghanistan. Beyond providing
armor kits, ammunition and logistics support for forces deployed over-
seas, the group has identified new technoliogies to respond (oits customers’
evolving requirements. Among these are innovative solutions to detect
current and emerging threats, including chemical, blolopical and
explosive detection systems, as well as systems to protect U.5. forces
against improvised explosive devices (IEDs).
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To provide U.5. soldiers with improved protection from mines, IEDs
and other threats, Combat Systems has established teaming relation-
ships and has leveraged its available capacity and vehicle-integration
expertise to participate in the Defense Department's high-priority mine-
resistant, ambush-protected (MRAP} vehicle program, The group offers
two separate vehicles under this program, the RG-31 and the Cougar,
which it produces as part of a joint venture. In total, these vehicles
constituted approximately 3,500 of the nearly 12,000 vehicles awarded
under this program in 2007.

The group is also beginning to see the effects of the high operational
tempo of five years of wartarg on U.5. military assets, which will require the
refurbishment of battie-damaged vehicles, the replacement of equipment
that has reached the end of its service fife and the replenishment of
ammunition and other supplies for the U,S. armed forces. As the princlpat
contractor for the maintenance, repair and reset of Abrams tanks and
Stryker vehicles, Combat Systems expects the sustaining and upgrading of
U.S. forces to begome an increasing share of its contract mix,

The Combat Systems group is also focused on innovative technologies
and is well positioned to participate in future development programs. For
the U.S. Marine Corps, the group continues the design and testing of the
Expeditionary Fighting Vehicle (EFV), a new expeditionary combat
platform designed to replace the service's current craft. The EFV has a
breakthrough design thal provides sea maneuverability at speeds up 10
25 ¥nots and ground mobility equaling that of the Abrams tank. The
pompany expects the Marine Corps to authorize production of up to 573
vehicles starting in 2012,

Combat Systems is a key team member in the Army's Future Combat
Systems (FCS) program and leads the system development of the FCS
manned ground vehicle program. Combat Systems is also involved in the
development and production of precision munitions systems, including
the Army's Gulded Multiple-Launch Rocket System (GMLRS) and the
Excalibur artillery system - both currently in use in Iraq and Afghanistan,
In addition, the group is involved in the competition for the Joint Light
Tactical Vehicle (JLTV) program to replace the Army’s flest of Hurvees®,
as well as the competition for the Future Rapid Effects System (FRES)
in the United Kingdom. Through these and ofher efforts, the group Is
developing new technologles, such as hybrid-electric drive for combat
vehicles, autonomous navigation systems for robolic platforms and
advanced systems for high-speed amphibious appiications.

To expand access 0 new markets and diversity its customer base
beyond the U.S. govemnment, General Dynamics has estabtished a signlf-
icant presence intemationaily. The Combat Systems group has become a
recognized military-vehicle integrator and leading defense-materiel
provider worldwide. It has manufacturing facilities in Australia, Austria,
Canada, Germany, Spain and Switzerland, and has cuslomers in more
than 30 countries. The group's European business offers a broad range of
products, including light- and medium-weight tracked and wheeled
tactical vehicles, amphibious bridge systems, ariflery systems, light

6 General Dynamics 2007 Annual Repon

weapons, ammunition and propeflants. Uke the group's U.S. market, many
of these systems constitute key platforms employsd by its customers'
military forces. These include the Leopard 2E tank and the Pizamo tracked
infanky combat vehicle, produced for the Spanish ammy; the Pandur [l
amored combat vehicle, produced for the Portuguese any and navy; and
the Piranha wheeted armored vehicle, which the group has sold to
several European countries.

Bayond the European market, Combat Systems is experiencing
Increased international demand as a result of the demonstrated success
of its fielded products. In particular, the group has opporiunities to provide
Abrams tanks to Egypt, Strykers to Israel, and light armored vehicles (LAVS)
and Abrams tank upgrades to Saudi Arabia.

The Combat Systems group will continug 10 seek opportunities 1o
improve performance across the business as it delivers on its substantial
backlog. In an emvironment of continuously expanding threats and evolving
customer needs, including an increase¢ emphasis on speed to market,
the group remains focused on its customers’ requirements and the
opportunities they present. .

Net sales for the Combat Systems group were 29 percent of the
company’s net sales in 2007, 25 percent in 2006 and 24 percent in
2005, Net sales by major products and services were as (ofiows:

o > oe

Yoar Ended December 31

Medium armored vehicles $3.265 $ 2.204 $1610
Main battle tanks 1,430 1,181 93
Munitions and propeliant 1,276 805 616
Amament and detection systems 761 491 274
Engineering and developmant 598 582 810
Rockets ang missile components 284 317 324
Agrospace componenis and other 173 402 456
Total Combat Systems 87,797 $5983 $5.021

MARINE SYSTEMS

The Marine Systems group designs, builds and supports submarines and
surface ships for the U.S. Navy and commercial ships for Jones Act
customers. The group operates three of the six shipyards in the United
States that parform farge-ship construction for the Nawy, including one of
the country’s two nuclear submarine yards and the only yard that services
deep-drafl surface ships on he West Coast. The group’s diverse portfalio
of platforms and capabllities includes:

 nuclear-powered submarines (Virginla Class);

» surface combatants (DDG-51, 0DG-1000, LCS);
» auxiliary and combat-logistics ships (T-AKE);

* commercial ships;

« gnginegring design support; and

« overhaul, repair and lifecycle support services.




The substantial majority of Marine Systems' workload supports the
U.S. Nawy through the construction of new ships and the design and
development of next-generation platferms to help the customer face
evolving misstons and maintain its desired fleet size, as well as mainte-
nance and repair services to maximize the life of in-service ships. This
business consists of major ship-construction programs awarded undes
large, mufti-ship contracts that span several years. The group's mature
construction programs currenlly consist of the lasl-altack Virginia-
class submarine, the Arleigh Burke-class (DDG-51) guided-missile
destsoyer and the Lewls and Clark-class (T-AKE) dry cargofammunition
combat-logistics ship.

The VirgInia-class submarine is the first U.S. submarine designed to
address post-Cold War threats, including capabliities tallored for both
open-ocean and near-shore area missions. These stealthy ships are well
suited for a variety of giobal assignments, Including ctandestine intelligence
gathering, special-oparations missions and sea-based missile launch,

The Nawy's Virginia-class program of record includes 30 submarings,
which the customer Is procuring in multi-ship blocks. In late 2007,
Marine Systems commenced sea trials for the fourth and final ship under
the group's cosl-reimbursable Block | contract. The group, in conjunction
with an industry partner that shares in the construction of these vessels,
i5 working on five of the next six ships under the fixed-price Block Il
contract. Deliveries of these ships are scheduled through 2013. General
Dynamics expects 10 sign a Block Ml contract in 2008 for eight additional
ships for cefivery through 2018. As a result of strong Navy and congres-
sional support, innovative cost-saving design and production efforts,
&nd successful program execution, the group expects to begin building
two submarines per year as early as 2011, one year earller than
previously planned.

Marine Systems is the lead designer and producer of Arleigh Burke
destroyers, a sophisticated class of surface combatants and the only
active destroyer in the Naw’s global surface fleet. During 2007, the
group delivered USS Sampson, the 28th of 34 DDG-51 ships the Navy
has contracted with the company to build. The six remalning ships are
scheduled for delivery between 2008 and 2011,

The group’s T-AKE is the Nawy's first new combat-logistics ship design
in almost 20 years and the first Navy ship 1o incorporate proven commer-
clat marine technclogies, such as integrated electric-drive propulsion,
These technologies are desipned to minimize T-AKE operations and
maintenance costs over an expected 40-year life. The T-AKE ships
suppart the Nawy's Sea Basing vision by delivering ammunition, food,
fusl, parts and other supplies to U.S. and NATO operating forces around
the world. Following the dellvery of the first T-AXE in 2008, the Navy
deployed the ship to the Arabian Gulf. In 2007, the group delivered the
next three ships, and work Is underway an four of the remalning six ships
currently under contract, with deliveries scheduled through 2010
With ane ship curently deptoyed overseas and three other ships in servics,
the T-AKE ctass Is already contributing to the Navy's forward presence

posture. The T-AKE contract was restructured In 2007 to include Tive
additional option ships, which could bring the total number of ships in
the program to 14. The Navy exercised the option for the 10th ship and
authorized procurement of long-lead materials for the 11th ship in
January 2008.

In 2007, the group completed the conversion of four Trident ballistic-
missile submarings to guided-missile submarines, or SSGNs. Through
close collaboration with the Nawy's public shipyards, the group success-
fully delivered the four ships on schedule and under budget. The SSGNs
are multi-mission submarines optimized for conventional tactical-strike
and special-operations support. They allow the United States to engage
targets quickly, with surprise and from close-in positions. The first of the
four boats, LSS Ohilp, successfully completed all post-conversion testing
in 2007 and recently departed on an inaugural 300-day deployment.

The Marine Systems group is also participating in the development of
technologies and naval platferms for the future,

With DDG-51 construction nearing completion, the group 13 focused
on the design of the next-generation guided-missile destroyer, the
DDG-1000 Zumwalt Class. The company has ane of two contracts for the
detall design of this multi-mission destroyer under a congressionafly
directed dual-lead-ship strategy, which requires that the vessels be
procured from two separate shipyards. in February 2008, the Navy
awarded the company a construction contract for the first DDG-1000.

Marine Systems leads one of two industry teams awarded contracts
for the design and construction of the Littoral Combat Ship (LCS}, a new
high-speed surface warship designed 1o address emerging coastal-water
threats. The LCS 1s a mutti-mission warship that can be conflgured to
combat a variety of threats in near-shore waters, including small boats,
mines and submarines. Marine Systems' LCS is derived from a proven
commercial {rimaran design and Is well suited to accommodate the
speed, draft and cargo capacity requirements of this new combatant
class of warships. The group’s first ship is under construction at a team-
mate's Alabama facility and is scheduled to be launched in 2008. The
Navy cancelted the contract for the group’s second ship in 2007 and
continues to assess future LCS construction requirements.

In 2007, the group continued to apply its design expertise on & joint
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA)-Navy initiative to
Identity and overcomse technological barriers to reducing the cost of
future submarines. The group Is developing technologles to propel
submarines with external electric motors and to reduce the ship's

.Infrastructure and improve ils Sensors.

In addition to these design and construction programs, the Marine
Systems group provides comprehensive ship and submaring overhaul,
repalr and lifecycle support services to extend the service life of these
vessels and maximize the value of these ships to the customer. The group
also provides international allies with program management, planning
and engineering design support for submarine and surface-ship
construction programs.

General Dynamics 2007 Annual Report 7




Beyond its Navy programs, the group designs and produces ships for
commercial customers to meet the Jones Act requirement that ships camying
cargo between U.S. ports be built in U.S. shipyards. In 2005, General
Dynamics signed a contract with U.S. Shipping Partners to build up to nine
product-carrier ships. These product cariers are based on a design the
company obtained Uvough a strategic partnership with a weil-established
international commercial shipyard. The partnership allows Marine Systems
to offer proven commercial ship dasigns to Jones Act customers, to leam
best practices that improve efficiency and throughput, and to achieve cost
savings on malerlals procured through the partnership. The group lald the
keel of the first ship in late 2007, and delivery is expected in the first
quarter of 2009.

To further the group’s goals of efficiency and continyous program
improvement, General Dynamics is committed to strategic investments
in its shipyards in partnership with the Nawy and local governments. In
2007, capital improvement projects inciuded the refurbishment of a
submarine dry dock, construction of a facility to enable significant
modular construction efficiencies for current and next-generation
destroyers, and development of a material staging area lo facililate
construction of the commercial product carmiers. In addition to these
investments, the Marine Systems group continues to leverage lts design
and engineering expertise across 1s shipyards o improve program
execution and generate cost savings. This knowledge sharing enables
the group to use resources more efitciently and promole process improve-
ments throughout the business, The group Is well positioned to effectively
fulfill the long-term ship-construction and support requirements of its
Navy and commercial customers.

et sales for the Marine Systems group were 18 percent of the company's
consolidated net sales in 2007, 21 percent in 2006 and 23 percent in
2005. Net sales by major products and services were as follows:

Year Endad Decamboer 33 2007 2008 005 |
Nuclear-powered submarines $ 235 § 2427 $ 2,396
Surface combatants 1112 1,088 1,008
Aunxiliary and commarcial ships 953 807 598
Repair and other services 573 618 €93
Total Marine Systems $ 497 § 4940 $ 4,695
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INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND TECHNOLOGY

The Information Systems and Technology group offers technologies,
products and services that supporl & wide range of government and
commercial needs. General Dynamics created the group in 1998, and it
has grown significanily In response 1o the expanded markets for digital
network-gentric command, control, commuynications, computing, inteli-
gence, surveillance and reconnaissance {C4ISR) and information-sharing
technologies in the U.S. and allied national-security, defense and inteli-
gence communities. Information Systems and Technology has evolved
through acquisitions and by expanding the capabillties, products and
customers of the three-part portfolio that the company estabNished in creating
the group — tactical and strategic mission systems, information technology
and mission services, and intelligence mission systems. Over the past 10
years, through 25 acquisitions and organic growth, the group has become
General Dynamics' largest segment. The group today operates in three
principal markets, described below.

Tactical and strateglc mission systems — The group designs, manu-
factures and defivers trusted and secure communications network systems,
ruggedized computers, command-and-controt systems and operational
hardware to Depariment of Defenss, intelligence, federal civilian agency
and international customers,

This markel is characterized by programs such as the U.S. Anmy's
Joint Network Node (JNN)/Warfighter Information Network-Tactical (WIN-T)
battlefield communications networks, which the Army restructured into a
single program in 2007. As the prime contractor, the group Is responsiblea
for the design, engineering, integration, production, program management
and support of the Army's primary current ang future battlefietd commu-
nications network. This network uses ground and satellite communications
links to provide commanders with the digital telecommunications services
they need to access intelligence information, Inltiate battle plans,
colfaborate with other military elements, issug orders and monitor the
status of their forces.

The group also provides many of these capabiillies to non-U.S.
customers, through programs such as the BOWMAN digital voice and
data communication system for the United Kingdom's Ministry of
Defence, the New Integrated Marines Communications and Information
System (NIMCIS) for the Royal Netherands Marine Corps, and the [RIS
Tactical Command, Control and Communications System program for the
Canadlan Department of National Defence.

The Information Systems and Technology group’s leadership in this
market has been developed through decades of experience In designing,
bullding and supporting previous generations of communications technologies.
With roots in commerclal markets, the group’s expertise and record of
innovatlon encompass all of the decisive technologles thal enable design
and deployment of tactical networking systems. These include:

» ruggedized mobile computing solutions with embedded wireless
capability; '




« information assurance technologies, products, systems and services that
ensure the secusity and integrity of digital communications worldwide;

+ broadband networking and aulomated network management;

« digital switching:

* gncryption technologies;

«» very-high and ulira-high-frequency radio communications; and

» fixed and mobile satellite communications systems and antenna
lechnologies.

In addition to the work it does for the defense and intelligence com-
munities, Information Systems and Technology has increased its business
in the Department of Homeland Security and federal civilian markets
through programs such as Rescue 21 and the Integrated Wireless
iNetwork (WN) contract. Rescue 21 is a state-of-the-art search-and-rescug
system that the U.S. Coast Guard uses to locate distressed mariners and
iJaploy rescue assets. The IWN program is a joint effort by the Depariments
of Justice, Homeland Security and the Treasury to provide a nationwide,
Interoperable wireless communications service in support of federal law
prforcement, homeland security and first-responder operations.

Information technology and mission services — The group provides mission-
vritical information technology (IT) and skilled mission-support services to
11S. defense and national-sacurity customers as well as select federal
tivilian agencies and commerclal customers. The group also specializes in:

« the design, development and Integration of wirefing and wireless voice,
video and data networks;

« mission simulation and tralning services; and

« secure identification and credentialing capabilities.

In this market, Infermation Systems and Technology has a longstanding
raputation for excellence In providing technical-suppont personnel and
comain specialists that enable customers to execute their missions
effectively. For many customers, Information Systems and Technology
employees are the on-call staff who provide technical support for both
desktop technology and mission-specific hardware. For others, they
are skilled in the teols and techniques of specific mission systems,
providing the personnel to conceive, instali and operale systems on a
day-to-day basis,

in Fort Huachuca, Arzona, for example, Information Systems and
Technology employees provide training and T suppon services for
citical Army intelligence smissions, merging five data with network-
cantric computer-based simulations. The group also has provided
€ erprise-wide IT and information management services 1o Naval Air
Systems Command for more than 10 years as the customer's primary
icgistics-support contractor. In Irag, the group supports the Army's mili-
tary health-care IT mission, helping ensure continuity of care for Injured
suldiers by providing accurate, imely information to medical staff both in
{te field and at treatment facilities,

Information Systems and Technology also is a principal supplier of
network modernization and [T infrastructure services 1o U.S. government
customers. As one of the U.S. Alr Force's leading partners for network
modemization, the group has provided IT support services to more than
75 Alr Force bases, and it currently supports all Alr Force main operating
bases. The group has eamed 100 percent award fees for performance
excellence over the past five years on the Pentagon Renovation program,
where it provides network-infrastructure services ranging from system
architecture and design to build-out, maintenance and operations. The
group also has provided conlinuous enterprise-wide IT services and
support to the U.S. Senate for more than five years.

Intelligence mission systems — The group provides the U.S. and aflied
intelligence communities with highty specialized intefligence, surveillance
and reconnaissance (ISR) capabdities. These include:

+ signals and information collection, processing and distribution systems;
= special-purpose computing;

» multi-levei securily;

* data mining and fusion;

« open-architecture mission systems and service-oriented architecture;
* special-mission sateflites and payloads; and

« |nformation operations services.

For example, one of the group'’s businesses has a 50-year legacy of
providing advanced fire control systems for Navy submarine programs.
This includes more than 30 years of providing payloads and sensors,
ground mission processing and intelllgence anatysis for critical nationa
defense programs. With the development of the core mission system for
the Navy's LCS, the group has established an open architecture that pro-
vides greater misslon flexibitity and requires fewer saflors than current
combatants. The group continues 1o extend its market presence in Navy
strategic programs with a recent award for onboard computing upgrades
to the Trident D5 missile.

tnformation Systems and Technology also is a leading provider of
personngl with mission-specific experience in execuling programs in the
intefligence fleld. In parinership with the U.S. Joint Forces Command,
for example, the group integrates collaborative CAISR environments In
support of worldwide training exercises.

In addition, the group continues to extend its legacy of providing
special payloads and communications capabilities to spacecraft. The
group is part of a team that was recently selected to provide the next--
generation ground-control segment for the nation's Global Positioning
System {GPS} Block Il and future Block |l satellites. This program Includes
satallite command and control, mission planning, constellation management,
monitoring stations and ground antennas.

The group’s contracts In securing and protecting the Internet have
resulted in a leading market position in computer forensics, countering
identity theft and preventing credit card fraud. In addition, based on
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strong capabilities in information operations, computer network defense,
and the certification and accreditation of multi-level secure C4ISR sys-
tems, the group Is well positioned to meet the emerging requirements of
the Air Force Cyber Command.

General Dynamics purchased two companles in 2007 that expand-
ed the group’s ¢apabilities in the intelligence market. On October 24,
the company acquired Monteria, LE.C, of Mount Airy, Maryland, which
designs and manufactures technologies and systems dedicated
exclusively to supporting the signals intelligence (élGINT) community.
On Novernber 13, the company acquired Mediaware International Pty
Ltd. of Australla, which develops real-time tull-motion compressed
digital video processing software and systems for defense, Intelligence
and commercial customers.

Although diversion of funding to high-priority war requirements has
slowed the growth in some areas of the Information Systems and
Technology group's broad portfolio, the group's increasingly diversified
customer base has stimulated new opportunities in each of these
principal markets. As the group continues to grow, it is positioned to take
advantage of:

» the Defense Department's increasing use of multiyear indefiniie
delivery, indefinite quantity (IDIQ) contract vehicles;

» the federal government’s continued use of outsourced IT solutions; and

» the growing reguirements among homeland security and Intetigence
customers faced with asymmetric threats.

et sales for the information Systems and Technology group were
35 percent of the company’s consolidated net sales in 2007 and 37 percent
in each of 2006 and 2005, Net sales by major products and services
were as follows:

Yaar Ended Dacamber 31 2006 2005 ]
Tactical and strateglc missicn systems  $4,008  $4083  $3.912
1T end mission services 3,584 2,854 1,804
Intelligence mission systems 2,030 2.067 2,110
Total Information Systems and

Technology ' $9622 39024 $782%

For additional discussion of General Dynamics' businesses, including
significant program wing in 2007, see Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in
Part 1, item 7, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For information en the
revenues, operating eamings and Identifiable assets atfributable to each
of the company's business groups, see Note R to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in Part Il, ltem B, of this Annual Repart on
Form 10-K. '
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CUSTOMERS

In 2007, 69 percent of the company's net sales were to the U.S. government;
14 percent were to U.S. commercial customars; 10 percent were directly
to internationat defense customers; and the remalning 7 percent wers o
international commercial customers, !

U.5. GOVERNMENT

General Oynamics' primary customers are the U.S. Department of
Batense and intelligence communlty. The company has recently expanded
its relationships with other U.S. government customers throughout the
national-security communlly, Including the Depariment of Homgland
Security and first-responder agencies at federal and state levels. The
company's net sales to the U.S. govemment were as follows:

Year Endeo Decamber 31 2007 2006 2005 ]
Direct $18,447 $ 15,848 $13,80
Forelgn Mikitary Sales” . 310 456 409
Tolal U.S. government $18757 $16404 $14,210
Percent of total net sales 69% . 68% 68%

* In addition to Its direct intemational sales, the company sells to forelgn povernments through
the Foreign Military Sa'es (FMS) program, Under the FMS program, the company contracts with
and is paid by the 4.5, govemmers, and the LS. government assumes the risk of cotlection
trom the foraign government customer.

The company performs ts U.5. govemment business under cost-
reimbursement, tima-and-materials and fixed-price contracts. Contracts
for research, engineering, protofypes, repair and maintenance are typically
cost-relmbursement or time-and-materials. Under cost-reimbursement
contracts, the customer reimburses the company for allowable costs and
pays a fixed fee and/or an incentive- or award-based fee. These {ees are
determined by the company's ability o achieve largets set in the
contract, such as cost, quality, schedule and performance. Under time-
and-materials contracts, the customer pays a fixed houdy rate for direct
tabor and reimburses the company for materials costs. The company's
production contracts are primarily fixed-price. Under these contracts, the
company agrees to perform a specific scope of work for a fixed amount.

Cost-relmbursement contracts accounted for approximately 40 per-
genit of the company's U.S. govemment business in 2007 and 41 percent
in 20086; time-and-materials contracts accounted for approximately 7 per-
cent in each of 2007 and 2006 and fixed-price contracts aceounted
for approximately 53 percent in 2007 and 52 percent in 2006.




Each of these conlract types presents advantages and disadvantages.
Cost-reimbursement contracts generally involve lower risk for the
company. They also can include fee schedufes that allow the customer to
make additional payments when the company satisfies certain performance
criteria. However, not all costs are reimbursed under these types of
contracts, and the government can challenge the costs charged by the
company. In addition, the negatiated base fees are generally lower, con-
sistent with the company's lower risk. Under time-and-materials
contracts, the company’s targeted profit may vary If actual labor hour
costs vary significantty from the negotialed rates. In addition, the
company generally charges materials costs with ttle or no fee, which
can dilute the profil margins associated with these ¢ontracts. Fixed-price
contracts typically have higher negotiated fees in recognition of the
higher risk and offer the company additional profits if it can complete the
work for less than the contract amount. However, fixed-price contracts
require that the company absorb cost overruns.

0.5. COMMERCIAL

The company's U.S. commercial sales were $3,732 in 2007, $3,831 in
2006 and $3,396 in 2005. These sales represented approximately 14
percent of the company's consolidated net sales In 2007 and 16 percent
in each of 2006 and 2005. The majority of these safes are for Gutstream
aireraft, primarily to FORTUNE 500® corporations and targe, privately
held companies. Customers from a wide range of industries operate
the aircraft.

INTERNATIONAL

The company's direct {non-FMS) sales to govesnment and commercial
custormers outside the United States were $4,751 in 2007, $3,828 in
2006 and $3,369 in 2005. These sales represented approximately
17 percent of the company's consolidated net sales in 2007 and 16 percent
in each of 2006 and 2005.

Genera! Dynamics' non-U.S. subsidiaries conduct most of its direct
international government sales. The company has an operaling presence
around the world, including subsidiary operations in Australia, Austra,
Canada, Germany. [taly, Mexico, Spain, Switzedand and the United
Kingdom. General Dynamics’ non-L.S. subsidiaries are committed (o
developing long-term relationships in their respective countries and have
distinguished themselves as principal regional suppliers.

In the commerclal sector, most of the company’s exporis are
business-jet afrcraft. The market for business-jet aircraft outside North
America has expanded rapidly in recent years, particularly in Europe, the
Mitdle East, India and the Asia-Pacific region. While the United States
continues to be the company's largest market for business aircraft,
orders from customers outside North America represent a growing
segment of the company's aircraft business, exceeding 50 percent of
total orders in 2007,

Agrospace 2004-2007 Orders (In Units) by Geographic Region
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For a discussion of the risks associated with conducting business in
intemational locations, see Risk Factors contained in Part |, ltem 1A, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. For information regarding sales and assets
by geographic region, see Note R to the Consalidated Financial Slatements
contained in Part Il, ltem 8, of this Annual Repart on Form 10-K.

COMPETITION

Severa! factors determine General Dynamics' ahility to compete successiully
in both the defense and business-jet aircralt markets. While customers’
evaluation criteria vary from competition to competition, the principal
competitive elements include:

* the technical excellence, reliability and cost competitiveness of the
company's products and services;

» the company's ability to develop and integrate complex systems and
deliver them on schedule;

+ the reputation and customer confidence derived from the company’s
past performance; and

+ the successiul managemant of the company's businesses and
customer relationships.
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DEFENSE MARKETY

The U.S. government contracts with numerous domestic and foreign
companies for defense producls and services. General Dynamics
competes against other large platform and system-Integration
contraclors, as well as smaller companies that specialize In a particular
technology or capability, Intemationally, the company competes with global
defense contractors’ exports and the offerings of private and state-
owned defense manufacturers operating in the local countries. The
Combat Systems group competes with a large number of domestic and
foreign businesses, The Maring Systems group has only one primary
competitor, Northrop Grumman Corporation, with which it also parl-
ners or subcontracts on severatl programs, including the Virginia-class
submaring and DDG-1000 2umwalt-class destroyer. The Information
Systems and Technology group compeles with many companies, from
large defense companies o small niche competitors with specialized
technologies. The defense market's contracl-based procurement
environment and the long-term operating cycle of many of the company's
major platform programs can result in sustained periods of program
continuity when the company performs successfully.

At times, the company is involved in teaming and subcontracting
relationships with some of its competitors. Competitions tor major
defense programs oflen require companies to form teams to bring
together broad capabilities to meet the customer’s requirements.
In these situations, the company may have muitiple opportunities to
participate. These include roles as the program's system integrator,
overseeing and coordingting the efforts of all participants in the team,
or as a provider of a specific hardware ¢r subsystem element, such as
military vehicles provided by Combat Systems or core mission syslems
provided by information Systems and Technology.

Another competitive factor in the defense market is the U.S. govem-
ment's increasing use of multiple-award I0IQ contracts to maximize the
customer’'s procurement oplions. IDIQ contracts have been more common
in recent years. They allow the govemment to Select a group of eligibte
contractors for a program and establish an overall spending limit. Under
DIQ contracts, General Dynamics must compete to be selected as a
participant in the program and subsequently competa for individual
tetivery orders. This contracting model is most commen in the Information
Systerns and Technology group’s compelitions and recently has been used
more in programs for which the Combal Systems group competes.

BUSINESS-JET AIRCRAFY MARKET

The business-jet aircraft market is divided into segments based on
aircraft range, price and cabin size. Gulfstream has at least one
competitor for each of its products, with more competitors for the shoster-
range aircraft. Key compelitive factors include aircraft safety,
reliability and performance; service quality and timeliness; technological
and new-product innovation; and grice. The company belleves it competes
etfectively in all these areas.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

General Dynamics conducts Independent R&D activities és part of its
norma! busingss operations. Over the past three years, the majority of
company-sponsored R&D expenditures was in the deferise business.
In accordance with govemment regulations, the company recovers a
significant portion of these expenditures through overhead charges to
U.S. government contracts. In the commercial sector, most of the
Aerospace group's R&D activities support Gulfsiream’s product
enhancement and development programs. The company also conducts
customer-sponsored R&D activities under U.S. government contracts.
Research and development expenditures were as follows:

Your Ended Decomder 31 2007 2008 2005 ¢
Comnpary-sponsored $§ 430 3§ N7 $ 34
Customer-sponsored 192 398 343

Tolal research and development  $ 622§ 775§ 687

EMPLOYEES

As of Decamber 31, 2007, the company had approximately 83,500
employees, 25 percent of whom were covered by collective bargaining
agreements with various unions. Agreements covering approximalely
12 percent of total employess are due 10 expire during 2008. Historically,
the company has renegotiated agreements without any significant
disruption of operating activities. :

RAW MATERIALS, SUPPLIERS AND
SEASONALITY

The company depends on suppliers and subcontractors for raw materlals
and components. These supply networks can experience price fluctua-
tions and capacity constraints, which can put gressurg on pricing.
Effective management and oversighl of suppliers and subcontractors is
an imporiant element of the company's successt! performance.
The company atiempts to mitigate these risks by entering long-term
agreements with its suppllers or negotiating flexible pricing terms in its
customer contracts. The company has not experienced, and does not
foreses, significant difficulties in cbtaining the malerials, compenents
or supplies necessary for its business operations.

The company’s business is not seasonal in nature. The timing of
contract awards, the availability of funding from the customer, the
incurrence of contract costs and unit deliveries are the primary drivers
of the company’s revenug recognition,




BACKLOG

The company's totat backdog represents the estimated remaining sales value of work to be performed under firn contracts and includes funded and urfunded
portions. For additiona) descussion of backlog, see Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Part I,

ftem 7, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Summary backiog information for each business group follows: &Tﬁ

Expacted ¥ be

Completed in

December 31 2007 2006 | 2008

Funded Uniunded Tota! Funded Unéundeq Total

Aerospace $11.591 $ 665 $12,256 $ 694 § 752 $ 7693 $ 7822
Combat Systems 10,824 2,077 12,901 10,086 1,883 11,969 6,105
Marine Systems 7.621 4,439 12,060 9,449 4,576 14,025 7,851
Information Systems and Technology 7,158 2457 9,615 7,548 2,432 5,980 3,181
Total backdog $37,194 $ 9,638 $ 46,832 $34,024 $ 9,643 $ 43667 § 24,959

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Generat Dynamics is a leader In the development of Innovative products,
manufacturing technologles and systems-integration practices. In addition
to owning a large portfolio of proprietary intellectual property, the company
licenses some intellectual property rights to, and from, others. The U.S.
government holds Ficenses to the company's palents developed in the
performance of government contracts, and it may use or authorize others
to use the inventions covered by the company’s patents. Although thess
intellectual property rights are important to the operation of the company's
business, no existing patent, license or other intellectual property right Is
of such importance that its loss or termination would, i the opinfon of man-
agement, have a materfal impact on the company's business.

REGULATORY MATTERS

U.S. GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS

U.5. govemment contracts are subject to procurement laws and regulations.
The Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR} governs the majority of General
Dynamics’ contracts. The FAR mandates uniform policies and procedures
for U.S. government acquisitions and purchased services. Also, individual
agencies can have acquisition regulations that provide implementing
language for the FAR, or that supplement the FAR. For example, the
Depariment of Defense implements the FAR through the Defense
Federal Acquisiion Regulation supplement (DFARs). For all lederal
govemment entitles, the FAR requlates the phases ol any product or
service acquisition, including:

= acquisition planning,

« competition requirements,

* contractor qualifications,

* profection of source sefection and vendor information and
* acquisition procedures.

In addition, the FAR addresses (he allowability of a confractor's costs
and how those costs can be aflocated (o contracts. The FAR also subjects
the company to audits and other government reviews, These reviews
cover issues such as cost, performance and accounting practices relating
to the company’s contracts, The govement may use information from
these reviews (o challenge the company's contract-related costs and fees.
Fallure to comply with procurement laws or regulations can result in
civil, criminal or administrative proceedings. These might invehve fines,
penalties, suspension of payments, or suspension or debarment from
gavernment contracting or subcontracting for a period of time.

INTERNATIONAL

General Dynamics’ international sales are subject to the applicable foreign
povernment regulations and procurement policies and practices, as well
as certain U.S, policies and regulations, including the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA). They are also subject to regulations goveming
investments, exchange controls, repatriation of earnings and import-gxport
contred, including the Intemational Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR),
Other factors that can affect infemnational sales include currency exchange
fluctuations and political and economic risks.

BUSINESS-JET AIRCRAFT

The Asrospace group is subject to FAA regulation in the Unlted States
and other similar aviation requlatory authorities intemationally. For an
alrcralt to be manutactured and sold, the model must receive a type
certificate from the appropriate aviation authority, and each individual
aircraft must receiva a certificate of airworthiness. Aviation authorities
can require changes to a specific alrcraft or mode! type for safety reasons
If they believe the aircraft does not meet their standards. Maintenance
facllities must be licensed by aviation authorities as well,
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ENVIRONMENTAL
General Dynamics is subject to a variety of federal, siate, local and foreign
anvirgnmental laws and regulations. These cover the discharge, treat-
ment, storage, disposal, investigation and remediation of some materials,
substances and wastes. Under existing U.S. environmental laws, a
company may be designated a Potentially Responsible Party (PRP) by the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or a state environmental agency. If
a company is designated a PRP, it potentially is able to the government
or third parties for the full cost of remediating contamination at a refevant
site. In cases whers a company has been designated a PRP, generally
il seeks to mitigate these emvionmental fiabilities through available
insurance coverage and by pursuing appropriate cost-recovery actions. in
the unlikely event a company is required to fully fund the remediation of a
site, the current statutory framework would aflow the company to pursue
contributions from other PRPs. General Dynamics regufarly assesses its
compliance status and management of environmental matters.
Operating and maintenance costs associated with environmental
compliance and management of contaminated sites are a normal, recurring
part of the company’s operations. Historically, these costs have not besn
material. Environmental costs often are aligwable and recoverable under
the company’s contracts with the U.S. government. Based on information
currently available to the company and current U.S. government policies
relating to allowable costs, the company does not expect continued com-
pliance with emvionmental regulations o have a material impact on its
results of operations, financial congdidon or cash flows. For additional
information relating to the impact of environmental centrols, see Note
0 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part Il, ftem B,
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The company liles several types of reports with the Securitles and
Exchange Commission (SEC) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These reports Include an
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-0 and current
reports on Form 8-K, Free copies of these reports are made
available as soon as reasgnably practicable on the company's wabsite
{www.generaldynamics.com) and through the General Dynamics investor
relations office at (703) 876-3195.

These reports also can be read and copied at the SEC's Public
Reference Room at 100 F Sweet, N.E., Washington, DC 20549
Information on tha operation of the Public Reference Room Is available by
caliing the SEC at B00) SEC-0330. The SEC maintaing a website
twww.sec.gov) that containg reports, proxy and information stalements,
and other [nformation regarding issuers that file electronically with
the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in General Dynamics' common stock or debt securities is
subject to rigks and uncertalnties. lnvestars should consider the foltowing
factors, in addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, before deciding to purchase the company’s securities.

Investment risks can be market-wide, as well as unique to a specific
industry or company, The market risks faced by an investor In General
Dynamics' stock are similar to the uncertainties faced by investors in a
broad range of industries, There are, however, some risks thal apply more
specifically o General Dynamics based on its type of business. Of course,
these risks and uncertainties are not the only ones that Geners!
Dynamics or any company faces. Additional risks and uncertzinties
currently considered immaterial could also impact the company's business,
resufts of operations or financial condition.

Because three of General Dynamics' four busingss groups serve the
defense market, the company's sales are conCentrated with the U.S.
government. This customer relationship involves certain unique risks. In
addition, the company has expanded sales 10 Internatonal customers in
recent years, exposing the company to different financial and legal risks.
In the Aerospace group’s market, there are risks tied to U.S. and global
economic conditions. Despite the varying nature of the company’s U.S.
and intermationa! defense and business-aviation operations and the
markets they sarve, each shares some common risks, such as the ongoing
deveiopment of high-technology products and the price, availability and
quality of commoditles and subsystems.

The company depends on the U.S. government for a significant
portion of Its sales. In each of the past three years, approximaely
two-thirds of the company's net sales were te the LLS, government. U.S.
defense spending historically has been cyclical. Though it is not clear that
future defense spending will be equally cyclica), defense budgets rise
when parceived threats 1o national security increase the level of concem
over the country's safety. At other times, spending on the military can
decreasa. While Department of Detense funding has grown rapidly over
the past few years, there is no assurance this trend will continue,
Competing demands for federal funds can put pressure on all areas of
spending, which could impact the defense budget,

A decrease in U.S. government defense spending or changes in
spending aliocaton could result in one or more of the company's
programs being reduced, delayed or termingied. Reductions in e company's
existing programs, unless offset by other programs and opportunities,
could adversely affect the company's ability to sustain and grow future
sales and eamnings.




U.S. govemment contracts generally are not fully funded at
inception and are subject to termination. The company's U.S.
givemmeni sales are funded by agency budgets that operate on an
0:tober-to-September fiscal year. In February of each year, the President
of the United States presents to the Congress the budget for the upcom-
ing fiscal year. This budget proposes funding levels for every federal
agency and is the result of months of policy and program reviews
throughout the Executive branch, From February through September of
each year, the appropriations and authorzation committess of the
Congress review the President’s budget proposals and establish the
funding levels for the upcoming fiscal year. Once these levels are
enacted into law, the Executive Office of the President administers the
funds to the agencies.

There are two primary risks assoclated with this process. First, the
process may be detayed or disrupted. Changes in congressional schedules,
negotiations for program funding levels or unforeseen waorld events can
imerrupt the funding for a program or contract. Second, future sales
under existing multiyear contracts are conditioned on the conlinuing
availability of congressional appropriations. The Congress typically
agpropriates funds on a fiscal-year basis, even though contract performance
miy exiend over many years. Changes in appropriations in subsequent
years may impact the funding available for these programs. Delays or
changes in funding can impact the timing of avallable funds or lead to
changes in program content.

in addition, U.S. government contracts generally permit the govern-
ment to terminate a contract, in whole or in part, for convenience. ff a
contract is terminated for convenience, a contractor generally is entitled
to receive payments for its aliowable costs and the proportionate share
of fees or earnings for the work performed. The government may also
teiminate a contract for default in the event of a breach by the contractor.
If it contract is terminated tor defautt, the government in most cases pays
for only the work it has accepted. The loss of anticipated tunding or the
termination of multiple or large programs could have an adverse effect
on the company’s future sales and earnings,

The Aerospace group is subject to changing customer demand
for business aircraft. The Aerospace group’s business-jet market is
driven by the demand for business-aviation products by U.S. and forgign
businesses, the US. and other govemments and individual customers.
The group's future results also depend on other factors, including general
economic conditions and trends in capital goods markets. A severe
downtum in these markel factors could adversely affect the sales,
profitability and backlog stability of the company’s Aercspace group.

The company’s eamings and margins depend on iis ability to
perform under its contracts. When agreelng to contractual terms, the
company's managemert makes assumptions and projections about
future conditions or evenis. These projections assess future labor
productivity and availabliity, the complexty of the work to be performed,
material cost and availability, the impact of delayed performance, and
the timing of product deliveries. If there is a significant change in one or
more of these circumstances or estimates, or if the company faces
unexpected contract costs, the profitability of one or more of these
contracts may be adversely affected. This could affect the company's
gamings and margins.

The company's eamings and margins depend in part on sub-
contractor performance, as well as raw material and component
availability and pricing. General Dynamics reties on other companies
to provide raw materials, major components and subsystems for its
products, Subcontractors perform some of the services that the company
provides 1o its customers. Qccasionally, the company relies on only one
or two sources of supply that, if disrupted, coutd have an adverse effect
on the company’s ability to meet ils commitments to customers.
The company depends on these subcontractors and vendors to meet its
contractual obligations In full compliance with customer reguitements.
The company's abllity to perform its obligations as a prime contractor
may be adversely affected if ong or mare of these suppliers is unabla to
provide the agreed-upon suppiles or perform the agreed-upon sarvices
In a imely and cost-sftective manner,

Internationat sales and operations are subject to greater risks
that sometimes are assoclated with deing business In forelgn
countries. The company's International business may pose ditferent
risks than Its business in the United States. In some countries there Is
increased chance for economic, legal or political changes. Government
customers in newly formed free-market economies typically have
procurement procedures that are less mature, which can complicate the
contracting process. In this context, the company's international business
may be sensitive to changes in a foreign government's leadership,
national prioriies and budgets. International transactions can involve
increased financiad and legal risks ariging from foreign exchange-rate
variability and differing legal systems. In addition, some International cus-
tomers require contractors to agree to specific in-country purchases,
manufacturing agreements o financlal support arrangements, Known as
offsets, as a condition for a contract award. The confracts may include
penaities if the company falls to meet the offset reguirements. An
unfavorable event or trend in any one or more of these factors could
adversely affect the company's sales and earnings associated with its
international business.
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The company's future success will depend, in part, on its
ahbility to develop new products and maintain a qualified
workforce to meet the needs of its customers. Virtually all of the
products produced and scid by the company are highly engineered and
require sophisticated manufacturing and system-integration techniques
and capabilities. The commercial and gavemment markets in which the
company operates are characterized by rapidly changing technologies.
The product and program needs of the company's govemment and com-
mercial customers change and evolve regularly. Accordingly, General
Dynamics’ fulure performance depends in part on its ability to Identify
emerging technological {rends, develop and manufacture competitive
products, and bring those products to market quickly at cost-effective
prices. In addition, because of the highly specialized nature of the company'’s
business, it must be able to hire and retain the skilled and appropriately
gualified personnel necessary to perform the services required by its
customers. If the comparty is unable 1o develop new products that meet
customers' changing needs or successiully attract and retain qualified
personnel, future sales and eamings may be adversely affected.

Developing new technologles ertails significant risks and
uncertainties that may not be covered by indemnity or insurance,
While the company maintains insurance for some business risks, it is not
practicable to obtain coverage 1o protect against all operational risks and
liabilities. Where permitted by applicable taws, the company seeks
indemnification from the U.S. government. In addition, the company
generally seeks limitation of potential llabillty related to the sale and use
of its homeland security products and services through qualification by
the Department of Homeland Security under the SAFETY Act provisions
of the Homeland Security Act of 2002. The company may elect to provide
producls or sendces even in instances where it Is unabie to obtain such
indemnitication or qualification.

FORWARD-LOOKINGQ STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements
that are based on management's expectations, estimates, projections
and assumptions. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“believes,” “scheduled,” “estimates” and variations of these words and
similar expressicns are intended to [dentify forward-tooking statemants.
These Include but are not limited to projections of revenues, eamings,
segment perfarmance, cash flows, contract awards, aircraft production,
deliveries and backlog stability. Forward-looking statements are made
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1985, as amended. These statements are not guarantees
of future performance and involve certain risks and uncerainties that
are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual future results and trends may
differ materially from what is forecast in forward-looking statements due
to a variety of factors, including, without limitation, the sk factors
discussed in this section.
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All forward-locking statemnents speak only as of the date of this report
or, In the case of any document Incorporated by reference, the dale
of that document. Al subsequert written and oral forward-looking
statements atinbutable lo the company or any person acting on the
company's behall are qualified by the cautionary statements in this section.
The company does not undertake any obligation 1o update or publicty
release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events,
clrcumstances or changes in expectations after the date of this report.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Nona.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The company operates in a number of offices, manufacturing plants,
laboratories, warehouses and other facilities in the United States and
abroad. The company believes its main facifities are adequate for its
present needs and, given planned improvements and construction,
expects them to remain adequate for the foreseeable future.

At December 31, 2007, the company's business groups had major
operations at the following locations: :

« Aerospace — Burbank, Lincoln and Lang Beach, California; West Palm
Beach, Fiorida; Brunswick and Savannah, Georgla; Westfleld,
Massachusetts; Minnsapolis, Minnesota; Las Vegas, Nevada; Dallas,
Texas; Appleton, Wisconsin; London, United Kingdom; Mexicall, Mexico.
Combat Systems - Anniston, Alabama; Camden, Arkansas; St. Marks
and S1. Petersburg, Florida; Maréon, llinois; Saco, Maine; Westrminster,
Maryland; Sterling Heights, Michigan; Charlotte, North Carolina; Lima,
Ohio; Red Lion and Scranton, Pennsylvania; Gartand,T?xas; Burlington,
Vermont; Marion and Woodbridge, Virginia, Vienna, Austria; London
and La Gardeur, Canada; Kaiserslautern, Germiany; Granada,
La Coruna, Murcia, Oviedo, Palencia, Seviia and Trubla, Spain;
Kreuzlingen, Switzerland.

Marine Systems - San Diego, California; Groton, Connecticut; Bath
and Brunswick, Maing; Quonset Pint, Rhode Island; Mexicall, Mexico.
information Systems and Technology ~ Gilbert and Scottsdale,
Arizona; Santa Clara, California; Needham, Pittsfield and Taunton,
Massachuseits; Ypsilanti, Michigan; Bloomington, Minngsota;
McLeansville and Newton, North Carolina; Kilgore, Texas; Arlington
and Fairfax, Virginia; Calgary and Qtawa, Canadé; Oakdale and
Tewkesbury, United Kingdom.




A summary of floor space by business group as of December 31,
2007, follows:

Company-owned  Leasad  Governmeni-owned

{Sauare teat In millians) Foclittes Faciitles Faciites Totol
Aeraspace 24 16 - 40
Combat Systems 6.2 45 79 18.6
Marine Sysiems 59 25 - B4
information Systems

and Technology 33 8.0 (1] 12.2
Total 17.8 16.6 %] 432

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information relating to iegal proceedings, see Note O 10 the
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part I, ttem 8, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the company’s security helders
during the fourth quarter of 2007.

PART N

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE COMPANY'S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The company's common stock is isted on the New York Stock Exchange.
The high and low sales prices of the company’s common stock and
the cash dividends declared on the company's common stock for each
quarter of 2007 and 2006 are indluded in the Supplementary Data
sontained in Part II, ltem B, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

As of January 27, 2008, there were approximately 162,000 holders
if the company”s common stock,

For Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under the
company's equity compansation plans, see Note P to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in Part I}, Item 8, of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

The company did not make any unregistered sales of equity securities
in 2007.

The following table provides information about the company's fourth
quarter repurchases of equity securlties that are registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

Tota) Number Maximum

of Shares Number of
Purchased a5 Shares That

Total Panol May Yet Be
Number of Average Puticly Purchased
Shares  Price Paid Announced Under e
Period Purchasedin  per Share Program Programam
10/01/07 - 10/28/07 - - 6372600 3,627,400
10/29/07 - 1172507 - - 6372600 3,627,400
11/26/07 ~ 1273107 444800 $ B7.79 4448002 9,555200=
Totat 444,800 $ B7.79

{1) Excludes shares wiittheld by, or detivernd 1, the company pursiant to provisions in 2greg-
ments with reciplents of restrictad stock granted under the compary's eqully compensation
plans that allow the company o withhald, or the reciplent 1 detiver 10 e company, the
number of shares with & fair valug equal to he minimum stanitory &2x withholding cue upon
vesting of the resiricted shares, Thess sngres totaled 271 in October 2007 with an gverage
price per stare of $67.98.

2) On June 7, 2006, the board of ckneciors tuthorized sranagement ko repurchass up o 10
mi2on shares of cormmen stack in the open market. On Gecamber 5, 2007, wih 3.6 m¥in
shares remaining under the 2006 authorization, Uhe board of directors increasad the number
of autterized shares 1o 10 millon, Unless terminated eartier by resolution of the board of drec-
tors, tha program wik expire when the rumber of authortzed shares has been repurthasad,

For additional information relating to the company's repurchase of its
common siock during the past three years, see Financial Condition,
Liguidity and Capital Resources — Financing Activitias - Share Repurchases
contained in Part [, ftem 7, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

The foftowing performance graph compares the cumulative total retum
to sharehalders on the company's common Stock, assuming reinvestment
of dividends, with similar returns for the Standard & Poos's 500® Index
and the Standard & Poor's Aerospace & Defense Index, both of which
Include the company.

Cumutative Totsl Ratum

Based on invastment of $100 Baginning Decamber 31, 2002
{Assumss Reinvestment of Dlvidends)

o

002 003 oo W08 008 om

e Garure) Oynamics  owaliem SAP Agrospace £ Datpnzs e=lies SEP 500°
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fTEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected historical financial data derived from the audited Censolidated Financial Statements and other company information
for each of the five years presented. This information should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Anatysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and the audited Consolldated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto.

{Dollars and shases in MEIARY, ¢3c001 DOr Shaty ane ampleyes amounty) 00 T 2006 2008 2004 7000 ‘—!
Summary of Operations
Net sales $ 27,240 $ 24063 § 20975 $ 18,868 $ 16,076
Operating gamings 3113 2,625 2,179 1931 1,420
Operating margin 11.4% 10.9% 10.4% 10.2% 8.8%
Interest, net {70 {101) (118 (148) (98}
Provision for Income taxes, net 967 g7 621 580 367
Eamings from continuing operations 2,080 1,710 1,448 1,194 + 054
Retum on sa'es (3} 7.5% T.1% 6.9% 6.3% 5.9%
Discontinued operations, net of tax @ 146 13 13 20
Net eamings 2,072 1,856 1,461 1,227 1,004
Dituted eamings per share: ,

Continuing operations 510 420 358 2.96 240

Net earnings 5.08 4.56 16 3.04 .53
Sates per employee () 329,400 309,300 300,700 284,500 277,700
Cash Flows
Nat cash provided by operating activities $ 2925 § 2128 $ 2056 $ 1803 $ 1,725
Net cash used by investing activities (852) (2,316} (181} (786) (3,232
Net cash {used) provided by financing aclivities (786) (539) (520) (902) 2,04
Cash dividends declared per common share 1.16 092 0.80 0.72 0.64
FAnancial Position
Cash and equivalents $ 289 $ 1604 § 23 $ 976 $ 861
Tota! assets 25,733 22,376 19,700 17,575 16,225
Short- and long-term debt 279 2,781 3,287 3293 4,039
Shareholders' equity 11,768 9,827 8.145 7,189 5821
Debt-to-equity (c) 23.7% 28.3% 40.4% 45.8% 68.2%
Book value per share (d} 2913 24.22 20.34 17.88 14,95
Warking capital (8) 313 2,056 2339 2,022 1,110
Other Information
Free cash flow from operations () $ 2478 $ 1922 $ 1n $ 1,507 $ 1,459
Retum on invested capital (o) 16.9% 15.6% 14.9% 13.3% 12.4%
Funded batklog 37,194 34,024 28,186 28,020 24,664
Total backiog 46,832 43,667 40,754 40,304 38,805
Shares outstanding 4040 4058 a00.4 4021 3959
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic a04.4 403.4 40186 3991 395.6

Diluted 408.1 406.8 404.8 402.9 398.3
Active employees 83,500 81,000 70,900 68,800 64,000

Nots: Prics year amounts hava been rectassified for disoontinued operations.

{2) Return on sales Is calcutaled as samings krom continuing operations divided by net salgs,

{b) Sates per empioyee Is calcuiated as net saies for the past 12 months divided by the average number of employees for the period.

{c) Debt-R-exquity fatio is caicuiatad as 1oal det! dhvioed by totzl equity as of year end,

{t) Book vaiue per share i calculatod 23 tota) equity dvided by total outstanding shares 25 of yeas end.

(8) Working capital Is caXtutales &S cusrent 25sats less current abiiies as of year end.

n SeeuemT.Ma:wm‘lDlsammkamlsolﬂmrualcol'dumamﬂssmsnlwnm.haWrmdmmwwmwMMMﬁMm
operatons 1 tree cash Hiow from operations.

wmuemr.ummm'wmmmmmwmmmnssuuotopmm.mmmmmwmdeWrmmmmmwmwwm.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

{For an overview of the company’s business groups, including a discussion of products and services provided, see the Business discussion contained

|
E n Part1, Item 1, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

General Dynamics offers a broad portfolic of products and services in
business aviation; combat vehicles, weapons systems and munitions;
shipbuilding design and construction; and information systems, tech-
nologies and services. The company aperates through four business
Jroups — Aerospace, Combat Systems, Marine Systems and Information
Systems and Technology. General Dynamics' primary cuslomers are the
1).S. military, other U.S. govemment organizations, the armed forces of
other nations, and a diverse base of corporate, government and individual
Huyers of business aircraft, The company opesates in two primary markets:
defense and business aviation. The majority of the company's revenues
iderive from contracts with the U.S, military.

2007 Sales by Customer Base

8 US. govemment
8 1S, commercial
H  Kon-U.S. govemnment
QA Non-US, commencial

The nation's engagement in the global war on terer, couple with the
heed to modemize U.S. military forces, has driven steady Department of
[Defense funding increases since 2001. In particular, procurement and
rgsearch and development (R&D) budgets, also known as invesiment
accounts, provide the majority of the company'’s revenues. These budget
lings continue to enjoy sustained increases, demonstrating administration
and congressional support. Defense Depariment funding has increased
al a compound annual growth rate of 6.8 percent from fiscal 2001
ihrough 2008, while procurement and R&D spending has grown nearly
# percent annually during that period,

For fiscal year 2008, the Congress appropriated $480 billion for the
Departiment of Defense, Including approximately $175 billion for procure-
snent and R&D. Budget expenditures genesally lag congressicnal funding,
&nd the company expects that this 2008 funding will be applied toward
programs over the next few years. For fiscal year 2009, the President has
requested that the Congress appropriate $515 billion for the Department
of Defense, a 7.5 percent increase over the 2008 funding. This includes
$184 billien for procurement and R&D, an increase of 5 percent over
2008, representing more than one-third of the total 2009 budget request.

During this period of war, defense budgels have included the
Fresident's budget submission, as well as supplemental funds requested
cver the course of the fiscal year to meet the emergent needs of the
vaarfighter. For fiscal year 2008, the administration requested approximately
1189 biflion in supplemental funding, including approximately $75 billion,
¢r 40 percent, for additional investment spending. The Congress has

-

williens

appropriated $87 billion of that request and will consider the remaining
$102 billien In 2008. If this second supplemental is approved, defense
funding for fiscal year 2008 will total approximatety $670 billion, a 116
percent increase since 2001, While these supplemental funding requests
have increased fota! defense spending levels, some military service
accounts are under pressure as the services move funds among accounts
to cover current war needs. In addition, supplemental appropriations do
not include the level of program detail typically provided in general
defense appropriations. These two factors have made it increasingly
difficult to forecast the timing and amount of the impact of supplemental
funding on the company's programs.

Looking ahead, the company expects the defense budget top ling to
remain well funded for the near term, led by the need to continue to support
the operations in Iraq and Afghanistan. While the landscape will continue
{o evolva during this dynamic perlod, the company expects near-term
defense funding to be driven primarily by the following:

« continued support for the warfighter from the administration and the
Congress in the face of threais posed by an uncertain global security
environment;

« the number of troops deployed in Iraq and Afghanistan, coupled with
the Increase In the overall size of the U.S, military;

¢ the need to reset and replenish equipment and supplles damaged
and consumed during the war; and

e the need to modernize the country’s military infrastructure to address
the evolving requirements of modem-day warfare,

Based on the recently approved and proposed defense budgets, the
company expects the Jevels of funding available for its programs will likely
continue to grow in 2008 and 2009.

Defense Fumding 2001-2009
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Beyond the company's U.S. defense market, governments around the
world are increasingly funding weapons and equipment modemization
programs, leading to expanding detense export opportunities. The company
is committed to pursuing intemational opportunities presented by foreign
demand for military hardware and information technologies. While the
revenue upside can be significant, European and other foreign defense
budgets are subject to unpredictable Issues of contract award timing,
defense priorities and overalt fiscal spending pressures. As General
Dynamics broadens the customer base tor its defense products around
the world, the company expects growing intemational sales.

The business-aviation market also continues to expand, and 2007
was another strong year. Despite the recent unceriainty in the U.S.
macroeconomic environment, the Aerospace group's North American ard
international order activity remains robust. Following 5even consecutive
quarters with a book-to-bill ratio exceeding one, the Aerospace’s record
backlog extends through 2011 for farge-cabin models. At this juncture,
management has not observed any indications of backlog weakness
such as cancellations, financing Issues or requesis to delay delivery.

The company expects continued growth in the busingss-jet market,
stemming from its strong products in the long-range and ultra-long-
range markets, and robust sales of the company's mid-size products, In
particular, the market for the company's business jets outside the
United States has demonstraled powerful growth. In 2007, for the
first time in the company's history, Gulfsiream raceived more than
50 percent of its aircraft orders from outside North America. Of note, the
European and Asian markels comprised more than one-third of the
group’s orders in 2007, and demand remains strong.

General Dynamics' management is committed to creating shareholder
value through ethical business practices, disciplined program manage-
ment and continuous operational improvements. The company's solid
performance over the past 10 years is measured in its sustained revenue
and eamings growth and strong cash flow. General Dynamics' record as
an industry leader in cash flow generation has provided the company's
management the flexibility to execute Its operational strategy, and enabled
it to consistently deptoy resources to further enhance shareholder returns
throunh strategic and tactical acquisitions, payment of dividends and
share repurchases.

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW

The following discussion of the company’s results of operations is based
on operating performance at the business group level. The disclosures
focus on the material financlal measures the company’s management
uses 10 evaluate the performance of each of its four business groups,
including sales, operating eamings and marging, and backdog. For the
defense business groups, the discussion of results of operations is based
on specific contracts and programs that drive the group's results rather
than types of products ang services, which often comprise multiple
contracts with different customers. For the Aerospace group, the results
are analyzed with respect to specific fines of products and services,
consistent with how the group is managed.

In the defense business groups, the majority of the sales are
generated by long-term govemment contracts. As discussed further
in the critical accounting policies section, the company accounts {or
sales under these coniracls using the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting. Under this method, revenug is recognized as
work progresses, elther as products are produced and delivered or as
services are rendered, as applicable. As a result, changés in sales are
generally discussed in terms of volume. Volume indicates increases
or decreases in sales due to changes in production or construction
activity fevels, changes in delivery schedules or levels of services on
indlvidual contracts.

In the Aerospace group, sales contracts for new aircraft typically have
two major phases: the manufacture of the “green” aircralt and the
aircraft's completion, which includes exterior painting and instalfation of
custorner-selected interiors and optional avionics. The company records
reverues at two milestones: when green aircraft are defivered to and
accepted by the customer, and when the customer accepts final delivery
of the fully outfifted aircraft. Changes in sates in this group result from
the amount of new aircraft deliveries (both green and completion), the
level of service activity during the period and the number of pre-owned
aircraft sold.

Operating eamings and margins in the defense business groups are
generally discussed in terms of changes in sales volume, performance,
or the mix of contracts and the phases of work within those contracts

Kot Sales Operating Eamings
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fe.g., fed-price/cost-relmbursable, development/production). Performance
refers to changes [n confract eamings rates during the term of the contract
based on revisions to esimates of profit at complation on individial contracts.
These revisions result from increases or decreases to the estimated value
of the contract and/or the estimaied costs required to complete the
contract. The following discussion of results peovides additional disctosure
to the extent that a material or unusual event causes a change in the
profitability of a contract,

Operating gamings and marging in the Asrospace group are generatly
a function of the prices the company is able to charge for its various aircratt
maodels, the operational efficlency of the group in the manufacture and
completion of the aircraft, and the mix of aircraft deliverles amaong the
higher-margin large-cabin and lower-margin mid-size atrcraft. Additional
factors affecting the group's eamings and margins include the number
and type of pre-owned aircraft seid and the level of general and admin-
Istrative costs incumed by the group, which in¢lude selling expenses and
research and dsvelopment costs,

Results of Operations

foar Enoed December 31 2007 2006 vaiance |
Net sales $27240 $24063 $3.177 13.2%
Operating earnings 3113 2,625 488 18.6%
Operating margin 11.4% 10.9%

General Dynamics generated strong results in 2007 compared with
2006, ending the year with the highest sales, operating eamings, net
garnings, cash flow from operations, orders and backog in the company's
history. The company produced solld sales growth in 2007 on the
strength of rising sales in each of the company's business groups. In
particular, the Combal Systems and Aerospace groups generated the
most substantial sales growth in 2007 dug to strong worldwide demand
for military vehicles and business-jet aircrafl. Sales In the Information
Systems and Technology pgroup increased primarily as a result of the
acquisition of Anteon Intemational Corporation [n 2006, as organic
growth in the group's North American market was largely offset by a
scheduled reduction in sates in the United Kingdom. Sales were up slightly
in the Marine Systems group compared with 2006.

The company's operating eamings grew at a higher rate than sales in
2007, the result of significant cperating leverage achieved in three of the
company’s four business groups. The Aerospace Qroup’s margins
improved 120 basis points on the strength of improved pricing and
ongoing productivity Improvements. Margins in the Combat Systems and
Marine Systems groups were up 40 basis points and B0 basis points,
respectively, due t0 improving operational execution. Overall, the
company’s operating margins increased 50 basis points for the second
year in a row to 13.4 percent in 2007. The company's continued focus
on operations has generated four consecutive years of operating margin
expansion and a total 260 basis-point improvement In margins over the
past five years.

Yoar Endod December 3] mzoos Variance |
Net sales $24063 $20975 | $3088 147%
Operaling eamings 2,625 2379 46 205%
Operating margin 10.9% 10.4%

The company's sales and operating eamings increased significantly in
2006. Increased new aircraft deliveries in the Aerospace group, strong
demand for combat vehicles and armament and munitions products in the
Combat Systems group, and acquisitions in the Information Systems and
Tachnology group were the most significant drivers of the increase in sales.

Each of the company's four business groups generated double-digit
eamings growth in 2006. In paricular, the Marine Systems group’s
operating eamings grew over 50 percent due to sigrificantly improved
performance on ils ship construction programs. The Aerospace group’s
eamings also increased substantially on strong new aircralt volume and
improved pricing on units delivered in 2006 compared with 2005 deliveries.
The improved performance resultted in an overaltincrease in the company's
operating margins from 10.4 percent in 2005 to 10.9 percent In 2008,

Cash Flow

The company produced significant cash flows from operations in 2007,
generating cash from operations In excess of net eamings for the ninth
consecutive year. Nal cash provider) by operating activities was $2.9 billion
in 2007 and $2.1 biltion in each of 2006 and 2005. in addition, the
company generated over $300 in cash in both 2006 and 2005 from the
sale of several non-core businesses. Over the three-year period, the
company used its cash to fund acquisitions and capital expenditures,
repurchase its common stock, pay dividends and reduce its outstanding
debt. The company's net debt - debt less cash and equivalents and
short-term investments — was a net surplus of $268 at the end of 2007
compared with et debt of $1.2 billion at the end of 2006. The company
achieved this reduction after giving effect to $330 spent on acquisitons,
over $500 of share repurchases, $430 of company-sponsored research
and davetopment, almost $475 of capital expenditures and $445 of
dividends paid during the year.

Other Financlal Infprmation

General and administrative {G8A} expenses as a percentage of sales were
6.0 percent in 2007, and 6.2 pescent in each of 2006 and 2005. GRA was
$1.6 billion in 2007, $1.5 billion in 2006 and $1.3 billion & 2005. The com-
pany expects 2008 G&A as a percent of sales to approximate the 2007 rate.

Net Imterest expense was $70 In 2007 compared with $101 in 2006
and $118 in 2005, Interest Income generated by the company’s strong
cash position has increased during each of the past three years while
scheduled repayments of the company's long-term debt have steadily
reduced interest expense. The company expects net Inlerest expense of
approximately $10 to $15 in 2008 based on the company's substantial
balance of invested cash.
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The company’s effective tax rate was 31.7 percent in 2007,
32.3 percent In 2006 and 30.0 percent In 2005. The company's effec-
tive tax rate in 2007 was impacted favorably by the resolution of the
company’s 2003 to 2004 federal income tax audil with the Internal
Revenue Service. This seftlement resulled in a benefit of $18, or
approximately $0.04 per share, which reduced the company’s etfective
tax rate by 60 basis points. In 2005, (he company favorably resolved its
1999 1o 2002 federal income tax audit. This seftlement resulted In a
$66 benefit, or approximately $0.16 per shars, which reduced the
company's 2005 lax rate by 320 basis points. The company anticipates
an elfective tax ate of approximately 32.5 percent in 2008 excluding
the potential resolution of tax matters related to prior years or other
giscrete events that may occur In the future. For additional discussion
of tax matters, see Note E to the Consolldated Financial Statements.

Discontinued Gperations

tn 2007, General Dynamics completed the sale of its coal mining
operation and received proceeds of approximately $25. The company
had previously recognized an after-tax loss of $37 in discontinued
operations in 2006 in anticipation of the sale.

In 2006, the company completed the sale of its apgregates operation.
The company received approximately $315 in cash from the sale of
this business and recognized an after-tax gain of $220 in discontinued
operations.

In 2005, General Dynamics completed the sale of several small
businesses that were not core to the company. The company recelved
approximately $300 in cash, net of income laxes, and reported an
after-tax loss of $8 in 2005 from the sale of (hese businesses,

The company's reported net sales for all periods presented exclude
the revenues associaled with these divested businesses, and their
operating results are incluted as discontinued operalions, net of
income taxes. For additional discussion of the company's divestiture
activities and the results of discontinued operations, see Note C to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Backlog
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General Dynamics' total backlog was $46.8 billion at year end, up
7 percent from $43.7 billion at the end of 2006. Funded backlog
Increased § percent in 2007 to $37.2 billion compared with $34 billlon
at year-end 2006. The company generated toial new orders of
$29.5 billion in 2007, representing significant order aclivity across
gach of the company's business groups dusing the year,

The total backlog for the company's defense businesses decreased
4 percent to $34.6 billion at year-end 2007, compared with $36 blllion
at the end of 2006. The defense backlog represents the estimated
remaining sales vatue of work to be performed under firm contracts. The
funded portion of this backlog was $25.6 bilion at the end of 2007. This
Includes ftems that have been authprized and 2ppropriated by the
Congress and funded by the customer, as welt as commitments by
international customers that are similarly approved and funded by
their governments. The unfunded backlog for the defensa businesses
represents firm orders that do not meet these criteria. While there is no
guarantee that future budgets and appropriations will provide funding
for a given program, the company has included in the backlog only firm
contracts it believes are likely to receive funding.

The Aerospace group's fotal backlog increased $4.6 bilfion or 59 percent
in 2007, reaching a new high of $12.3 billion at year end. The group
received a record number of orders during the year, resulting in funded
backiog of $11.6 billion at the end of 2007, up 67 percent over 2006.
The funded backdog represents ordars for which the company has definilive
purchase contracts and deposits from the customer. The Aerespace
unfunded backlog of $665 at year-end 2007 consists of agreements to
provide future aircraft maintenance and support services.

The company’s backlog does not include work awarded under unfunded
indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (01Q) contracts, unexercised options
associated with existing firm contracts of options to purchase new aircraft,

IDIO contracts are used when the custosmer has not defined the exact
timing and quantity of deliveries that will be required at the time the contract
is executed, These agreements, which set forth the majority of the
contractua! terms, including prices, are funded as delivery orders are placed.
A significant portion of the company's IDIQ value represents contracts for
which the company has been designated as the sole-source supptier 1o
design, develop, produce and integrate complex products and systems over
several vears for the miitary or other govemnment agencigs. Management
believes the customers intend o fuelly implement these systéms. However,
because the value of these aangements is subject 1o the customer’s futurg
exercise of an Indeterminate quantity of gefivery ordars, the company
recognizes these contracts in backlog only when they are funded.

Contract options in the company's defense businesses represent
agreements to perform additional work beyond the products and services
associated with firm contracts, if the customer exercises the option.
Thase options are negetiated In conjunction with a firm contract and
provide the terms under which the cusiomer may elect o procure
additional units or services at a future date. Contract cptions in the
Asrospace group represent oplions to purchase new aircraft. The company
recognizes options in backlog when the customer exarcises the option
and establishes a firm order.




As of Decembgr 31, 2007, the potential value associated with these
110 contracts and contract options was approximately $14.5 billion, up
fiom $13.1 billion at the end of 2006. The company expects fo realize
this vatue over the next 15 years. This represents management’s estimate
¢f the potentlal value the company will receive. The actual amount of
funding received in the future may be higher or fower.

IREVIEW OF OPERATING SEGMENTS

LEROSPACE

Fesults of Operations and Qutiook

Yyor Endad Cecember 3 2007 2006 Variance ]
Met sales $ 4,828 $4116 $712 17.3%
(Iperating eamings 810 644 166 25.8%
(iperating margin 16.8% 15.6%

Alicran dativeries (In unite):

Green 138 13

Completion 138 104

The Aerospace group continued its strong performance in 2007 as sales
and operating eamings increased significantty over 2006. Growing global
cemand for business Jets has led to successive years of significant order
2ctivity and resulting substantial growth in the group’s backlog. To meet
{71ls demand, the group has steadily Increased its aircraft production rate
znd gelivery schedule, As a result, new aircraft sales grew 22 percentin
=007, including a 22 percent increase in green aircraft deliveries and a
33 percent Increase n completions. I additlon, atrcraft services volume
ingreased by 20 percent over 2006, reflecting the growing global
Installed base of business-jet aircraft, Pre-owned aircraft activity declined
significantly in 2007 as increasing numbers of customers chose to sell
taelr own aircraft rather than trade them. Sales of pre-owned aircraft
viere $78 in 2007 compared with $217 in 2008.

The Aerospace group’s operating eamings and margins increased
substantially in 2007 compared with 2006, Operaling eamings were up
epprodmately $205 as a result of the increased new-alrcraft and
gircraft-services volume. Imgroved pricing on units delivered in 2007
compared with 2006 deliveries, combingd with labor efficiencies and
productivity improvements particulary in the completion process,
contributed another $65 of eamings growth. Increased seliing Costs
essociated with the year's substantial order activity, higher product-
c'evelopment spending and Increased G&A costs reduced the group’s
eamings growth by about $30. Reduced safes of pre-owned aircrait
Inwered the eamings growth by $14. The operating leverage achieved by
tne group, offset in part by a mix shift to include proportionately more
Iywer-margin mid-size aircraft deliveries, resulted in a 150 basis-point
i1crease in new-alreraft marging over 20086. Aircraft services margins
weere up 50 basis points over 2006, Overall, the Aercspace group produced
# 120 basis-point increase in margins for the second consecutive year.

The company expects to deliver 157 new aircraft In 2008, an Increase
of 14 percent over 2007. Based on this projected increase in deliveries,
the company expects the Aerospace group's sales will grow between
13 and 15 percent in 2008. Combining the improved pricing in the 2008
scheduled deliverles with increased spending on research and develop-
ment, the company expects the group’s eperating margins to be 20 to 40
basis points higher than those achieved in 2007

Yeat Endsd Decamber 31 m 2005 Vartance |
Net sales $4116 $3433 $683 19.9%
Operating earnings 644 495 149 30.1%
Operating maigin 15.6% 14.4%

Alrcratt deliveslos {in unlis):

Green 113 89

Completion 104 84

The Aerospace group's sales growth in 2006 was due largely to higher
new aircratt delivaries. New aircraft sales increased 22 percent in 2006
over 2005, Green deliveries were up 27 percent while aircraft completions
were up 24 percent. The group introduced the mid-skze G150 aircrat in
2006, which added 14 green deliverles and eight completions. Alrcraft
services sales Increased 15 percent in 2006, while pre-owned aircraft
sales remained steady compared o 2005. Operating eamings in 2006
increased approximately $150 as a result of higher new aircraft volume.
Pricing Improvements on all aircratt models overcame a shift in the mix
of deliveries In the second half of the year toward proportionately more
mid-size alrcraft deliveries to contribute an addiliona! $25 of operating
eamings. tmproved margins on pre-owned aircrafi sales Increased operating
gamings by §7 while higher product development spending and selling
costs reduced the operating eamings growth by $33.

Backlog

$15,000

$11,591

The Aerospace group’s backiog was $12.3 billion at the end of 2007, an
increase of 59 percent over 2006. The group’s funded backleg grew
67 percent in 2007 to $11.6 biltion at year end. The group received a
record tevel of orders for the fourth consecutive year, and after increasing
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nearly 30 percent each year from 2004 through 2006, new orders grew
over 60 percent In 2007 The group has achleved a book-to-bill ratio (orders
divided by sales) greater than one for the past seven consecuive quarters.

New Aircraft Book-to-8ill Ratio 2005-2007*

2005 2006 2007
“ Represertts ratio of now aircratt orders to defiveries (n units) during the year,

The following table summarizes key unit daia for the Aerpspace group's
orders and backlog:

Yoar Ended Decamber 31

[ o T—

New orders 256 159 124
Options exercised 1 - -
Firm orders 257 159 124

As of Decomber 31

Firm contracts in bacidog 320 203 207
Completions In backlog* 49 48 42

* Regresents aircrmft thal have movad rom groen production to the compietion [rocess os
of yoar and. The backlog includes only the ¥alug of he complstion effort on tess eircrat,

The group's order prefile in 2007 reflected continued strong activity in
the North American market as well as rising demand around the world,
which resulted in a shift to include over 50 percent of orders in the year
from customers outside North America for the first time, The group's
backlog includes scheduled aireraft deliveries through 2011.

COMBAT SYSTEMS

Results of Operations and Quticok

Yoar Ended Decomber 31 m 2006 Variance l
et sales $7797 $5983 } $1814 303%
Operaling earnings 916 677 238 35.3%
Operating margin 1.7% 11.3%

Among the company's four business groups, Combat Systems experi-
enced the greatest growth in sales and operating eamings in 2007 and
in the fourth quarter generated the highest quarterly sales and operating
earnings of any segment in the company’s history. This strong performance
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resulted from continued growth across all of the group’s product lines,
with particularty strong growth in the company’s military vehicle markets
worldwide, As a result, each of the group's businesses experienced
double-digit sales and eamings increases in 2007. .

QOver half of the growth resulted from increased volume in the group's
U.S. military vehicle business, including core programs as well as
adjacent market opportunities, The ongoing U.S. presence in Irag and
Afghanistan and the military’s need to reset and repair vehicles damaged
in military operations confinued to gensrate strong demand for
the group’s combat vehicles and related services. Sales increased
31 percent in this business In 2007 compared with 2006, driven by the
following primary contributors:

* the company's gngoing Abrams main battle tank modsfnization work;
» aclivity an the Stryker wheeled combat vehicle program;

the ramp-up of production of light armored vehicles (LAVS) for the
U.S. Marine Corps; and

the production of military vehicles under the mine-resistant,
ambush-protected (MRAP) vehicle program.

The group supports the M1 Abrams lank by providing upgrades,
including the Abrams Integrated Management (AIM), the System
Enhancement Package (SEP) and the Tank Urban Survivabllity Kit (TUSK).
Stryker continued to be the group's largest program in 2007, with votume
up most significantly on conlractor logistics support activity. MRAP
emerged as a high-priority acquisition program for the Marine Corps and
Army during 2007,

The group’s munitions business also contribuled significartly to the
group’s sales and eamings in 2007, Sales were up almost 50 percent in
this business in 2007 compared with 2006. The munitions business
generated approximately 15 percent organic sales growth, with particu-
larly strong volume in ils large- and medium-caliber munitions supply
contracts. The remainder of the increase in sales resulted from the
acqulsition of SNC Technologies Inc. (SNC TEC) from SNC-Lavalin Group
Inc., in January 2007, SNC TEC is an ammunition systems integrator
that supplies small-, medium- and large-caliber ammunition and related
products to the Canadlan Forces, U.S. and other national defense
customers and law enforcement agencies around the world.

Sales in the group’s weapons systems business grew 13 percent in
2007 due primarily {0 incregsed activity on a contract to produce systems
that protsct U.S. combat forces from improvised explosive devices {IEDs).

The group's European military vehicle business experienced sales
growth of aimost 30 percent in 2007 Increased activity on various programs
to produce military vehicles for non-U.S. governments was the most signif-
icant factor in the increased sales. In particular, volume was up in 2007 on
the Pandur Il whesled vehicle contracts for Portugal and the Czech
Republic and the Piranha wheeled armored vehicle programs for several
European governments. In December 2007, the Czech Republic cancelled
the company's contract for 199 vehicles. The company is In discussions
with the Czech Republic about a contract for a reduced quantity. While these




discussions may result in an overall reduction In the size of the Czech
Pandur contract, the company does not believe the outcome of the
negotiations will have a material eflect on the group’s operating results.

The Combat Systems group’s operating margins improved 40 basis
ints in 2007 compared with the margins achieved by the group in
2006. Margins increased due 1o a shift in contract mix and improved
aerformance across a number of the group’s wheeled military vehicle
aregrams. The improvement in lhe group’s margins was limitsd
somewhat by the Incluslon of lower-margin acquisitions in the munitions
usiness, increased supplier costs on the group's small-caliber munitions
ontract and costs recognized in connection with the company's exit from
the group's European commercial frading business,

The company expects 2008 sales growth in the Combat Systems
;roup in the 9 10 10 percent range based on the group’s substantial
packlog, with operating margins Improving 30 to 50 basis points over
“he 2007 margins.

91 Engeg Decomber 31 | 2000 IECE vatance |
Net sales $593 §501 $962 19.2%
Jperaling eamings 677 576 101 17.5%
Jpsrating margin 11.3% 11.5%

The Combat Systems group's sales and operating eamings increased
:3ubstantially in 2006 over 2005. Sales in the group’s U.5. and European
ilitary vehicle businesses were up 17 percent due to higher production
activity on the Stryker program and several European military vehicle
sontracts. Activity also Increased on the Army’s Future Combat Systems
FCS) development program and various domestic and international LAV
sonfracts. The group’s weapons Systems and munitions busingsses
venerated a 24 percent increase in sates in 2006 compared with 2005.
High demand for protection systems for U.S. lorces and increased volume
on a contract to provide small-caliber ammunition to the Army contributed
-0 the growth In these businesses in 2006. The group’s acquisition of
Chamberlain Manufacturing Corporation’s Scranton operation in 2006
ontributed appraximately 1 percent of the group’s total 2006 sales growth,

gacklog

415,000

$12,901

The Combat Systems group ended 2007 with a {ofal backlog of
$12.9 billion, an increase of 8 percent over 2006, Funded backlog grew
7 percent to $10.8 billion, The group's backlog consists primarily of long-
term production contracts that have scheduled deliveries through 2014.

The group’s backog at December 31, 2007, included over $2.8 billion
for contracts related 1o the M1 Abrams main battle tank. This includes
both the M1AZ2 SEP and the M1A1 AIM programs. Under the SEP program,
the company retrofits M1A2 Abrams main battle tanks with Improved
electronics, command-and-canirol capabilities and armor enhancements
that are designed to improve the tank's effectiveness. Under the AIM
program, M1A1 Abrams maln battle tanks are completely overhauted ang
retumed to a like-new condifion. At year end, the backog included
approximately $1.5 billion for the SEP program and close to $400 for
AIM. Ouring 2007, the company received awards totaling over $750 for
the SEP program to upgrade and reset approximately 340 vehicles and
for related program support. The group also received an arder from the
Army In 2007 worth over $300 under the Egyptian M1A3J Abrams tank
co-production program to supply 125 tank kits for assembly in Egypt.
In February 2008, the group received a muttiyear contract trom the Army
10 upgrade 435 Abrams lanks to the M1A2 SEP V2 configuration, The
first increment of the contract, for 20 tanks, is valued at $39.

The targes! single contract in the group's backlog al December 31,
2007, is the Army's FCS program. The backlog at year end included
approximately $1.5 billion for FCS. The company leads the system devel-
opment of the manned ground vehicle element of the program, as well
as the development of the awtonomous navigation systems for FCS
ground vehictes. The company's cument contract extends through 2012,

The Combat Systems group’s backlog at year end included approxi-
mately $1 billion for the Army’s Stryker wheeled combat vehicle program.
The bacidog includes the production of over 400 vehicles scheduled for
delivery through 2009. In 2007, the group received orders under the
Stryker program totaling $1.2 bilion, Including awards worth approx-
mately $335 for the production of approximately 220 vehicles. The group
also received total awards of over $500 in 2007 for Stryker contractor
logistics suppart.

The group's backiog under the MRAP program totaled $570 at year
end. The group is producing two separate vehicles under this program —
the Cougar, in connection with a joint venture, and the RG-31. During
2007, the group was awarded a total of $575 for approximately 1,190
Cougar vehicles and $350 for 620 RG-31 MRAP vehicies. The year-end
backlog represents approximately 720 Cougar vehicles and 450 RG-31
vehicles. in tha first quarter of 2008, the company received, and added to
the backlog, orders valued at approxdmately $150 for an additional 183
Cougar vehicles and refated logistics and spares. The company expecis
to complete Its defiveries under this program in the first half of 2008.

The Combat Systems group has several significant international,
long-term combat vehicle procuction contracts in backlog. The group's
Leopard 2E program is a batile tank manufacturing contract for the
Spanish army using a design licensed from a German company. The group’s
backlog at year end incluted approximately $550 for the production of
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119 Leopard tanks, with deliveries scheduted through 2010. The group
also produces Pizarro Advanced Infantry Fighting Vehictes for the Spanish
army. The backlog at the end of the year Included approximatety $650 for
the production of 190 Pizarro vehicles scheduted for defivery through
2014, The group’s year-end backlog also included approximately $370
for a contract with the government of Portugal for 251 Pandur il vehicles,
$360 for a contract with the govemment of Belgium for 138 Piranha
wheeled armored vehicles and $675 under the original contract with the
Czech Republic for approximately 135 Pandur I vehicles. The company is
in negotiations with the customer regarding the Czech contract, which
may resull in a reduced number of vehicles to be delivered. In addition,
the group was awarded a contract valued at approximately $85 in 2007
to provide 21 Piranha (IC 8x8 amphiblous armored personnel cariers to
the Spanish marines for delivery between 2009 and 2013.

The Combat Systems group’s backlog at year end also included
approximately $2.3 billion In weapons systems, munitions, detection sys-
tems and composite-struciures programs. The group received an order
from the Army in 2007 worth approxdmately $150 for the preduction of
Hydra-70 (2.75 inch) rockets. The total contract value to date is over
£500. Additionally, the Army awarded the group a contract worth over
$100 for the production of seactive armor for the Bradley Fighting vehicle.

MARINE SYSTEMS

Results of Operations and Qutiook

Year Ended Oscomber 31 2007 2006 Valance |
Nat sales $4,993 $ 4,940 $53 1.1%
Operating eamings 421 375 46 12.3%
Operaling margin 8.4% 7.6%

The Marine Systems group's sales were up slightty In 2007 compared
with 2006. Approximately 60 percent of the group’s sales in 2007 and
2006 were generated by three of the group’s mature ship-construction
programs for the U.S. Navy — the Virginla-class submaring, the Arelgh
Burke-class {DDG-51) deslroyer and the T-AKE combai-logistics ship.
Combined sales from these core programs in 2007 were essentially
unchanged compared with 2006. In 2007, the group delivered ships two
through four of the current 10-ship T-AKE program to the Nawy, driving
volume up significantly, while activity on the Virginia-class and the
DDG-51 destroyer programs declined during the year. The Virginia-class
program volume was down slightly due to workload timing. The company
expects to deliver the fourth and final ship of the cost-reimbursabla
Virginia Block | contract in the first quarter of 2008, and construction Is
in process on five of the six ships under the fixed-price Block Il contract.
Deliveries under Block Il are scheduled through 2013, Volume on the
destroyer program began to decline in 2007 as the group continued
construction of the remaining six ships under contract. Deliveries are
scheduled through 2011, Including two in 2008.
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Beyond these large construction programs, volume was up across the
group’s ship design, engineering, repair and overhaul, and early-stage
construction programs in process for the Navy. These include the detall
design of the DDG-1000 next-gengration destroyer and the construction
of the first Littoral Combat Ship {LCS). Volume on these two programs
increased over 60 percent in 2007 compared with 2006. The company's
LCS was approximately 65 percent complete at year end. Additionally,
activity was up over 10 percent on the group’s englneering, repair and
overhaul contracts lor tha Navy in 2007, particutarly in the group’s nuclear
submarine support and logistics services busingss.

Yolume decreased In 2007 on the group's SSGN submarine conversion
program and commercial ship canstruction programs. The group
completed its fourth and final SSGN submarine conversion In 2007.
Marine Systems’ commercial shipbuilding activity was down in 2007 due
to the completion of the group's four-ship commertial tanker program In
2006. Construction of the flrst two of nine ships under the group’s
product-carrier contract has just begun, Overall, combined sales for the
SSGN program and the commercial shipbuilding contracts decreased
over 50 percent in 2007.

The Marine Systems group’s operating eamings and margins grew
significantly in 2007 on steady sales. The group has generated operating
efficiencies that led to improved perfermance on sevesal of ifs key
programs. Most notably, the Virginia-class submarine, the Areigh
Burke-class destroyer and the SSGN submarine conversion programs
experienced significant performance improvements during the year.
Additionally, the company and the Navy reached an agreement in 2007
1o restructure the T-AKE contract. The agreement included a resolution of
the company’s outstanding request for equitable adjustment (REA), which
resulted in revised pricing on ships one through nine and the addition of
five option ships. The Navy exercised the eption for the 10th ship in
Jameary 2008. Prior to the agrezment, the company was recognizing
revenue on the T-AKE program at a break-even (evel pending the
resolution of the REA. After the contract restructuring, the estimate
at completion for the program was revised and the company began
recognizing profit on the contract in the second quarter of 2007 . As a
result of the improved performance on these programs, the group's
overall margins increased 80 basls points in 2007 compared with 2006.

The company expects sales in the Maring Systems group to increase
between 3 and 4 percent in 2008 with margins improving an additional
10 to 20 basis points over 2007. The company expacts the group's
margins to benefit from continued performance improvements in its
ship construction programs but to be constrained by a shift in mix away
from the later-stage produclion contracts toward early-stage design
and construction work.

Year Endeo December 3

s S T

Net sates $4940 $4695 $245 52%
Cperating eamings 375 249 126 50.6%
Operating margin 7.6% 5.3% :




The Marine Systems group’'s sales increased in 2006 due primarily to
8 20 percent increase in volume on ship design and construction con-
tracts for the Navy. In particular, activity was up in 2006 on the T-AKE
contracl, the Virginia-cfass submarine program and the LCS program.
The group also began the detail design of the DDG- 1000 next-generation
destroyer in 2006. Ofsetting this growth was a scheduled decling in
activity on the SSGN submarine conversion program and the completion
of the group's four-ship commercial tanker program in 2006. The group's
operating eamings improved substantially in 2006, and operating mar-
ging grew 230 basis points over 2005, Program losses in 2005 on the
¢ommerclal fanker contract and In the group's submaring maintenance
and overhaul business adversely affected the group’s operating eamings
and margins during that year. Operating eamings and margins in 2006
were favorably impacted by the absence of additional losses on these
programs and by tmproved performance due to labor-hour efficiencies
a2d cost savings on the DDG-51 destroyer construction program,

Backlog
$:0.000
16,000
12,000
8,000

4,000

2005 2006 2007

The Marine Systems group's backlog consists of long-lerm submaring
and ship construction programs, as well as numerous fepair and
enginegring contracts. The group’s total backlog at year-end 2007 was
$12.1 biltion compared with $14 billion at the end of 2006. The group's
funded backlog at December 31 was $7.6 biilion, down from $9.4 billion
al year-end 2006. The group generally receives iarge contract awards
trat provide backlog for several years. The curent backlog includes
shipbuilding deliveries through 2013,

The largest program in the Marine Systems group’s backlog is the
Virginig-class submarine program. The group’s backlog at year end
included $5.5 billion for seven Virginia-ctass submarines to be delivered
1f:rough 2073. As the prime contractor on the Virginfa-cfass program, the
company reports the entire backlog and sales associated with the program
but shares the construgtion and the earnings equally with its teaming
parteer. In 2007, Marine Systems received a $270 contract to procure
lcng-1ead materials for the first ship of the next {Block I contract.
The Virginia-class program of record is scheduled to include 30
submarines, and the company expects to finalize negotiations of the
Block I contract by the end of 2008.

The group's backlog at the end of 2007 also included $1.3 billion
lor the Areigh Burke-class DDG-51 destroyer program. The backlog
includes six ODG destroyers scheduled for delivery through 2011,
including two in 2008. In parallel with the completion of the DDG-51
program, the Navy and industry are transitioning to construction of the
next-generation guided-missile destroyer, the DDG-1000 Zumwalt Class.
The group has one of two contracts for the detail design of the ship,
and in 2007, the group received awards lotallng approximately
$700 trom the Navy to complete the design efiort and procure tong-lead
materials for the first ship. The group’s backlog at year-end 2007
included over $600 for DDG-1000. In February 2008, the Navy awarded
the group a contract worth $1.4 billion for the construction of the first
0DG-1000, with delivery scheduled in 2014.

A significant portion of the group’s backlog is for the T-AKE combat-
fogistics ship program. The group's backiog at Oecember 31, 2007,
Included $1.1 billion for the construction of the remaining five ships
under the crigina! ning-ship program. In 2007, the Navy awarded
the group a contract modification worth $100 to purchase long-lead
materials for the 10th ship, and in January 2008, the Navy exercised a
$360 option for the 10th ship and awarded a $100 modification for
long-lead materials for the 11th ship. Deliveries of these ships are
scheduled through 2010.

The group's backlog at year end alse Included $1.1 billion for a
contract with U.S. Shipping Partners, L.F, for the construction of nine
Jones Act product-carrier tankers. The ships are scheduled for delivery
between 2009 and 2013.

In addition, the Marine Systems group’s backlog at year end inciuded
approximately $1.9 billion in engingering, repair and gverhau! programs.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND TECHNOLOGY

Aesults of Operations and Outiook

Yoar Ended Qecamber 31 2007 2006 Varianca I
Net sales $9,622 $9,024 $598 6.6%
QOperating eamings 1,027 976 51 52%
Operating margin 10.7% 10.8%

Sales in the Information Systems and Technology group improved in
2007 compared with 2006, and operating earnings topped $1 billlon
for the first time. The group experienced 11 percent organic growth
in its core North American Tactical and Strategic Mission Systems and
IT and Mission Services businesses. The IT and Mission Services
business also benefitted from the acquisition of Anteon Intemationat
Corporation (Anteon} in June 2006. These increases were offset
partially by a steady but expected decling in volume in the group’s
United Kingdom business. reduced activity in the group’s Intelligence
Misston Systems business and a decline In activity In the commercial
wireless market.
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The strong performance in the Tactical and Strategic Mission Systems
busingss was due to higher activity on several command-and-control and
communications programs for the U.S. military and increased volume on
the group’s ground-based sateflite communications programs. Notable
drivers of the volume increase in 2007 included:

» Combat Operations Centers (COC), which are mobile command-and-
control systems used in Irag;

+ Common Hardware/Software Il {CHS-3), which provides commercial
and ruggedized computers, network equipment and software to the
1.S. armed forces and other tederal agencies worldwide; and

= Mobile User Objective System (MUOS), which enables on-the-move
satellite connectivity for U.S. and allied forces.

Votume was up (n the IT and Mission Services business's core defense
markei on the strength of such programs as Intelligence Information,
Command-and-Conire! Equipment and Enhancements (CE2) and
Network-Centric Solutions (NETCENTS). ICE2 supports critical inteli-
gence and command-and-contro! systems and natworks for U.S. defense
and intelligence operations wortdwide and was the group’s largest
program in 2007. NETCENTS provides network-centric [T, networking,
commurications products, systems solutions, and system hardware and
software to federal agencies.

Sales in the United Kingdom were down 33 percent as a resutt of the
scheduled reduction in activity on the group’s BOWMAN communications
program for the U.K. anmed forces.

in tha group’s Inteliigence Mission Systems busingss, sales decreased
9 percent in 2007. Approximately a quarier of the decling in sales was
due to the loss of a classified program in 2007 Additionally, this business
has experienced procurement delays due to a realipcation of defense
funding to support the wars in Iraq angd Afghanistan.

The group's operating margins were down by 10 basis points compared
with 2006 due to the group's shitt to include more {T services content,
including the acquisition of Anteon.

The company expects sales growth in the Information Systems and
Technology group {n 2008 in the 5 to & percent range as solid organic
growth in the group’s North American businesses overcomes a further
decline in sales in the U.K. operations. The company expecls the volume
on BOWMAN to decline an additiona) $50 to $10C In 2008, at which
paint the program is expected fo reach a steady-state volume of ongoing
fogistics support and sustainment activity for the foreseeable future.
The company expects that the group's expanding services base will put
moderate pressure on marging in 2008, resulting in a slight compression
in the group's operating margins in the 10 to 20 basis-peint range.

Year Ended Decomber 31 m 2005 Yartance —l
Nel sales $9,024 $7826 $1,198 153%
Operating eamings 976 865 11 128%
Operating margin 10.8% 11.1%

28 General Oynamics 2007 Annual Repori

The Information Systems and Technology group’s sales and operating
eamings increased due 1o business acquisitions in 2005 and 2006 and
modest organic growth in the group’s North American business. The
company acquired Anteon and FC Business Systems, Inc. (FCBS), in
2006 and three smaller acguisitions in the group’s Tactical and Strategic
Mission Systems business in 2005. Overall, the group's North American
organic sales increased approximately 3 percent in 2006 due to higher
activity on several key programs, including ICE2, NETCENTS, CHS-3, the
Canadian Maritime Helicopter Project and MUQS. Within the group's
United Kingdom business, sales on the BOWMAN program were down
almost 20 percent in 2006 as the company began the transition from
production and Installation 10 maintenance and support activities. The
group's margins in 2006 were down as a result of the lower margins
associated with the group’s expanded service prafile. '

Backiog

$12,000

2005 2008 2007

The Information Systems and Technology group's backlog decreased slightly
in 2007 to $9.6 billion compared with $10 bilion at the end of 2006. At year
end, the group’s funded backiog was $7.2 billion, down from $7.5 billion in
2006. Unlike the company's other defense businesses, the Information
Systerns and Technology group's backiog consists of thousands of contracts
that have to be reconstituted each year with new program and task erder
awards, and relatively few larpe-scale, long-term programs.

The largest program in Information Systems and Technology's backlog
al year end is the Amy’s Warfighter Information Network- Tagtical (WIN-T)
program. The group’s backlog at December 31, 2007, included $900 for
WIN-T and Its predecessor program, Joint Network Node (JNN). The Army
restructured JNN and WIN-T inio a single program in 2007, The company
is the prime contractor on this battlefield communications network
program that is designed 1o provide warfighters with fast, secure, moblle
command-and-contro! capabliities. In 2007, the group received approxi-
mataly $950 of awards for WIN-T {0 continue the design and developmenl
of the system and provide simutation and training.

The group's backiog also included approximately $430 for the Canadian
Maritime Helicopter Profect (MHP), Uinder the MHP program, the company
provides Integrated mission systems for 28 state-of-the-art helicopters that
are Intended to replace Canada's aging fleet of maring helicoplers.




Other significant portions of the group's year-end backlog include
approximately $375 for the U.K.'s BOWMAN program, $300 for the ICE2
program, $290 for the MUOS program and $210 for CHS-3. The company
received $440 in orders on the ICE2 program and over $100 of orders

. on CHS-3in 2007.

In addition to these programs, the group received a number of significam
contract awards in 2007,

The group was awarded a contract extension in 20607 worth approxi-
mately $100 to continue its support of the U.S. Joint Forces Command’s
Joint Experimentation Program and Joint Futures Lab (JEXP), bringing the
iotal contract value to approximately $375. Under this program, the
Jroup is providing engineering, technical and administrative services for
loint force concept development.

The Department of Homeland Security awarded the Information Systems
and Technology group a task order under the Enterprise Acquisition Gateway
ior Leading Edge Solutions (FAGLE) program. Under the task order, which
has a potential value of over $225 if all options are exercisad, the group
provides technology operations and maintenance services (TOMIS) for
{;itizen and Immigration Services al more than 280 locations natiomwide.

The group was awarded a contract worth approximately $30 by the
avy to provide modidications and support for fire control systems aboard
145, and U.K. ballistic missite submarines and for the attack weapons
control system aboard U.S. guided missile submarines. The contract has
# total potential value ol approximately $160 if all options are exercised.

The UK. Royal Alr Force awarded the group a contract worth $95 for the
tactical cata link system of the Tactica! Information Exchange Capability (NEC)
rogram. TIEC provides aircrews with enhanced situational awareness.

The group received an initial order worth approximately $25 on a
potential $300 contract to provide IT support services g the U.S. Senate.

The group also received an initial order of $14 from the Army for
support and engineering services on the Command Post of the Future (CPOF)
¢ rogram. The CPOF is an executive-level decision suppart system providing
sityational awareness and collaborative tools. This [DIQ program has a
rotential value of approximately $200,

The group's backlog does not include approximately $8.7 billion of
potential contract value associated with IDIQ contracts and unexercised
options. The value of these arrangements may be realized over the next
15 years. In 2007, funding under IDIQ contracts contributed over $2.2 billion,
or approximately 25 percent of the group’s IDIQ contract value, to the
group’s funded backlog, most notably from ICE2, CHS-3, JEXP and WIN-T.

Information Systems and Technology was awarded several significant
IO contracts during 2007. The group was selected by the Department
of Justice as the system integrator for the integrated Wireless Network
{IWN). IWN Is a collaborative effort between the Departments of Justice,
Homeland Security and the Treasury intended to provide secure,
seamless, interoperable and refiable nationwide wireless voice, data and
multimedia communications among federal agents and law enforcement
oficers engaged in disaster response, law enforcement, protective
services and homeland defense. IWN is an IDIQ program with a potential
vilue of $10 billion over 15 years, if all options are exercised.

In addition, the group recelved one of 20 General Services
Administration (GSA) Alllant contracts to provide federal govemment
agencles with infrastructure, application and IT managemsn! services.
Alliant is an IDIC program with 2 $50 blllign ceiling among 2ll awardees
over a 10-year period.

CORPORATE

Corporals results consist primarily of compensation expense for stock
options and a portion of the eamings from the company’s commerclal
pension plans.

Corporata operating expenses totaled $61 in 2007, $47 in 2006 and
$6 in 2005. The increase in Corporate operating expense in 2007 and
2006 resulted from the initial recognition of stock option expense in
2006 and an increase in that expense from 2006 to 2007, (See Note P
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding the company’s stock options.) The company expects 2008
stock oplion expense of approximately $75.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL RESOURCES

in the mid-1990s, Genera! Dynamics embarked on a strategy of disci-
plined capital deployment, generating strong cash fiow to enabls a series
of acquisitions dasigned to grow the company beyond lts core platfarm
businesses. These acquisilions incorporated new products and technologies
and expanded the company’s customer base. Since 1935, the company
has acquired 47 businesses for a total cost of over $16.5 billion. These
aclions have resulted in a larger, more diversified company while
preserving a strong batance shest and sustained financial flaxibility.

Year Endeo Dacember 31 2007 2006 2005 |
et cash provided by

operaling activities $ 2,925 $ 2128 $20%
Net cash used by investing activities @852 (2,216) (181}
Net cash used by financing activities (788) (539) (520)
Net increase {decrease) in

cash and equivalents 1,287 Fan 1,355
Cash and equivalents

at beglnning of peried 1604 2,331 976
Cash and equivalents

at end of period 2,891 1,604 23
Shart-term investments 168 - -
Shart- and long-term debt {2,791) {2,781)  {3.287)
Net surplus (debt) (a) $ 268 $0a77) 8 {956)
Debi-to-equity () 23.7% 28.3% 40.4%
Debt-to-capital {c) 19.2% 221%  28.8%

{a) Net debt bs caiculated as toial deb less cash and equivalents and shod-term irvestments.
{b) Debi-1o-equity ratio {5 calcutatod as tota) dets diviced by 1otal equaty.
i) Debt-to-cepitat ratio ks caiculated as total debt divided by total vedt pius total ecuity.
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The following is a discussion of the company's major operatling,
investing and financing activities for each of the three years in the period
ended Oecember 31, 2007, as classified on the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activiles was $2.9 billion in 2007 and
$2.1 billion in both 2006 and 2005. In each year, the two primary drivers
of the company's cash flow werg net eamings and increasing levels of
customer advances and deposits, particularly associated with successive
years of record new-aircraft order activity in the Aerospace group.

The cash flows from operations in 2607 resulted from the company’s
strong net eamings, the significant deposits received at Gulfsiream,
and the collection of $270 of contract fund$ upon the resolution of the
T-AKE REA in the Marine Systems group. This significant cash inflow
was reduced by a $100 discretionary contribution to the company’s
primary government pension plan. In 2008, net eamings generated
the majority of the company's operating cash flows, though approxi-
mately $150 of the net earnings refated to a net gain on the sale of
non-core Dusingsses. The cash flow from these transactions is reperted
in Investing activities. The other significant source of cash flow {rom
operations was the substantial deposits received in connection with new
business-jet orders. The 2005 cash flows from operations were driven
by net eamings and an inflow of customer agvances in the company’s
European business.

Termination of A-12 Program. As discussed further in Note O to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, liigatlon on the A-12 program termi-
nation has been ongoing since 1991, If, contrary to the company’s
expectations, the default termination ultimately is sustained, the company
and The Boeing Company could collectively be required to repay the
U.S. government as much as $1.4 billion for progress payments received
for the A-12 contract, plus interest, which was approximately $1.4 biflion
at December 31, 2007. If this were the outcome, the company would
owe approximately $1.4 billion pretax. The company's after-tax cash
obligation would be approximately $670. The company believes it has
sufficient resources to pay such an obfigation, if required, while stil
retalning ample liquidity.

Invasting Activities
Cash used in investing activities was $852 In 2007, $2.3 biflion in 2006
and $181 in 2005. The primary uses of cash in investing activities were
business acquisitions and capital expenditures. In gach year, these uses
of cash were partially reduced by proceeds from divestiture activities.
Business Acquisitions. In 2007, the company completed four
acquisitions for a total of $330. In 2006, the company completed three
acquisitions for a lotal of $2.3 billion. in 2005, the company completed
three acquisitions for a total of approximately $275. The company
financed these acquisitions using commercial paper andfor cash on
hand. {See Note B 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information regarding the acquisitions.)
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Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures were $474 In 2007,
$334 In 2006 and $262 in 2005. The increase in 2007 over 2006
resulted from facility improvemenis in the Aerospace and the
Marine Systems groups. The company expects capital expenditures of
approximately $530 in 2008, less than 2 percent of sales. The company
had no material commitretents for capita! expenditures as of December
31, 2007,

Sale of Assets. In 2007, the company sold its coal mining operation
for approximately $25 in cash, net of taxes. In 2006, the company sold
its apgregates business for approximately $315 in cash, net of taxes.
In 2005, the company completed the sales of several small, non-core
businesses. The company received approximately $300 in cash, nel of
taxes, from these divestiture activities.

Available-for-Sale Securities. As a result of the company's strong
cash position during 2007, the company expanded its investments In
available-for-sale securities. Net purchases of these securities were
$179in 2007 and $12 in 2006 compared with ne! sales of $8 in 2005.

Financing Activities

Cash used by financing activities was $786 in 2007, $539 in 2006 and
$520 In 2005. The company’s typical financing activites are Esuances
and repayments of debt, payment of dividends and repurchases of common
stock. Net cash from financing activities also inchudes proceeds received
from stock option exercises.

Debt Proceeds, Net. There were no material debt repayments
in 2007. In 2006, the company repaid $500 of its lixed-rate debt on
the scheduled maturity date. There were no material debt repayments
in 2005, The company had no commercial paper ouistanding as of
the end of each of the past three years. The company has approximately
$2 billion in bank credit facilities that have nol been drawn upon. These
facllitles are used to provide backup fquidity to the commercial paper
program. In the second quarter of 2008, $500 of the company's fixed-rale
debt securities Is scheduled to mature. In addition, $170 of the company's
sanior notes and term debt matures in the second haf of 2008.

Dividends. The company’s board of directors declared an increased
quarterty dividend of $0.29 per share in March 2007, the 10ih consec-
utive annual increase. The board had previously increased the guartery
dividend to $0.23 per share in March 2006 and to $0.20 per share in
March 2005.

Share Repurchases. In 2007, the company repurchased 6.5 million
shares of its outstanding commaon stock in the open market at an average
price of $78 per share. In 2006, the company repurchased 1.2 miflion
shares of its outstanding common stock in the open market at an average
price of $63 per share. in 2005, the company repurchased 6.7 million
shares at an average price of $54 per share. In December 2007, the
company's board of directors authorized management to repurchase up
to 10 million shares of the company's outstanding common stock on the
open market. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 9.6 million
shares remained under this authority — approximately 2 'Ipercenl of the
company’s total shares outstanding. -




Non-GAAP Managemen! Metrics

General Dynamics' management emphasizes the efficlent conversion of net samings into cash and the deployment of that cash to maximize shareholder
returns. In 2007, for tha ninth consecutive year, net cash provided by operating activities significantly exceeded nat eamings. The company employed
this cash to complete acquisitions, continue its trend of annual dividend Increases and repurchase its outstanding shares. As a result of this continued
focus on cash generation and disciplined capital deployment, the company's return on invested capital (ROIC) increased by 130 basis points during 2007
10 16.9 pescent. The company's ROIC has grown 450 basis points since 2003.

Return on Invested Capital

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Management believes ROIC is a useful measure for investors, because it reflects the company’s abiity to generate retums from the capital it has
deployed in its operations. The company uses ROIC o evaluats investment decisions and as a performance measure in evaluating management.
Management defines ROIC as net operating profit after taxes divided by the sum of the average debt and shareholders’ equlty for the year.
Net operating profit after taxes is defined as eamings from continuing operations plus after-tax interest and amortization expense. ROIC for 2003 through
2007 is calculated as follows:

Yasr Ended Decamber 31 2006 2005 2004 2003 |

Earnings from continuing operations $ 2,080 $ 1,710 $ 1,448 5 1,194 $ 954
After-tax interest expense 89 106 108 106 78
After-tax amortization expenss 99 90 70 62 48
Net eperating profit after taxes 2,268 1,906 1,626 1,362 1,080
Avarage debt and equity $13,430 $12,220 $10,948 310,249 $ 6,691
Return on invested capital 16.9% 15.6% 14.9% 13.3% 12.4%

The company’s free cash flow from operations was $2.5 billion in 2007, $1.8 billion in each of 2006 and 2005, and $1.5 billion in each of 2004
and 2003. Management defines tree cash flow from operations as nel cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations less capital
expenditures. Management believes free cash flow from operations is a useful measure for investors, because it portrays the company's ability to
generate cash from its core businesses for purposes such as repaying maturing debt, funding business acquisitions, repwchasing its common stock
and paying dividends. The company uses free cash flow from operations to assess the quality of its eamings and as a performance measure
in evaluating management. The following table reconciles the free cash flow from operations with net cash provided by operating activities from
continuing operations, as classified on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:

Year Ended Docombas 31 2008 2005 2004 2003 I

Net cash provided by operating acivities from continuing operations § 2,952 $ 2,156 $ 2033 $ 1,760 %167
Capital expenditures (474) (334) {262 {253) {202)
Free cash flow from operations $ 2478 $ 1822 g 17N $ 1,507 $ 1,469
Gash flow as a percentage of eamings from continuing cperations:
Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations 142% 126% 140% 147% 175%
Free cash flow from operations 119% 107% 122% 126% 154%
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Over the past five years, the company has generated free cash flow from operations well in excess of its eamings from continuing operations
during the pericd, an average 122 percent conversion rate. With free cash flow from operations projected fo epproximate eamings from continuing
operations in 2008, the company expects te continue to generate funds in excess of its short- and long-term liquidity needs. Management befieves the
company has adequate funds cn hand and sufficient borrowing capacity to execute its financial and operating strategy. '

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Of-balance Sheet Amangements

As of December 31, 2007, other than operating leases, the company had no material off-batance sheet avangements, including guarantees; retalned
or contingent interests in assets transferved lo unconsolidated entities; derivative Instruments Indexed to the company’s stock and classified in share-
holders' equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheet; or variable interests in entities that provide financing, liquidity, market fisk ar credit risk support o
the company or engage in leasing, hedging or research and development services with the company.

Contractual Obligations and Cormmercial Commitments !
The foltowing tables present Information about the company's contractual ebligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2007:

Paymants Dus by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Amourt Committed Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Yoars More Than 5 Years
Long-term debt {2) $ 3.285 $ 785 $ 4§86 $ 132 $ 1.482
Capftal lease obligations 3 1 2 - -
Cperaling leases 774 161 237 119 257
Purchase obfigations () 16,817 9,629 3,776 1,815 1,597
Qther fong-lem Dabifities () 12,369 2,065 1.918 1,339 7.047
$33,248 $12,641 $ 6.819 $ 3405 $10.383

{2} Inciudes scheduied kiarest payments. See Note J to the Consoidated Financial Statements for ¢iscussion of long-tamm debt.

{b} Inchudes amounts committed under legally enforceable agreamants for goods and senvces with defined temes as to quantily, price and timing of gelvesy, This amourt includes $11.2 billon of puchasa
orders for procucts and senvices (o be delivered under firm govemment contracts under which the company has full recourse under normal contract Lsmination clauses. As disciosed in Notg O o the
Consplidated Financial Statemants, the company expects t make appradmately $35 of contributions 1o its retirement plans n 2008, This emount has been excluded trom the above amount.

{c) Represents other long-term liabilities on the compeny’s Consolidated Batance Sheet, incuding the current portion of long-term [iabilities. Tha profected tming of cash flows associated with thess
obiigations is based on management's esiimates, which are largely based on historica! experience. This amount also inclues al liabilities under the company’s defined-benedil retirement plans, &8
discussed in Nota 0. Seg Note [ tor infoentation reganding tha plan assets available 1o satisty these fabilities, Retirament pran assets and Liabifties are preseniad net on the Consofidated Balance
Sneet on g plan-by-plan basis. 1

Amoynt of Commitment Expiration by Peried

Commercial Commitments Total Amourn Commétted Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Mare Than 5 Years
Letters of credit® $ 1,430 $ 789 $ B85 $21 $535
Trade-in options* 70 22 48 - -

$ 1,500 g£811 $133 $2 $535

* See Mote O to the Consoldated Finenclal Statements for discussion of lefters of oredd and aircratt irade-in options.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Management's Discussion and Analysis of the company's Financia) Condition and Resutts of Operations is based on the company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with LS. generally accepled accounting principles (GAAF). The preparation of financial statements
In accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and babilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including those related to long-term contracts and programs, goodwil
ang other intangible assets, Income taxes, pensions and other past-retirement benefits, workers' compensation, warranty abligations, pre-owned
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aircraft inventory, and contingencies and litigation, Management bases
its estimates on hisiorical experience and on varlous other assumptions
trat it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulis of
irese estimates form the basis lor making judgments about the carrying
vilues of assets and liabfities that are not readily avallable from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

Managament beligves the following policies are critical and require the
use of significant business judgment in their application:

Revenue Recognition - Govemment Contracts. The company
accounts for sales and eamings under lorg-term government contracts
using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Under the
percentage-of-completion methed, the company recognizes contract
revenue as the work progresses — either as the progucts are produced
and delivered or as services are rendered, as applicable. The company
estimates profit as the difference between total estimated revenue and
lctal estimated cost of a contract and recognizes that profit over the
remaining life of the contract based on either input measures (e.g., costs
incurred) or output measures (e.g.. units defivered), as appropriate to
ihe circumstances.

The company follows the quidelings of American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for
Parformance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.
However, the company includes revisions of estimated profits on contracts
in eamings under the reallocation method, in accordance with Accounting
Piinciples Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes (which has been
superseded by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
1154, Acoounting Ghanges and Ermor Corrections), rather than the cumulative
caich-up method. Under the reallocation method, the impact of revisions in
estimates is recognized prospectively over the remaining contract term,
waile under the cumulative catch-up method such impact would be recog-
nized immediately, If a revised estimate of contract profitability reveals an
anticipated loss on the contract, the company recognizes the loss In the
period it is identified, Anticipated losses cover all costs allocable to the
cuntracts, Including GRA expenses.

The company uses the reallocation method, because management
believes the majority of factors that typically result in changes In esti-
mates of tota! contract revenue, total costs or the extent of progress
toward completion on the company’s long-term contracts atfect both the
pexiod In which the change is identified and future periods. Management
bulieves these changes generally reflect expectations as to future
performance and, therefore, the realiocation method is the method that
best matches the company's revenues and earnings in the periods in
wiigh they are pamed. While the company has applied this method
consistently for over 30 years, most contractors use the cumulative
czich-up method. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is
cumently considering a Stardard on the hierarchy of GAAP, which, as
currently drafted, would efiminate the company's ability to use this
mathod of accounting.

The percentage-of-completion melhod of accounting Involves the
use of varipus estimating techniguas to project costs at completion, and
in some cases includes estimates of recoveries asserted against the
customer for changes in specifications. Contract estimates involve vari-
ous assumptlions and projections relative to the outcome of future
events over a period of several years, Inctuding future labor productivity
and availability, the nature and complexity of the work 10 be performed,
the cost and avaitability of materials, the impact of delayed performance,
the availabliity and timing of funding from the customer, and the timing
of product deliveries. These estimates are based on the company's best
judgment. A significant change in one of more of these estimates could
affect the profitability of ne or more of the company’s contracts. The
company reviews its contract estimaies periodically fo assess revisions
in contract values and estimated costs at completion and reflects
changes in estimates in the current and future periods undes the reallo-
cation method.

The company recognizes revenue arising from claims either as
income or as an offset against a potential loss only when the amount
of the claim can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable. In
evalvating these criteria, management considers the contractualiegal
basis for the claim, the cause of any additional costs Incurred, the
reasonableness of those costs and the objective gvidence available to
support the claim. The company recognizes revenue from award or
incentive fees when there is a basis to reasonably estimate the amount
of the fee. Estimates of award or incentive fees are based on actual
award experience and antlcipated performance.

Busingss Aircraft. The company accounts for contracts for business-jet
alreraft in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, These contracts
wsually provide for two major phases: the manufacture of the “green”
aircraft (1.e., before exterior painting and installation of customer-selected
imerlors and optiona! avignics) and its completion. The company records
revenue at two milestones: when green aircraft are defivered to, and
accepied by, the customer and when the cuslomer accepts final delivery
of the fully outlitted aircraft.

The company does not recognize revenue at green delivery unless
{1) a contract has been executed with the customer and {2} the customer
can be expected to satisfy its obfigations under the contract, as evidsnced
by the receipt of deposits from the customer.

Goodwill. Since 1995, General Dynamics has acquired 47 businesses
at a total cost of over $16.5 billion, including four in 2007, tn connection
with these acquisitions, the company has recognized $8.9 billon o
goodwill. Goodwill represenis the purchase price paid in excess of
the fair vajue of net tangible and infangible assets acquired. Goodwill
is not amortized but is subject to an impalrment test on an annual
basls and when clrcumstances Indicate that an impairment Is more
likely than not.

The test for goodwill impairment Is @ two-step process that requires a
significant level of estimation by management, particutarly the estimate
of the falr value of the company's reporting units, and these estimates
require the use of judgment. Management estimates the fair value of the
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company’s reporting units based on the discounted projected cash flows
of the underlying operations. This requires numerous assumptions,
inctuding the timing of work embedded In the company's backlog, the
company's performance and profitability under its contracts, its success
in securing future business, and the appropriate interest rate used
1o discount the projected cash flows. This discounted cash flow analysls
is cormoborated by "top-down” analyses, including a markel assessment
of the company’s enterprise value. Beyond the annual impairment test,
factors that may lead the company to perform a goodwill impairment
lest Include & significant adverse change in the business cliimate for
one of the company's reporting units or @ decision to dispose of a
reporting unit or a significant portion of a reporting unit. The company
has recorded no goodwill impairment to date and does not anticipate any
reasonably possible circumstances that would lead to an impairment in
the foreseeable future,

Commitments and Contingencies. The company is subject to
litigation and other tega! proceedings arising elther out of the ordinary
course of its business or ungder provisions relating to the protection of
the environment, Estimating liabilities and costs associated with these
matters requires the use of judgment. The company records a charge
against eamings when a liability associated with claims or pending
or threatened Iltigation matters is probable and when the company's
exposure is reasonably estimable. The ultimate resolution of any expo-
sure to the company may change as further facts and circumstances
become Known.

Deferred Contract Costs. Certain costs Incurred in the performance
of the company's government contracts are recorded under GAAP but
are not currently allocable to contracts. Such costs Include a portion of
the company’s estimated workers' compensation, other insurance-
related assessments, pension and other post-retirement benefits, and
environmental expenses. These costs will become allocable to contracts
generally when they are paid. As permitted by AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guide, Federal Government Contractors, the company has
elected to defer these costs in conlracls in process until they are paid,
at which time the costs are charged to confracts and recovered from
the government. The company expects to recover these costs through
ongolng business, including existing backlog and prabable foligw-on
contracts. This business base includes numerous contracts for which
the company is the sole source or one of two suppiiers on long-lerm
defense programs. The company regulady assesses the probability
of recovery of these costs under its current and probable follow-on
contracts. This assessment requires the company to make assumptions
abourt future contract costs, the extent of cost repovery under the company’s
contracts and the amount of future contract activity. These estimates are
based on management’s best judgment. If the backlog in the fulure does
not support the continued deferra! of these cests, the profitability of the
company's remaining contracts could be adversely affected.

Retirement Plans. The campany's defined-benefit pension and
other post-retirement benefit costs and obligations depend on various
assumptions and estimates. The key assumptions relate to the interest
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rates used to discount estimated future liabllities and projected long-
term rates of retum on plan assets. The company determings the
discount rate used each year based on the rate of retumn currently
available on a portfolio of high-quality fixed-income investmants with a
maturity thal is consistent with the projected benefil payout period.
The company determines the long-tem rate of return on assets tased
on historical returns and the current and expected asset allocation
strategy. These estimates are based on the company's best judgment,
including consideration of currant and future market conditions. In the
gvent a change in any of the assumptions is warranted, future pension
and post-retirement benefit cost could increass or decrease. The
following hypothetical ¢changes in the discount rate and expected
long-term rate of retum on plan assets for the company's commercial
pension plans and post-retirement benefit plans would have had the
following impact on 2007:

increass Dacreaso

25 e 53 0ps
Intreass {decrease) 1o net pension income from:
Change in discount rate -5 3 %8 @
Change in long-term rate of return on plan assets 3 ()}
increase (decrease) 1o post-retirement beneit cost from:
Change in discount rate $ M $ 1
Change in fong-term rate of retumn on pfan assels n 1

As discussed under Deferred Contract Costs, the company's contrac-
tual arangements with the U.S. government provide tor the recovery of
contributions to the company's government retiremeént plans. As permitted
by AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Federal Government Contractors,
the company has elected {o deler recognition of the cumulative net
unfunded benefit cost In its governmant plans to provide a better matching
of revenues and expenses. As such, the company’s future eamings are
not subject to the consequences of annual changes in the assumptions
associated with these plans.

Management believes that its judgment is applled consistently and
produces financial information that fairly depicts the results of operations
{or al periods presented.

New Accounting Slandards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Valug Measure-
ments. SFAS 157 defines "falr value” in the context of accounting and
financial reporting and establishes a framework for measuring fair value
under GAAP. SFAS 157 also expands the required disclosures regarding
falr value measurements. In January 2008, the FASB deferred the effective
date of SFAS 157 {or certain nonfinancial assels arid fabliities to the first
quarter of 2009. SFAS 157 is effective for financial assets and labilities
in the first quarter of 2008. The company does no! expect the adoption
of SFAS 157 to have a matsrial impact on its results of operations,
financial condition or cash flows. '




In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Falr Value
Option for Financial Assets and Fingncial Ligbifities — Including an
Amendment of FASB Staterment No. 115, SFAS 159 allows companies (o
choese {0 measure certain financial instruments and other items at fair
value. SFAS 159 is effective In the first quarter of 2008. The company
does not expect the adoption of SFAS 159 to have a material impact on
its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

tn December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 {revised 2007),
Business Combinations. SFAS 141R changes the requirements for
accounting for business combinations, including the determination of
purchase price and assignment of purchase price to acquired assets and
fiabilitles. SFAS 141R s effective far acquisitions that are completed in
the first quarier of 2009 and beyond. The company is currently analyzing
the expected tmpact of the adoption of this Statement on future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontroliing
Interests in Consoligated Financial Statements = An Amendment of ARB
No. 51, SEAS 160 establishes new accouniing for noncontroliing interests
in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is
effective in the first quarter of 2009. The company does not expect the
adoption of SFAS 160 to have a material impact on its results of operations,
ftnancial condition or cash fiows.

ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The company is exposed to market risk, primarily from foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.

Foreign Currency Risk

The company's foreign curency exchange rate risk relales to recelpts
from customers, payments to suppliers, outstanding debt and certain
inter-company transactions denominated in currencles other than the
company’s (or ane of its subsidiaries’) functional currency. The company
may enter inte foreign currency forward contracts from time to time fo fix
the amount of firmly committed and forecasted non-functional payments,
receipts and inter-company transactions related 1o ils ongoing business
and operational financing activities. These contracts are deslgned to
minimize non-functional currency risks and/for risks assoctated with inter-
national subsidiaries that may enter into transactions outside of their own
functionat currency.

At December 31, 2007 and 2008, the company had $1.7 billion and
$1.1 billion, respectively, in notional contracts outstanding. A 10 percent
unfavorable exchange rate movement in the company’s portfolio of foreign
currency forward contracts would have resulted in an incremental
recognized pretax loss of $29 in 2007 and $4 In 2006, and an incremental
unrecognized pretax loss of $53 in 2007 and $40 In 2006. This
exchange-rate sensitivity relates primarily to changes in U.S. doflar/
Canadlan dollar and euro/Swiss franc exchange ratgs. The company
believes the recognized and unrecognized losses would ba offset by
comesponding gains in the remeasurement of the underlying transactions
being hedged. When taken together, these forward contracts and the
offsetting undertying commitments do not create materfal market risk.

Interast Rate Risk

Financial instruments subject to fnterest rate risk include fixed-rate debt
obligations, variable-rate commercial paper and short-term fnvestments.
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had only fixed-rate
debt outstanding. The company's fixed-rate debt obfigations are not
putable and are not traded by the company in the market. A 10 percent
change in current interest rates would not have 2 matarial impact on the
fair value of the company's flxed-rate debt obligations. The company would
be subject to interest rate risk from outstanding commercial paper, but
thers were no outsianding balances at year-end 2007 or 2006.

The company's Investment policy allows for purchases of fixed-
income securifiegs with an investment-grade rating and a maximum
maturity of five years. The company held $3.1 billion in cash and
gquivalents and shor-lerm investments lo be used for general corporate
purposes as of December 31, 2007, and $1.6 billlon as of December 31,
2006. Given the weighted average maturity of 15 days as of December
31, 2007, and 11 days as of December 31, 2008, a 10 percent
unfavorable interest rate movement would have no immediate material
impact on the value of the holdings In either year, Historically, the company
has not experienced material gains or losses on these instruments due
to changes in intgrest rates.

Commodity Price Risk

The company is also subject i risk of rising labor and commodity prices,
primarily on long-term fixed-price contracts. To the extent possible, the
company includes terms in its coniracts that are destgned to protect It
from this risk. The company has not entered inlo commodity hedging
contracts but may ¢o $0 as circumstances warrant, Some of the protective
terms included in the company’s contracts are considered derivatives but
are not accounted for separately because they are clearly and closely
related to the host contract. The company does not befieve that changes
In labor or commodity prices will have a materfal impact on its resufts of
operations or cash flows.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Consolidated Statement of Eamings

Year Ended December 1

Dottazs I oSS, GADT D61 EheTY BTOURIE) 00 2006 2005
Net Sales:
Products $ 19125 $ 17,005 $ 15030
Services 8115 6,968 5,945
27,240 24,063 20,975
Operating Costs and Expenses:
Products 16,829 15,213 13,453
Services 7,298 6.225 5,343
24127 21,438 18,796
Operating Eamings 33 2,625 2179
Interest, net {70 {101) {118)
Other, net 4 3 8
Eamings from Contiruing Operations before Income Taxes 3,047 2527 2,069
Provision for income taxes, net 967 a7 621
Earnings from Continuing Operations 2,080 1,710 1,448
Discontinued operations, net of tax (8) 146 13
Net Earnings $ 2072 $ 1,856 $ 1,461
Eamings per Share
Basic:
Continuing operations $ 54 $ 424 $ 38
Discontinued operations {0.02) 0.36 0m
Net earnings $ 512 5 460 § 364
Diluted:
Continuing operations $§ 510 $ 420 $ 358
Discontinued operations {0.02 0.36 0.03
Net eamings $§ 508 $ 456 $ 3@

Tha aocompanying Notes to Consolicaled Rinancial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Decamber 31

o

Dokars n meTong)

ASSETS

Current Asssts: .
Cash and equivalents $ 280 £ 1604 |
Accounts recelvable 2,874 234 |
Contracts in process 4337 3,988
Inventories 1.621 1,484
Other current assets 575 463
Total Current Asssts 12,298 9.880
Noncurrent Assets:

Property, plant and equipment, net 2,412 2,168
Intangible assets, net 972 1,184
Goodwill 8,942 8,541
Other assets 1,049 603
Total Noncurrent Assets 13,435 12,496
Total Assets $ 25733 $ 22376
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Currert Liabilities:

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt $ 673 $ 7
Accounts payable 2318 1,956
Customer advances and deposits 3,440 2,949
Other current Tabllities 2733 292
Total Currert Lighilittes 9,164 7.824
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Long-term debt 2,118 2,774
Other [iabliitles 2,683 1,951
Cormmitments and contingencies (see Note 0)

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 4,80t 4725
Shareholders' Equity:

Common stock 482 482
Surphus 1,141 880
Retained eamings 11,379 9,769
Treasury stock ,881) {1,455
Accumulated other comprehensive Income 647 151
Total Sharehokders’ Equity 11,768 9,827
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 25733 $ 22376

The accompanying Notes o Constidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement,
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Endeq December 31

Doy v mllioas) 0D 2008 ’
Gash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net eamings $ 2072 $ 1,856 $ 1461
Adjustments to reconcile net eamings to net cash
provided by aperating activities—

Qepreciation of property, plant and equipment 278 251 226

Amortization of intangible assels 145 133 101

Stock-based compensation expense 86 61 39

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 6N 4N @

Deferred income tax provision 122 45 141

Discontinued operations, net of {ax 8 {146} {13)
(Increase) decrease in assets, net of effects of business acquisitions—

Accounts receivable {519 {160 {555)

Contracts in process {435) {390} {196)

Inventories (135) {237 n2a
Increase (decrease} in liabilities, net of effects of business acquisitions—

Accounts payable 340 180 187

Customer advances and deposits 993 399 954
Other, net 64 211 {188)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing Qperations 2,992 2,156 2,033
Net Cash (Used) Provided by Discontinued Operations — Operating Activitles en {28) 23
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 2,925 2,128 2,056
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of avaitable-for-sale securities (2.798) {82) (10
Sales/maturities of available-for-sale securities 2,619 70 18
Capiial expendiiures {474} (334) (262)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (330 2.342) (277
Discontinued aperations 23 300 299
Other, net 108 72 51
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities {852} (2,316) (181)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitles:
Purchases of common stock (505) (85) (348)
Dividends paid (445) (359) (314
Proceeds from optign exercises 207 253 148
Excess tax benefil fram stock-based compensation 67 47 2
Repayment of fixed-rate noles - (500) -
QOther, net (110) 105 (8)
Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (785) {538} {520}
Nst Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Equivalents 1,287 727) 1,355
Cash and Equivalents at Beginning of Year 1,604 23 976
Cash and Equivalents at End of Year § 289 $ 1604 $ 23

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Fnancizi Statements are an Intagral part of this statement,
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Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock Accumukated Tota!
Retaingg Treasury Other Comprehensive  Sharehoiders’ Comprehensive

{1t Mot Par Surphss Eamings Stock tcoma Eaudty Income
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 482 § 9516 $7.46 $ (1,208) $ 25 $ 7189

Nzt eamings - - 1,461 - - 1,461 $ 1,461
Cish dividends declared - - 322 - - (322 -
Srock-based awards - 129 - [l - 200 -
Shares purchased - - - {358) - (358) -
Nzt loss on cash flow hedges - - - - 6 (6} {6
Furelgn currency translation adjustments - - - - (8 8} (18}
Additional pension fiability - - - - m Mm (1)
Batance, December 31, 2005 482 645 8,285 {1,483) 226 8,145 $ 1,436
N2t earnings - - 1,856 - - 1,856 $ 1,856
Cash dividends dectared - - {372 - - (3712 -
Siock-based awards - 235 - 13 - 348 -
Shares purchased - - - {75 - (75) -
N2t toss on cash flow hedges - - - - 23 (23 23
Foreign currency transiation adjustments - - - - 78 78 78
Adjustrnent to initlally apply SFAS 158 - - - - {130) {130} -
Balance, December 31, 2006 482 880 9,769 (1,455) 151 9,827 $ 1911
Adoption of FIN 48 - - 7 - - 7 5 -
N3t eamings - - 2,072 - - 2,072 2,072
Cash dividends deglared - - (469) - - (469) -
Stock-based awards - 261 - 79 - 340 -
Shares purchased - - - {505) - (505) -
Nt galn on cash flow hedaes - - - - 6 § 6
Unireafized gains on securities - - - - 3 3 3
Fureign currency translation adjustments - - - - 188 188 188
Change in retirement plans' funded stalus - - - - 299 299 293
Bilance, December 31, 2007 $ 482 § 1141 $ 1,379 § {1,881} $ 647 $11,768 $ 2568

The accompanying Notes 1 Consolidated Financial Statements arg an integral part of Gus statement.
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{Doitars In midons, eacept por share amounts or uniess otherwise noted)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACGOUNTING POLICIES
Organization. General Dynamics’ businesses are organized inig four
groups: Aeraspace, which produces Guifstream aircraft and provides aircraft
service operations; Combal Systems, which designs and manufactures
oombat vehicles, weapons systems and munitions; Maring Systems,
which designs and constructs surface ships and submarines; and
Information Systerns and Technology, which provides information systems,
technologies, and services. The company's primary customers ars the
\.S. military, other government organizations, the ammed forces of
other natigns, and a diverse base of corporate and Individual buyers of
business aircrafl.

Basis of Consolidation and Classification. The Consolidated
Financial Statements include the accounts of General Dynamlcs
Corporation and its wholly owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. The
company efiminates all inter-company balances and transactions in the
consolidated statements.

In 2006 and 2007, General Dynamics soid certain non-core businesses,
as discussed in Note €. The financial statements for all prior periods have
been restated to reflect the resulis of operations of these businesses in
discontinued operations.

In March 2006, the company's board of directors approved a two-lor-
one stock split, as discussed In Note M. The financial statements for
2005 have been restated to reflect the effect of the split on share and
per-share amounts,

Consistent with defense Industry practice, the company classifies assets
and Rabilities related to long-term production contracts as curment, even
though some of these amounts are not expected o be realized within one
year, In addition, some pior-year amounts have been reclassified among
financial statement accounts to conform to the current-year presentation.

Use of Estimates. U.S. generally accepted accounling principles
(GAAP) require management to make a number of estimates and
assumptlons, These estimates and assumptions affect the reporied
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assats
and liabliities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reparting period,
Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results could ditfer from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. General Dynamics accounts for sales and
eamings under long-term contracts using the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting in accordance with American Institute of Certlfled
Public Accountants {AICPA) Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Produclion-Type
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Contracts. The company estimates the profit on a contract as the differ-
ence between the total estimated revenue and the total estimated costs
of a contract and recognizes that profit over the contract term. The
company determines progress foward completion on production contracts
based on either inmit measures, such as costs incumed, or output
measures, such as units delivered, as appropriate. For services contracts,
the company recognizes revenues as the services are rendered. The
company applies eamings rates to all contract costs, including general and
administrative (GEA) expenses on government contracts, 1o determing
sales and operating eamings.

The company reviews eamings rates periodically to assess revislons
in contract values and estimated costs al completion. The company
applies the effect of any changes in eamings rates resulting from thess
assessments prospectively rather than under the cumulative catch-up
method. Under this method, the impact of revisions in estimates Is
recognized over the remaining contract term, while under the cumulative
catch-up method, such impact would be recognized immediately. The
company charges any anticipated losses on coniracts to eamings as
500N as they are identified. Anticipated losses cover all costs allocabie to
the contracts, Including GRA expenses on government contracts. The
company recognizes revenue arising from claims gither as income or as
an offset against a potential loss only when the amount of the claim can
be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

The company accaunts for contracts for business-jet aircraft in accor-
dance wilh Statement of Position 81-1. These contracts usvally provids
for two major phases: the manufacture of the “green” aircraft and its
completion, Completion includes exterior painting and instaliation of
customer-selected Interlors and optional avionics. The company records
revenue at two milestones; when green aircralt are defivered to, and
accepted by, the customer and when the customer accepts final delivery
of the fully cutfitted alrcraft, The company recognizes sates of all other
gircraft products and services when the product is dellvered or the
service is performed.

General and Administrative Expenses. G3A expenses were $1.6
billion in 2007, $1.5 billion in 2006 and $1.3 billion in 2005. These
expenses are included in operaling costs and expenses on the
Cansolidated Statement of Eamings. '




Research and Development Expenses. Company-sponsored
research and development expenses consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31 2007 2006 2005 |
Company-sponsored research and

development, including product

development cosls $ 287 $ 266 § 2N

Bid and proposal costs 143 m 13

Total company-sponsored

research and development § 430 $ 377 % 344

Research ang development (R&D} expenses are included tn operating
costs and expenses on e Consolidated Statenent of Earnings in the
period in which they are incurred. Customer-sponscred R&D expenses are
charged directly to the refated contract.

The Aercspace group has cost-sharing arrangements with some of its
suppliers, which enhance the group's internal development capabilites
and offset a portion of the financial risk associated with the group's product
development efforts. These arrangements explicitty state that supplier
contributions are for reimbursements of costs the company incurs in the
development of new aircraft models and technologies, and the company
retains substantial rights in the products developed under these arrange-
ments. The company records amounts received from these cost-sharing
arrangements as a reduction of R&D expenses, as the company has
no obligation to refund any amounts received under the agreement
regardless of the outcome of the development effort. Specifically, under
the terms of each agreement, payments received from suppliers for their
share of the costs are typically based on milestones and are recognized
as eamed when the company achleves 2 milestons event,

Interest, Net. Net interest expense consisted of the following:

o T

Year Enced Decamber 31

Interest expense $ 13 $ 156 § 154
Interest inceme 53} {55) {36)

Interest expense, net $ 70 $ 10§ 18
Interest payments $ 127 $ 155 § 142

Income Taxes. The company calculates its provision for federal,
intemational end state income taxes based on cument tax law. Tha
reported tax provision differs from the amounts currently receivable or
payable because some Income and expense items are recognized In
different time pesiods for financial reporting purposes than for inpome 1ax
purposes. General Dynamics periodically assesses its fiabilities and
contingencies for alt periods open to examination by tax autherlties based
on the latest avaitable information. Where it is not more likely than nat

that the company’s tax position will be sustained, the company records
its best estimate of the tesulling tax liablity and interest in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. It is the company's policy to record
any Intarest or penalties incurred in connaction with income taxes as part
of income tax expense for financial reporting purposes.

Cash and Equivalents and Investments in Debi and Equily
Securities. General Oynamics classifies Its securities in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting
for Certain fnvestmenis in Debt and Equity Securities. The company
considers securities with a maturity of three months or less 1o be cash
gquivalents. The company adjusts all investments in debt and equity
securities to falr value. For trading securities, the edjustments are recognized
in the Consolldated Statement of Earnings. Adjustments for available-for-
sale securities are recognized as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income within sharehoiders’ equity in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The company had avaifable-for-sale investments of $264
at December 31, 2007, and $79 al December 31, 2008, included in
other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The company
had no trading securities at the end of either period.

The contractual arrangements with some of the company's international
customers require the company to maintain some of the advance payments
made by these customers and apply them only to the company’s activities
associated with these contracts. These advances totaled approximately
$315 as of December 31, 2607,

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. Cost for work-in-process inventories, which consist of aircrat
components, I based on the estimated average unit cost of the units In &
production lot, or specific identification. Cost for raw matesials inventories is
based on the fist-in, first-out method, or specific identification. The company
records pre-owned alrcraft acquired in connection with the safe of new
aircraft ai the lower of the trade-in value or the estimated net realizable
valug, Getermined at the time of trade and based on esfimated fair value.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Nel. Property, plant and eguipment
are camied at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The company
depreciates most of its assets using the straight-ine method and the
remainder using accelerated methods. Buildings and improvements are
depreciated aver periods up to 50 years. Machinery and equipment are
depreciated over periods up to 28 years.

Impalrment of Long-lived Assets. The company reviews long-lived
assets, Including intangible assels subject to amortization, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances Indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset may not ba recoverabla. Impairment losses, where
identified, are determined as the excess of the carrying value over the
estimated fair value of the long-lived assat. The company assesses the
recoverability of the carrying value of assets held for use based on a
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review of projected undiscounted cash flows. If an asset is held for sale, the
company's assessmert considers the estimated fair value less cost to ssil.

The company reviews goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
for impalrment annually by applying a fair-valug-based test. Goodwill
represents the purchase price paid In excess of the falr value of net
tangible and intangible assets acquired in a business combination. The
company applies a two-step impairment test to first identlfy potential
goodwill impairment for each reporting unit and then measure the
amount of goodwill impalrment loss, if necessary. The company completed
the required annual goodwill impalrment test during the fourth quarter of
2007 and did not identify any impairment. For & summary of the company's
goodwili by reporting unit, see Note B,

Environmental Liabilitles. The company accrues environmental
costs when it is probable that a fiability has been incurred and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. To the extent ongoing environmental mainte-
nance and moniloring costs are considered allowable costs under the
company's government contracts, General Dynamics breats these costs
as contract costs and recognizes them generally as paid.

Falr Value of Financial Instruments. The company’s financial irstru-
ments Include cash and equivalents, marketable securities, short- and
fong-term debt, and derivative financial instruments. The company
estimates the fair value of these financlal instruments as follows:

o Cash and equivalents and marketable securilies: fair valug approximates
canying value due to the short-term nature of these nstruments.

» Short- and iong-term debt. fair valye is based on quoted market prices.

o Denvative financial instruments; fair value I3 based on valuation
models {hat use observable markel quotes.

The following is a summary of the carrying valug and estimated fair
valug of the company’s financial instruments:

Oscember 34

Cash and equivalents $2891 $2891 $1,604 $1604
Marketable securities 168 168 - -
Short-term debt ©73)  (670) N Y]
Long-term debl (2118 01 R774 (2.6949)
Derivative financial instruments (67} &N (56 (56)

Stock-based Compensation. On January 1, 2006, the company
adopted SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment. See Note P for a description
of the company's equity compensation plans and the detells of the
company's stock compensation expense.
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Translation of Foreign Currencies. The functional currencies for
General Dynamics' Internatlonal operations are thelr respective local
currencies. The company translates foreign curréncy balance sheets
from the intemationa! business units’ functional currency to U.S. dollars at
the end-of-period exchange rates, and eamings statements at the average
exchange rates for each period. The resutting foreign cumency transtation
adjustments are a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income, which is included in shareholders’ equity on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

B. ACQUISITIONS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
tn 2007, General Dynamics acquired four businesses for an aggregate of
approximately $330 in cash.

Agrospace

o WECO Aergspace Systems, Inc. (WECO), of Lincola, Califomia, on
March 2. WECO is an aviation-component overhaul company
speciaflzing in efectronic accessores and flight instrument services.

Combat Systems

» SNC Technologies Inc. {SNC TEC), a wholly owned subsidiary of
SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. of Montreal, Quebec, on January 5. SNC TEG
is an ammunition system integrator that supplies small-, medium-
and large-caliber ammunition and related products to the Canadian
Forces, U.S. and other national defense customers, and law enforcement
agencies around the world.

information Systems and Technology

» Monteria, LLC {(Monteria), of Mount Airy, Maryland, on October 24.
Monteria designs and manufactures technoh')gy and systems
dedicated exclusively to supporting the signals intelligence (SIGINT)
community.

* Medlaware International Ply Ltd. (Mediaware) of Australia on November
13. Mediaware develops real-time full-motion compressed digilal
video processing software and systems for defense, inteflligence and
commercial customers.

tn 2008, General Dynamics acquired three businesses for an aggregate
of approximately $2.3 billion In cash. i

Combat Systems

s Chamberlain Manufacturing Corporation's Scranton, Pennsylvania,
cperation {Scranton Operation) on July 7. The Scranton Operation is a
supplier of large-caliber projectile metal parts to the U.S. govemment.




Information Systems and Technology

= Anteon intemational Corporation (Anteon} of Fairfax, Virglnia, on June
8. Anteon is a lzading systems integration company that provides
mission, operational and information technology () enterprise support
to the U.S. government. As a condition of the acquisition, the company
tivested several of Anteon's program management and engineering
services contracts. The company received approximately $150 in
after-1ax proceeds from the sale of these contracts, resulting in a net
purchase price of approximately $2.1 billion,

¢ FC Business Systems, Inc. (FCBS), of Fairfax, Virginia, on January 17.
FCBS provides a broad spectrum of engineering and T services to
government customers.

In 2005, General Dynamics acquired three businesses for an aggregate
of approximately $275 in cash. Each of these businesses is included in
the Information Systems and Technology group.

+ [tronix Corporation (itronix) of Spokane, Washington, on September 2.
Itronix provides wireless, rugged mabile computing solutions as well
as wireless integration and support services for military, public safety
and select commercial markels.

+ Tadpole Computer, Inc. (Tadpole), of Cuperting, Califomia, on August
16. Tadpole provides mobile, secure and battlefield-tested computing
platforms for mission-critical military, government and commercial
operations.

s MAYA Viz Ltd. (MAYA Viz} of Pittsburgh, Pennsytvania, on April 1.
MAYA Viz provides enhanced visualization and collaboration technologles
that support real-time decision making.

General Dynamics funded each of the above acquisitions wsing
commercial paper borrowings and/or cash on hand. The operaling results
of these businesses have been included with the company’s results since
the respective closing dates of the acquisitions. The purchase prices of
these businesses have been allocated to the estimated (air value of net
tangible and intangible assets acquired, with any excess purchase price
recorded as goodwill. Some of the estimates related to the Monteria and
Mediaware acquisitions were still preliminary at December 33, 2007. The
company is In the process of identifying and valuing intangible and other
assets acquired. The completion of .this analysis could result in an
increase or decrease to the preliminary value assigned 10 these acquired
assets, as well as to future periods’ amortization expense. The company
expects the anatyses to be completed during the first haif of 2008 without
any material adjustments.

Intangitle assets consisted of the following:

2007

Gross Net
Camying Accumutatad  Camrying
Amour  Amortization  Amount

December 31

Contract and program intangible assets  $1,366 $ (504) $ 862
Other intangible assats N6 (206) 110
Total intanpible assets $1682 §$ (710 $ 972
Oscamber 31 ' 2006 1
Gross Nst

Camying  Accurmulated  Camying
Amount  Amortization  Amount

Contract and program imangible assets  $1,369 § (390) § 979
Other intangible assets 383 (178} 205
Total Intangible assets $1752 % (568) §1,184

Contract and program intangible assets represent primarily acquired
backiog and probable follow-on work and retated customer refationships.
The company amortizes these assets over 7 to 40 years. The weighted-
average amortization life of these assets as of December 31, 2007, was
17 years. Other intangible assets consist primarily of aircraft product
design and customer lists, amortized over 9 and 21 years, respectively,
and software and ficenses, amortized over 5 to 24 years. The company
amortizes intanglble assels on a straight-line basis unless the pattem of
usage of the benefits Indicates an alternate method is appropriate.

Amortization expense was $145 in 2007, $133 in 2006 and $101 in
2005. The company expects 1o record annual amortization expense over
the next five years as follows:

2008 § 13t
2008 128
2010 124
20m 116
2012 113
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The changes in the carrying amount of goocwill by business group during 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Acrospace Combal Systerrts Marine Systems  Information Systems and Technology Total Goodwill
December 31, 2005 $ 350 $ 1,992 $ 193 $ 4151 $ 6,686
Acquisitions (a} n 59 {8) 1,787 COLEN
Other (b) - 18 - B _ 24
December 31, 2006 343 2,069 185 5,944 8,541
Acquisitions (3) 12 62 - 13 ©187
Other (b) - 177 - 37 "4
December 31, 2007 § 35 $ 2,308 $ 185 $ 6,094 $ 8,942

(a} Includes adfustments to prefiminary assignment of fair value to net assats Bcquired.
() Consists of adjustments for foreign curmancy translation.

C. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2007, the company compleled the sale of its coal mining operation.
The company received proceeds of approximately $25 from this transaction.
The company had previously recognized an after-tax loss of $37 In the
fourth quarter of 2006 in anticipation of the sale. The company sold its
aggregates business in the second quarter of 2006. The company
received proceeds of approximately $315 in 2006 and recognized an
after-tax gain of approximately $220.

In the first quarter of 2005, the company completed the sale of four
non-core businesses. These included the company's aeronautical
research and development business, its facilities research and development
business, and its airborne electronics systems business n the
Information Systems and Technology group and its propulsion systems
business In the Combat Systems group. The company received combined
proceeds of approximately $300 and recognized an after-tax loss of $8
from these {ransactions in 2005,

The financial statements for all periods have been restated to remove
the sales of each of these businasses from the company's consofidated net
sales and present the results of thelr gperations in discontinued operations,

The summary of operating results from discontinued operations follows:

o

Year Ended Decambwr 31

Net sales § 54 $ 149 $ 315
Qperating expenses 79 183 297
Operating (loss)eamings 25 34) 18
Gther, net - &) 13
Gain gn disposal 13 142 32
(Lossi/earnings before taxes 12 107 63
Tax {benefityprovision @) 39 30
{Loss)/eamings from discontinued

operations $ ® $ 146 $ 13
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Assets and liabilities of discontinued operalions consisted of the
following:

s o

Accounts recelvable 5 - $ 6
Inventories -
Property, plant and equipment, net - i5
Retirement plan assets - 14
Other &ssets 3 73
Assets of discontinued operations 3 3 $ 109
Accounts payable 1 7
Retirement plan fiabilities - 94
Other Habilities 45 127
Liabilitles of discontinued operations $ 46 § 228

0. EARNINGS PER SHARE
General Dynamics compurtes basic eamings per share using net earnings
for the perlod and the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diiuted eamings per share incorporates
the incremental shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of stock
options and the issuance of restricted shares.

Basic and diuted weighted average shares outstanding were as follows
{n thousands): !

o ——

Year Ended December 1

Basic weighted average

shares outstanding 404,417 403424 401,837
Dilutive eftect of stock options '

and restricted stock® 3728 3403, 3211
Dihvted weighted average !

shares outstanding 408,145 406827 404,848

* Exctudes the folowing dutstanding options to purchase shares of common stogk and nomvested
resiricted stock because the effect of including these optons and restricted shares would be
antidiutive: 2007-4.064; 2006-,726; 2005-1,331.




€. INCOME TAXES

Income Tax Provision

Tie following Is 8 summary of the net provision for income taxes for
continuing operations:

Yeat Endes December 31 2007 2006 005 )
Current:
U.S. federal $ 756 $ 642 § 460
State” 9 12 4
Internaticnal a8 18 a2
Total current 863 172 546
Deferred:
u.S. federal 89 44 114
State* 2 ) 3
Internalional K]} 2 24
Total deferred 122 45 141
Tax adjustments (18) - (66)

Frovision for income taxes, net $ 967 $ 817 $ 621

* The provision for stats and local income taies that is aliocable @ U.S. government contracts.
s included! in operating casts and expenses on the Consalidated Statement of Earnings and,
theredore, not ncludad in tha prcwvision above,

Income 1ax payments were $759 In 2007, $743 In 2006 and $522

Deferred Tax Assets/{Liabilitles}
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise o significant portions
of deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

Ouenter o T
Post-retirement benefit plan tiabilities $ 161 $ 223
A-12 termination 90 N
Tax koss and credit camyforwards 63 35
Qther 723 601
Deterred assets $1037 § 950
ftangibie assels (676) {693)
Long-term conlract accounting methods (352) (343)
Pension plan assets {(291) (114)
Capital Construction Fund {(190) (7h
Property basis ditterences (139) (143)
Leass ingome (24} i29)
QOther [279) (173)
Deferred liabiliies $(1.951) $(1.672
Net deferred tax liability $ Q14 3 (722

The net deferred tax llabllity was included in the Consolidated Batance
Sheet as follows:

In 2005. Decerber 31 B~ |
The reconciliation from the statutory federal income tax rale to the ~ Curent deferred taxassel § % 3
company's effective income tax rate follows: Curent deferred (ax iabilty @2) -
Noncurrent deferred tax asset 1 4
Yrar Ended Orgeaiber 31 m 2006 2005 Nencurrent deterred {ax liability 990 (865)
Statutory federal income tax rate 35.0% 350%  35.0% Net deferred tax liability $ @4 § (122
Tax settlements (.6) - {3.2)
S4ats tax on commercial operations, )
et of federal benefits 02 0.3 0.2 As of December 31, 2007, General Dynamics had U.S. and foreign
Impact of intemational operations (1.4) {1.0) ©.4) operating loss carrylorwards of $74, which begin to expire in 2016.
{lualified export sales exemption - 0.3} {0.9) The company had R&D and forelgn investment tax credit camyforwards
{lomestic produclion deduction 0. {0.9) 0.4 of $52, which begin to expire in 2015. The company provided a valuation
Uomestic tax credits 03 (0.6} ©2) allowance otaling $69 as of December 31, 2007, and $120 as of
O, net ©.n 09 ©8  December 31, 2006, on some of its deferred tax assets, the recovery of
Effective income fax rate 31.7% 32.3% 30.0%

which is uncertain. Approximately $10 of the reduction in the valuation
aliowance reduced the 2007 income tax provision, with the remainder
reducing goodwill. The company befieves it is more likely than not that
the results of huture cperations will generate sufficient taxable income to
reatize the remainder of the company's deferred tax assets.

Eamings from continuing operations before income taxes inciudes foreign
income of $491 in 2007, $417 in 2006 and $317 in 2005. The company
Intends to reinvest Indefinitely the undistributed eamings of some of its
non-1.S, subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2007, the company had
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approximately $684 of earnings from international subsidiaries that had
not been remitted to the United States. Should these eamings be distributed
in the form of dividends or aftemative means, the distributions would be
subject to U.S. federal income tax at the statutory rate of 35 percent, less
foreign tax credits applicable to such distributions.

The Capital Construction Fund (CCF) is a program, established by the
U.S. govemment and administered by the Maritime Administraticn, that
affects the timing of a portion of the company’s tax paymenis. The program
supports the acquisition, construction, reconstruction or operation of U.S.
flag merchant maring vessels. I allows companies to defer federal and
state income taxes on eamings derived from eligible programs as long
as the funds are deposited and used for qualified activities. Unqualitied
withdrawals are subject 10 taxation plus interest. The CCF is collateralized
by qualified assets as defined by the Maritime Administration. At
Dacembar 31, 2007, General Dynamics had assigned approximately
$539 in U.S. government accounts recefvable to the CCF.

Tax Uncertainties
On November 27, 2001, General Dynamics filed a refund suit in the U.S.
Court of Federal Claims, titled Genera! Dynamics v. United States, far the
years 1991 to 1993. The company added the years 1994 to 1938 to the
litigatton on June 23, 2004. The suit seeks recavery of refund claims that
were disallowed by the Infernal Revenue Service (IRS) at the administrative
level. On December 30, 2005, the court issued its opinion regarding one
of the issues in the case. The court hefd that the company coutd not treat
the A-12 contract as complete for federal income tax purpases in 1991,
the year the contract was terminated, (See Note O for more information
regarding the A-12 contract.) The company Is considering whether to
appeal this decision. With respect to the other issues In the suit, the
company has reached a basis for setilement with the Depariment of
Justice. However, the settlement is pending final approval by the
Department of Justice and the Joint Committee on Taxation of the
Congress. If the setiement is approved, the company expects the refund
to be approximatety $39, including after-tax interest. The company has
recognized no income from this matter.

tn 2007, General Dynamics and the IRS reached agreement on the
examination of the company's income Lax returns for 2003 and 2004. As
a resull of the resolution of the 2003 to 2004 audit, the company
reassessed ils tax contingencies during the second quarter of 2007 and
recognized a non-cash benefit of $18, or $0.04 per share. In 2005,
General Dynamics and the IRS reached agreement on the examination of
the company’s income tax returns for 1999 through 2002, As a result of
the resolution of the 1999 to 2002 audit, the company reassessed ifs tax
contingencies during the first quarter of 2005 and recognized a non-cash
benefit of $66, or $0.16 per share.
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With the completion of these audits, the IRS has examined all of the
company's consofidated federal income tax returns Ihmligh 2004. The
IRS commenced its examination of General Dynamics' 2005 and 2006
income tax retums in October 2007, and the company expects that
examination to conclude during 2009, The company has recorded fiabilities
for tax contingencies for all years that remain open {0 review, The company
does not expect the resolution of tax matters for these years 1o have a
matesial Impact on its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.,

The company adopted Finangial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Unceartainty in Incomg Taxes — an
inferpretation of FASE Statement 109, (FIN 48) on January 1, 2007. AN
48 clarifies the accounting for income tax uncertainties. The company
has developed and implemented a process based on the guidelines of
FIN 48 to ensure that uncertain tax positions are identilied, analyzed and
property reported in the Consolidated Financiat Statements in accordance
with SFAS 109. Based on all known facls and circumnstances and current
tax law, the company believes that the total amount of unrecognized tax
benefits as of Decernber 31, 2007, is not material to its resuhs of operations,
financial condition or cash flows. The company also Delieves that the total
amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 (with the
exception of the refund suit discussed above), it recognized, would not
have a material impact on its effective tax rate. The company further
believes that, other than the potential resolution of the tax litigation
discussed above, there are no tax positions for which it is reasonably
possiblg that the unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or
decrease over the next 12 months producing, individually or in the aggregats,
a material effect on the company's results of operations, financial congition
or cash flows. )

F. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable represent amounts billed and currently due from
customers and consisted of the following:

U.S. govemment $1187 § 877
Non-U.S. govemment 1,163 836
Commercial 524 568
Total accounts recelvable $ 2874 §$ 23

The recelvables from nen-U.S. govemment customers relate primarlly
to long-term production programs for the Spanish govemment. The
scheduled payment terms for some of these receivables extend beyond
the next year. Other than these amounts, the company expects to collect
substantially all of the December 31, 2007, accoun!s receivabie balance
during 2008.




G. CONTRACTS IN PROCESS

Contracts in process represant recoverable costs and, where applicable,
accrued profit refated to long-term coniracts that have been invento-
ried until the customer is billed, and consisted of the following:

H. INVENTORIES
Inventories represent primarily commercial aircraft components and
consisted of the following:

S oo W
Decamber 31 06 ] Work in process $ 774§ 715
Contract costs and estimated profits $11224 8§ 8938 Raw materlals B804 m
Other contraci costs 1,200 1297 Pre-gwned alrcraft 30 44
Other 13 14
12,424 10,235
Less advances and progress payments 8,087 6.247 Totat inventories $1621  $1.484
Total contracts in process $ 4337 $ 1988

Contract costs consist primarily of labor and matertal costs and related
overhead and G&A expenses. Contract costs also include contract recoveries
for matters such as contract changes, negotiated settlements and claims
for unanticipated contract costs, which totaled approximately $20 as of
December 31, 2007, and approximately $350 as of December 31, 2006.
The company has resolved substantially all of its outstanding claims,
including its request for equitable adjustment (REA) related to its T-AKE
combat-logistics ship contratt. The company records revenug associated
with these matters only when recovery can be estimated reliably and
realization is probable. Contract costs as of December 31, 2007, also
included approximately $225 associated with the company’s contracl to
provide Pandur Il wheeled vehicles to the Gzech Republic. The customer
terminated this contract in December 2007 and expressed interest in &
contract for a reduced quantity of vehicles. The company is in discussions
with the Czech govemment about a replacement contract and expects o
recover the year-end contracts-in-process balance.

Other contract costs represent amounts recorded under GAAP that are
not currently allocable to government contracts, such as a portion of the
company's estimated workers' compensation, other insurance-related
assessments, pension and other post-retirement benefits, and environ-
mental expenses. These costs will become allocabile to contracts gener-
ally when they are pald. The company expecls to recover these casts
through ongoing business, including existing backfog and probable
foliow-on contracts. This business base includes numerous contracts for
which the company is the sole source or is one of two suppliers on long-
term U.S. defense programs. However, if the backdag in the future does
not support the continued deferral of these casts, the profitability of the
company's remaining contracts could be adversely affected. The
decrease in other contract costs since year-end 2006 relates primarily to
a reduction in deferred workers’ compensation and pension costs.
The company expects to bill substantlally all of its year-end 2007
contracts-in-process balance, with the exception of these other contract
costs, during 2008.

|. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
The major classes of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

o T

Decgmber J1

Machinery and equipment § 2640 § 2473
Buildings and improvements 1,576 1,385
Land and improvements 221 169
Construction in process 292 161
Total property, ptant and equipment” 4729 4,188
Less accumutated depreciation 2,257 2,020
Property, plant and equipment, nel $ 2472 § 2,168

*The U.S. povernment provides certzin ol the company’s plant faciities; the company does not
inchude these faciblies above.

J. DEBT
Debt consisted of the following:
Decombor 31 m“_'zbbév 1
Fixed-rate notes Interest Rate
Notes due May 2008 3.000% $ 500 $ 499
Notes dve August 2010 4.500% 699 699
Notes due May 2013 4.250% 9499 a9
Notes due August 2015 5.375% 400 400
Senior notes due 2008 6.320% 150 150
Term debt due 2008 7.500% 20 25
Qthar Various 23 9
Total debt 279 2,781
Less cusrent portion 673 7
Long-term debt $ 2118 $ 2774

As of December 31, 2007, General Dynamics had outstangding $2.6
billion aggregate principal amount of fixed-rate notes. The sale of the
fised-rate notes was registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended {the Securities Act). The notes are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by several of the company's 100-percent-owned subsidlaries.
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The company has the option to redeem the noles prior to thelr maturity
in whola or in part at 100 percent of the principal plus any accrued but
unpaid interest and any applicable make-whole amounts, See Note S for
condensed consolidating financial statements.

The senior notes are privately placed U.S. dollar-denominated notes
issued by one of the company's Canadian subsidiaries. Interest is payable
semiannually at an annual rate of 6.32 percent until maturity In
September 2008. The subsidiary has a currency swap that fixes the interest
payments and principal at maturity of these notes. As of December 31,
2007, the fair value of this curency swap was a $72 liabifity, which offset
the efiect of changes in the currency exchange rate on the related debt.
The senior notes are backed by a parent company guarantee.

The company assumed the term debt in connection with the acquisition
of Primex Technologles, Inc., in 2001. The company made a fina) annual
sinking fund payment of $5 in December 2007 Interest is payable in
June and December at a rate of 7.5 percent annually unit maturity in
December 2008,

As of December 31, 2007, other debt consisted primarily of a capital
lease arrangement and $7 of non-interest-bearing debt assumed in
connection with the company's acquisition of SNC TEC in January 2007.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had no commercial
paper outstanding but maintains the ability to access the markel. The
company has approximately $2 billion in bank credt facllities that provide
backup tiquidity to its commercial paper program. These credit facilities
consist of a $1 billion muhiysar facility expiring In July 2009 and a $375
muttiyear facility expiring in December 2011, The company's commercial
paper issuances and the bank credit faciities are guaranteed by several
of the company's 100-percent-owned subsidiaries. Additionally, a number
of the company's intemational subsidlaries have available local bank credit
facilities of approximately $875.

The aggregate amounts of scheduled maturities of the company’s
debt for the next five years are as follows;

Yexe Ended Oecember 31

K. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other current liabilities consisted of the following:

Doacember 31 2008

Retirement benefits $ 585 & 739
Salaries and wages 571 457
Workers' compensation 534 546
Other” 1,043 1170
Total other current liabilities $ 27133 §$ 2912

* Consists primarily of incoma taxes payable, dhvicends payablo, environmental remediation
resarves, watranty psenves, lablities of discontinued operations ant insurance-felated c0S.
The company's retirement plan fiabilities decreased from 2006 to
2007 due primanly to a $100 discretionary contribution to the company's
primary govemment pension plan in December 2007, (See Note @ for
further discussion of the company's retirement plans.}

L. OTHER LIABILITIES
(ther liabilities consisted of the following:

e T )
Deferred U.S. federal income taxes $ 970 § 854
Customer deposils on commercial contracts 707 308
Retirement bensafits 499 386
Other* 507 403
Total other liabilities $ 2683 851951

2008 $ 673
2009 K|
200 703
201 3
w12 -
Thereafter 1,400
Tota! debt § 27N

The company's financing arrangements contain a number of customary
covenants and restrictions. The company was in compliance with all
material covenants as of December 31, 2007.
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* Cansists primarty of lizbilities for wamanty reserves and workers' compensation,

Customer depesits increased substantialy in 2007 as a result of
significant orders for Guifsiream aircraft in the Aerospace group.

M. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Stock Split. On March 1, 2006, the company's board of directors
authorized a two-for-ong slock spiit that was effected in the form of a
100 percent stock dividend distribuled on March 24, 2006, to share-
holders of record at the close of business on March 13, 2006.

The total number of authorized comman stock shares and par value
were unchanged by this action. The stock split required retroactive
restatement of all historica! share and per share data in the first quarter
of 2006. Shareholders’ equity was restated o give retroactive recogni-
tion of the stock split for all pericds presented by reclassifying from
surplus to common stock the par value of the additional shares resulting
from the split.

Authorized Stoek. General Dynamics' authorized capital stock consists
of 500 million shares of $1 per share par value commpn stock and
50 million shares of $1 per share par value prefemed stock. The preferred




stock is issuabla in series, with the rights, preferences and limitations of
gach series to be determined by the board of directors.

Shares Issued and Qutstanding. The company had 481,880,634
thares of common stock issued as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.
The company had 403,979,572 shares of common stock outstanding
us of December 31, 2007, and 405,792,438 shares of common stock
cutstanding as of December 31, 2006, No shares of the company’s
prefesred stock were outstanding as of either date. The only changes in
ihe company's shares outstanding during 2007 resulted from shares
issued under its equity compensation plans (see Note P for further
tiscussion) and share repurchases in the open market. In 2007, the
company repurchased 6.5 million shares at an average price of approxi-
rnately $78 per share,

Dividends per Share. Dividends declared per share were $1.16 in
2007, $0.92 in 2006 and $0.80 in 2005.

Accumulated Dther Comprehensive Income. Accumulated other
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2007, consisted primarily of
5478 of {oreign cumency franslation adjustment, net of ($163) of
defermed taxes, and $168 of pension and post-retirement Jiabliity as
required by SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Fians, nel of (389} of deferred taxes
(5ee Note Q for further discussion).

{l. FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

(ieneral Dynarnics Is subject to foreign curency exchange rate risk stem-
riing from receipts from customers, payments to suppliers, outstanding
debt and inter-company transactions denrominated in foreign currencies.

As a matter of policy, the company does not engage In interest rate or
cumency specuiation, The company periodically enters into derivative
financlal instruments, principally forgign currency forward purchase and
sale contracts, typically with terms of less than three years. These instru-
rients are deslgned o hedge the company's exposure to changes in
exchange rates related 1o known and anticipated inter-company and
tyird-party sale and purchase commitments made in non-functional
currencies. The company also has a currency swap designated as a cash
f ow hedge that fixes ils foreign currency variability on the principal and
interest components of U.S. dallar-denominated debt held by one of the
company’s Canadian subsidiaries, as discussed in Note J. There were no
rnaterial derivative financial instruments designated as fair value or net
investment hedges in 2006 and 2007,

The company recognizes all derivative financial instruments on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at falr value. Changes in fair value of derivative
fnancial instruments are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of
Eamings or in accumulaled other comprehensive income within share-
tolders' equity on the Consolidated ‘Balance Sheet, dependlng on

whether the derivative Is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting,
the type of hedge transaction represented ang the effectiveness of the
hedge.

For derivative financial instruments not designated as cash flow
hedges, the company marks these contracts to market value each period
and records the gain of loss in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.
The gains and losses on these instruments generally offset losses and
gains on the assets, liabilitles and other transactions being hedged.

Galns and losses refated to Jorward exchange contracts that qualify as
cash flow hedges and the currency swap discussed above are deferred
in accumulated other comprehensive Income on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet until the underlying transaction occurs. These gains and
losses will be reclassified to earnings upon completion of the undertying
transaction being hedged.

As of December 31, 2007, the fair valua of the currency swap was a
$72 liability, which offset the effect of changes in the cusrency exchange
rate on the related debt. The fair value of outstanding forward exchange
contracts was not matenial. Net gains and losses recognized in earnings
in 2007 were not material. The company expects the amount of gains
ang losses in accumulated other comprehensive Income that will be
reciassified 1o eamings in 2008 will not be material.

0. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

Termination of A-12 Program. In January 1991, the U.S. Navy termi-
nated the company's A-12 aircraft contract for default. The A-12 contract
was a flxed-price incentive contract for the full-scale development and
fnitial production of the Mavy’s camier-based Advanced Tactical Alrcrait.
Both the company and McDanngdl Douglas (the contraclors) were parties
10 the contract with the Nawy. (McDonne!l Douglas Is now owned by The
Boelng Company.) Both contracters had full responsibility to the Navy for
performance under the contract, and both are jointly and severally liable
for potentia! liabilities arising from the termination. As a consequence of
the termination for defauft, the Navy demanded the contractors repay
$1.4 biltion in unliquidated progress payments. The Navy agreed to defer
collectlon of that amount pending a decision by the U.S. Court of Federal
Claims (the trial court} on the conlractors' challenge to the termination for
default, or a negotlated settlement.

On December 19, 1995, the trial court issued an order converting the
termination for default to a termination for convenience. On March 31,
1998, a final judgment was entered in favor of the contractors for
$1.2 billien plus interest.

On.July 1, 1998, the U.S. Gourt of Appeals for the Federal Circuit {the
appeals court) remanded the case to the trial court for determination of
whether the government’s default termination was justified. On August
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31, 2001, following the trial an remand, the trial court uphetd the default
termination of the A-12 coatract. In its opinlon, the trial court rejected all
ol the govemnment's arguments to sustain the default termination except
for the govemment’s schedule arguments, as to which the trial court held
tha! the schedule the govemment unilaterally imposed was reasonable
and enforceable, and that the government had not waived that schedule.
On the sole ground that the contractors were not going to deliver the first
aircraft on the date provided in the unilateral schedule, the trial court
upheld the defauit termination and entered judgmant for the govemment.

On Jaruary 9, 2003, the company's appeal was argued before a
three-judge panel of the appeals court. On March 17, 2003, the appeals
court vacated the trial court's judgment and remanded the case lo the
trial court for further proceedings. The appeals court found that the trial
court had misapplied the controlling tegal standard In concluding the
termination for default could be sustained solely on the basis of the
contractors' inability to complete the first flight of the first test aircraft by
December 1991. Rather, the appeals court held that to uphoid a termi-
nation for default, the tria court would have to determine that there was
no reasonable likelhood that the contractors could perform the entire
contract effort within the time remaining for performance.

On May 3, 2007, the trial court issued a decision uphokding the govem-
ment's defautt termination. The company befieves that the trial court failed
1o lollow the appeals court ruling and continues to believe that the evidence
supports a determination that the govemment's default termination was not
Justified. The case is currently on appeal with the appeals court.

If, contrary to the company’s expectations, the default termination is
ultimately sustained, the contractors could collectively be required to
repay the govemment as much as $1.4 billion for progress payments
received for the A-12 contract, plus Interest, which was approximately
$1.4 billion at December 31, 2007. This would result in a liability for the
company of approximately $1.4 billlon pretax. The company’s after-tax
charge would be approximately $750, or $1.84 per share, to bs recorded
in discontinued operations. The company’s after-tax cash cost would be
approximately $670. The company believes it has sufficient resources lo
satisfy its obligation if required.

Other. Various claims and other legal proceedings incidental to the
normal course of business are pending or threatened against the company,
While it cannot predict the outcome of thesa matters, the company
belleves any potential liabilities in these proceedings, individualy or in the
aggregate, will net have 2 material impact on ils results of operations,
financial condition or cash flows.

Environmental
General Dynamics is sublect to and affected by a variety of lederal, state,

local and foreign environmental faws and regulations, The company is
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directly or indirectly involved In environmental investigations or remediation
at some of Its current and former facilities, and at third-party sites not
owned by the company bul where il has been designated a Potentially
Responsibie Party (PRP) by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or
a state environmental agency, Based on historicaf experience, the company
expects that a significant percertage of the total remediation and comphiance
costs associated with these facilities will continue to be allowable contract
costs and, therefore, reimbursed by the U.S. government.

As required, tha company provides financial assurance for cerlain
sites underoing or subject to investigation or remegiation. Where applicabe,
the company seeks insurance recovery for costs related to environmental
liability. The company does not record insurance rec;:oveﬁes befice
collection is considered probable. Based on all known facts and analyses,
as well s current U.S. govemment policies relating to dllowable costs,
the company does not believe that its liability at any individua! site, or in
the aggregate, arising from such environmental conditions, will be materia)
to its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. The company
also does not believe thal the range of reasonably possible additional loss
beyond what has been recorded would be material to its results of operations,
finanglal condition or cash flows.

Minimum Lease Payments

Total rental expense under operating leases was $216 In 2007, $198in
2006 and $178 in 2005. Operating leases are primarlly for facilities and
equipment. Future minimum lease payments due during the next five
years are as follows:

2008 $ 161

2009 132

2010 105

2011 68 ,
2012 51

2013 and theraatter 257

Total minimum lease payments $ 714

Other

In the ordinary course of business, General Dynamics has entered into
letiers of cradit and other similar arrangements with financial institutions
and insurance carlers totaling approximately $1.4 billion & December
31, 2007. The company, from time 10 time in the ordinary course of business,
guarantees the payment or performance obligations of its subsidiaries
arising under certain contracts, The company is aware of no event aof
default that would require it to satisfy these guarantees.

As a government contractor, the company Is subject to U.S. govern-
ment audits and investigations retating to its operations, incfuding claims




for fines, penalties, and compensatory and treble damages. Based on curently
available information, the company believes the outcome of such ongoing
government disputes and investigations will not have a material impact on
its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

As of December 31, 2007, in connection with oders for three Gulfsiream
aircraft in firm contract backlog, the company had offered customers
trade-in options, which may or may not be exercised by the customers.
it these options are exercised, the company will accept trade-in aircraft
(Gulfstream and competitor aircraft) at a predetermined minimum trade-
in price as partial consideration in the new aircraft transactions. Any
excess of the trade-in price above the fair markel value is treated as a
reduction of revenue upon recording of the new aircraft sales transaction.
These option commitments last through 2010 and totaled $70 as of
December 31, 2007, down trom $302 at December 31, 2006. Beyond
these commitments, additional aircraft trade-ins are likely to be accepted
in connection with future orders for new aircraft.

Approximately ane-fourth of the company's employees are covered by
42 collective bargaining agreements with varlous {abor unlons. A number
of these agreements expire within any given year, Historically, the company
has been successful at renegotiating successer agreements without any
material disruption of operating activities. The company expects to complete
the renegotiation of 14 coilective bargaining agreements in 2008, covering
approximately 10,000 employess. The company does not @xpect that the
renegotiations wil, either incividually or in the aggregate, have a matesial
impact on s results of cperations, financial condition or cash flows.

The company provides product warranties (o s customers associated
with certain product sales, particulary business-jet aircraft. The company
recorts estimated warranty costs in the period in which the refated products
are delivered. The warranty liability recorded al each balance sheet date
s based on the: estimated number of months of wamanty coverage remaining
for products delivered and the average historical monthly warranty
payments, and is included In other current lfabilitles and other liabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The changes in the carrying amount of waranty liabilities for each of
the past three years were as follows:

oo Dcemoe B oo s
Beginning batance $ 29 $ 202 $ 199
Warrznty expense 77 70 3
Payments {64) {59) 42)
Ad|ustments (3} 5 6 12
Ending balance (b} $ 237 $ 219 $ 202

'5) inciudes warranty Eablitics assumed kn connection with acquisitions and toreign exchange
translation ajustments.

1) Warranty obligations incurrex In connection with long-tem procuction contracts &
accountsd for within tha contract estmates a1 completion (EACS) and 2re exciuded from
the above amounts.

P. EQUITY GOMPENSATION PLANS

Equity Compensalicn Overvigw

The company has various equity compensation plans for employees, as
well as for non-employee members of the board of directors, Including:

* the General Dynamics Corporation Equity Compensation Plan (Equity
Compensation Plan),

» the General Dynamics United Kingdom Share Save Plan (UK. Plan},

s {he General Dynamics Corporation 1987 Incentive Compensation
Pian (Incentive Compensation Plan),

* the General Dynamics Corporation Non-employee Directors' 1999
Stock Plan {Directors' Stock Plan} and

= varlous equity compensation plans assumed with the acquisition ef
Gulfstream Aerospace Corporation in 1999 (Guifstream Pians).

The purpose of the Equity Compensation Ptan Is to provide the compay
with an effective means of attracting, retaining and motivating officers,
key employees and non-employes directors, and to provide them with
Incentives to enhance the growth and profitability of the company. Under
the Equity Compensation Plan, awards may be granted to officers,
employees or non-employee directors in common Stack, options Ip purchase
common stock, restricted shares of common stock, participation units or
any combination of these.

Stock options may be granted aither as incentive stock options, intended
to qualify for capital gain treatment under Section 422 of the Intemal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended {the Code), or as opilons not qualified
under the Code. All options granted under the Equity Compensation Plan
are issued with an exercise price at the fair markel value of the common
stock on the date of grant. Awards of stock options vest over two years, with
50 percent of the options vesting in one year and the remaining 50 percent
vesting the following vear. Stock options awarded under the Equity
Compensation Plan explre five years after the grant date. The company
grants stock options to participants in its equity compensation plans on the
first Wednesday of March based on the average of the high and low stock
prices on that day as listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Grants of restricted stock are awards of shares of common stock that
are released approximately four years after the grant date. During that
restriction perfod, recipients may not sell, transfer, pledge, assign or
otherwise convey their restricted shares 10 another party. However,
during the restriction period, the recipfent is entitied to vote the restricled
shares and to retain cash dividends paid on those shares.

Participation units are obligations of the company that have a value
derived trom or refated to the value of the company’s commen stock.
These include stock appreciation rights, phantom stock units, and
restricted stock units and are payable in cash and/or common stock.
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The Equity Compensation Plan replaced, on a prespective basis, the
Incentive Compensation Plan and the Directors’ Stock Plan (ihe prior
plans) effective May 5, 2004. No new grant of awards will be made
under the prior plans. Any awards previously granted under the prior
plans will remain outstanding and will, among other things, continug to
vest and become exercisable in accordance with their original terms
and conditions.

Under the UK. Plan, company employees located in the United
Kingdom may invest designated amounts in a savings account to be used
to purchase a specified number of shares of commen stock, based on
option grants that the employee may recelve, at an exercise price of not
less than 80 percent of the fair market value of the common stock. The
options may be exercised three, five or seven years after the dale of
grant, depending on the terms of the specific award.

Options granted under the Gulfstream Plans prior to the company's
acquisition of Gulfstream were subject to different vesting periods based
on the terms of the plans. At the tims of the acquisition, substantially
all of the outstanding Guifstream options became fully vested options 1o
purchase common stock of the company. No additional awards or grants
may be made under the Guifstream Pians.

The company issuss common stock under 15 eguity compensation
plans from (reasury stock. At December 31, 2007, in additon to the
shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options,
approximately 20 million shares have been authorized for options and
restricted stock that may be granted in the future.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

On January 1, 2006, the company adopted SFAS 123(R), Sharg-8ased
Payment. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock optiens, to be recognized as
compensation expsnse in the financial stalements based on their falr
value at the grant date. The company adopted SFAS 123R in the first
quarter of 2006 using the "modified prospective transition method.”
Under this transition method, the company must recognize stock-based
compensation expense for all share-based payments granted after
January 1, 2006, and for the portion of any awards granted prior to
January 1, 2006, that had not vested as of that data. Accordingly, no prior
periods have been restated to reflect stock optlon expense.

The company has also elected to adopt the altemative method of
calculating the historical pool of 1ax benefls as permitted by FASB Staff
Position No. SFAS 123R-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for
the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards. SFAS 123R requires the
excess tax benefits the company recelves from stock option exercises to
be dassified as cash flows from financing activities on the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows, Pror lo the adoption of SFAS 123R, the
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company classified these excess tax benefits as cash flows from operating
activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The excess fax
beneit resulting from stock option exercises recorded was $67 in 2007,
$47 In 2006 and $2 in 2005.

The adoption of SFAS 123R did not impact the company's determination
of compensation expense for restricted stock.

Stock-based compensation expense is included in G&A expenses for
all periods presented. The following fable detalls the compenents of
stock-based compensation expense recognized in net eamings in each
of the past three years:

Ysat Endod Dscember 31 m- 006 Ta0s ]
Stock options $ 42 $ R 5 -
Restricted stock 14 8 25
Total steck-based compensation

expense, net of tax $ 56 $ 40 $ 25
Stock Options

The company recognizes compensation expense related to slock options
on a straight-ting basis over the vesting period of the awards, which is
generally two years. The company estimates the fair value of options on
the date of grant using the Black-Schates oplion pricing mode! with the
following assumptions:

Your Ended Decembes 21

o

Expected volalllity 155-21.7% 16.6-249% 25.2-26.3%
Waighted average expected

volatility 18.9% 24.0% 25.9%
Expected term (in months) 4B-54 48-58 45-51
Risk-free intarest rate 44-47%  4.4-50% 3.6-3.9%
Expected dividend yie'd 1.5% 1.5% 1.5%

The company estimates expected volatiity wsing the historical volatility
of its common stock over a period equal 1o the expected term of the
option. The company estimates the expected term using historica! option
exercise data to determine the expected employee exercise behavior.
After consideration of the guidance provided by SFAS 123R and the
Sacurities and Exchange Commission's (SEC) Staff Accounting Bullgtin
(SAB) No. 107 and upan review of the historical option exercise data,
the company Identified two employee populations that exhibit different
exercise behaviors. Therefore, beginning in the first quarter of 2006, the
company estimated different expected terms and determined a separate
fair value for options granted for each of the two employae populations.
The risk-free Interest rate is the vield on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the option at
the grant date.




The adoption of SFAS 123R resufted in a reduction of operating eamings and net eamings of $64 and $42, respectively, in 2007. This expense
reduced the company’s 2007 eamings per share by $0.10. Compensation expense for stock options is reported as a Corporate expense for segment
reporting purposes (see Note R). As of December 31, 2007, the company had $57 of unrecognized compensalion cost related to stock options, which

is expected to he recognized over a weighted average period of 1.1 years.

A summary of option activity during 2007 follows:

Weightad Average Weigniod Averdge Remaining  Aggregata Intrinsic

Snaces linger Option Exercisa Price Contractuat Term fnyears)  Vatue {n milions)
Quistanding at December 31, 2006 16,067,983 $ 4073
Granted 5,251,154 76.29
Exercised (5,145,516) 4161
Forfeited/cancelled (333,638) 66.11
Qutstanding at December 31, 2007 15,839,083 $ 60.83 2.9 $ 446
Vested and expected to vest al December 31, 2007 15,520,545 $ 6062 28 $ 44
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 8,079,465 $ 50.94 2.0 $ 307

The weighted average fair value per option granted was $15.18 in
2007, $14.46 in 2006 and $11.63 in 2005. In the table above, Intrinsic
value Is calcutated as the dilference between the market price of the
company's stock on the last trading day of the year and the exercise price
of the options. For options exercised, intrinsic value is calculated as the
differance between the market price on the date of exercise and the
exercise price. The total intrinslc value of options exercised was $218 in
2007, $160 in 2006 and $87 in 2005. The company received cash from
the exercise of stock options of $207 in 2007, $253 in 2006 and $148
in 2005.

Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units
The company determines the falr vatue of restricted stock and restricted
stock units as the average of the high and low markat prices of the
company’s stock on the date of grant. The company generally recognizes
compensation expense related 1o restricted stock and restricted stock
units on a straight-line basis over the period during which the restriction
lapses, which is generally {our years.

tn 2007, the company recognized $22 of compensation expense
related to restricted stock and restricted stock units batore income taxes,
or $14 net of income taxes. As of December 31, 2007, the company had
$44 ol unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock and
restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted
averape period of 2.4 years.

A summary of restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity during
2007 follows:

Shares/ Weightad Averag
Share-Equivalent Units  Grent-Date Fair Velue
Nomvested at December 31, 2006 2.587.657 $ 5493
Granted 427,635 76.27
Vested {1,015,354) 51,35
Forteited (45,265) 61.79
Nonvested at December 31, 2007 1,954,873 $ 61.30

The total fair value of shares vested was $76 in 2007, $21 in 2006
and $26 in 2005.
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2005 Reported and Pro Forma Results

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the company accounted for Its equity
compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles
of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Empioyees, and related Interpretations. The company calculated
compensation expense for stock options as the excess, if any, of the
quoted market price of the company’s stock al the grant date over the
exercise price. |f compensation expense for stock aptions had been
determined based on the falr value at the grant dates for awards under
the company's equity compensation plans, Genaral Dynamics' 2005 net
sarrings and net eamnings per share would have been reduced to the
pro forma amounts indicated as follows:

Yeur Enged Decermber 31 | 2005
Net earnings, as reported $1.461
Add: Stock-based compensation expense includied in reported
net eamings, net of tax* 25
Deduct: Total fair valug-based compensation expense, net of tax &0
Pro forma $1,426
Net eamings per share -
Basic: As reported $ 364
Pro torma $ 355
Oiuted:  As reported $ 361
Pro forma $ 352

* Represents restricted Stock grants undar tha company's Equity Compensation Pian and
Incentive Compensation Plan,

Q. RETIREMENT PLANS
The company provides defined-benefit pension and other post-retirement
benefits, as well as defined-contribution benefits, to eligible employees.

Retirement Plan Summary Information

Pension Benefits. As of December 31, 2007, the company had six
noncontributory and five contributory trusteed, qualified defined-benefit
pension plans covering substantially all of its govemment business
employees, and two noncontributory plans covering substantially afl of its
commercial business employees. The primary factors affecting the benefits
eamed by pariicipants in the company's pension plans are employees’
years of service and compensation levels.

The company also sponsors several unfunded and one funded non-
qualified supplemental execulive plans, which provide participants with
additional benefils, including excess benefits over limits imposed on
qualified plans by federal tax law.

Effective January 1, 2007, the company made several modifications
1o the benefit structures covering salaried employees in its primary
government pension plan, including modifying the benefit accrual rate on
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service rendered after December 31, 2006, eliminating certain eary-
retirement features and closing the plan to new salaried participants. As
a resuft of these modifications, the plan's projected benefil obfigation as
of Becember 31, 2006, was reduced by approximately $500, and the net
periodic cost of the plan has been reduced beginning in 2007.

Other Post-retirement Benefits, General Dynamics maintaing
plans that provide post-retirernent health care coverage for many of its
current and former employees and post-retirement [ife insurance benefits
for certain retirees. These benefits vary by employment status, age,
service and salary level at retirement. The coverage provided and the
extent to which the retlrees share in the cost of the program vary
throughout the company. The plans provide health and fife insurance
bensfits only to those employees who retire directly from the service of
the company and not to those who terminale service/seniority prior to
eligibtiity for retirement. '

Defined-contribution Benefits. In addition to the defined-benefil
plans, the company provides eligible employees the opportunity to
participate in defined-contribution savings plans (commonly known as
401{x) plans), which permil contributions on both a before-tax and after-
tax basis. Generally, salaried employees and cestain hourly employees
are eligible to participate in the plans. Under most plans, the emplayes
may contributa to various investment aliematives, including investment in
the company’s common stock. In certain plans, the company maiches a
portion of the empioyees’ contributions. The company's contributions o
these defined-contribution plans totaled $182 in 2007, $172 in 2006
and $137 in 2005, The defined-contribution plans held approximately 34
and 35 million shares of the company's common stock at December 31,
2007 and 2008, respectively, representing approximately 8 and 9 percent
of the company's outstanding shares at each date.

Adoption of SFAS 158

On December 31, 2006, the company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Bensfit Pansion and Other Postretirement Fians.
SFAS 158 amended SFAS 87, Employers' Accounting for Penstons, SFAS
106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits, and SFAS
132(R), Employers' Disclosures About Pension and Other Postretirernent
Bengfils. SFAS 158 requires companies 1o recognize an asset or liability
on the balance sheet for the full funded status of defined-benefit
retirement plans. The ditference between the asset or liahility recognized
under SFAS 87 or SFAS 106 and the full funded status of thess plans s
recorderd directly 1o accumutated other comprehensive income (AOCH) in
shareholders’ equity on the Consolicated Balance Sheet, SFAS 158
does not change the measurement or reporting of perodic pension or
post-retirement benefit cost.




Defined-benefit Retirement Pian Summary Financial information
The following is a reconciliation of the benefit obligations and plan/trust assets, and the resulting funded status, of the company’s defined-benefit
retirement plans:

Pension Benefits Other Post-retigment Bangfits

Year Ended Oecember 3t .

Changa in Benefit Ohligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ (7,195 $ (7,463 $ (1134 $ (1197
Service cost {208) {266) {16) (18
Imerest cost 1 {424} (64 67
Amendments (6) 487 6 v}
Actuaria] gain 436 244 55 69
Settlement/curiailment/other {50) h43) {11) K}
Benefits pald art 360 BS B4
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 7.069) $ {7.195) $ (1,079 § (1,134
Change in Plan/Trust Assets

Fair value of assets at beginning of year $ 7154 $ 6815 3 3% $ 315
Actual return on plan assets 499 651 64 43
Employer contributions 122 14 21 22
Settlement/cuniailment/other 40 22 - -
Benefits paid {363) {348) (44) (#4)
Fair value of assats at end of year $ 7452 $ 7154 $ 47 $ 396
Funded status at end of year $ 383 5 {4 $ (642 $ {73

Amaunts recognized in the Consolidated Batance Sheel consisted of the foliowing:

Pension Berefits Other Post-retirement Benefits
Oscember 21 T
Noncurrent assets $ 825 § 426 8 - 58 -
Current lighitles {321 (414) (264) (329)
Noncurrent liabilities (129 ©n 378) (319
Discontinued operations - 14 - (94
Net asset/(liability) recognized $ 383 $ ) $ 642) $ (738

Amounts recognized in ADCI consisted of the following:

December 31

Net actuarial loss $ 24 $ 622 $ 21 § 14

Prior service credit 544) (563) n 3
Remaining transition obligation - - 2 3

Total amount recognized in ACCI (273) 59 16 4

Net retirement plan asset/{liability) $ 1 $ 18 § (626) $ (597)

Genera! Dynamics 2007 Annyal Report 55




The following represent amounts included in AOCI on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2007, that the company expects {0
recognize in eamings in 2008:

future benefits attibuted to employes services rendered (o date, excluding
assumptions about {uture compensation levels. The ABO for all defined-
benefit pension pans was $6.7 billion and $6.9 billion at December 31,

Otter Pess-rerement 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Perion Benelis Benefits
As of December 31, 2007 and 2005, samg of the company’s pension
Prior service (credi) cost $ un $ 1 plans had an ABQ that excesded the plans' assets. Summary information
Net actuarial loss 4 1 for those plans fofiows:
Pension Benefits
A pension plan's funded status Is the difierence between the plan’s — ———— —
Qecamber 31 ‘:l:i- 2006 .
assets and fts "projected benefit cbfigation™ (PBO). The PBO is the present
value of future benefits attributed to employee services rendered to date, :lme:’ ;”;:;:?"‘izm $ gg‘:: $ gz;;
A . mula it obligation
including assumptions ab(?ut ftfture‘a compensation levels. A pension Fal value of pian 138 120
plan's “accumulated benefil obligation® (ABO) is the presant value of
Net periodic pension and other post-retirement benefit costs consisted of the following:
Pension Benefits Other Post-reiroment Benefis
Year Enceg Decemoar 31 2007 woe  oos  ECIN o s
Service cost $ 208 $ 266 $ 236 $ 16 $ 18 § 18
Interest cost 417 424 399 64 67 68
Expected retum on plan assels (555) {543) (539) (26) {26} {26}
Regognized net actuarial oss 10 30 5 6 9 10
Amortization of prior service cost {42 {1} @ 1 1 -
Amdortization of unrecognized transition obligation - - - 1 1 1
Nat periodic cost $ 38 $ 166 L I $ 62 § 70 $ 69
Relirement Plan Assumplions

The company uses a December 31 measurement date for its plans, The company calculates the plan assets and liabilities for a given year and the net
periodic benefit cost for the subsequent year using assumptions determined as of December 31 of the year in question.
The following tabls summarizes the assumptions used to determine the company’s benefit obligations and net periodic benefit costs.

Pension Benefits Qther Post-tetirement Bangtits
Assumpiions at Decembes 31 w07 JEETY “2505““ T 006 .

Welghted average used to determine benefit obligations
Discount rate 6.46% 5.94% 5.70% 6.33% 5.89% 5.74%
Varying rales of tncrease In compensation ‘avels based on age 2.50-11.00% 2.50-11.00% 2.50-11,00%

Welphted average used to determine net cost for the
year ended .
Discount rate 5.94% 5.70% 5.95% 5.89% 5.74% 6.00%
Expected weighted average long-term rate of relurn on assets B.11% 8.18% 8.15% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Varying rates of increase in compensation ievels based on age 2.50-11.00% 2.50-11.00% 2.50-11.00%
Assumed heatth care cost trend rate for next year:
Post-65 claim groups 8.25% 8.75% 8.75%
Pre-65 claim groups 8.25% 8.75% 8.75%
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The company determines the Interest rate used to discount projected
benefit tiabilities each year based on yields currently available en high-
quality fixed-income investments with maturities consistent with the pro-
jected benefit payout perlod, At December 31, 2007, the company based
the discount rate on a yield curve developed from a portfolio of high-quality
corporate bonds with aggregate cash flows at least equal to the expected
benefit payments and with simitar timing.

In determining its expected long-term asset retum assumptions, the company
refies on historical long-tem rates of retum by asset dlass, the cument lng-tem
1.8, Treasury bond rate, and its cusment and expected asset allocation strategy.

The company's investment policy endeavors to strike the appropriate
balance among capital preservation, asset growth and current income.
Target allocation percentages vary over time depending on the perceived
risk and return potential of various asset classes and existing market
conditions. The company is cumently invested almost exclusively in U.S.
publicly traded securities but may invest in other asset classes consistent
with its investment policy. Further, the company usss derivative instruments
on a non-leveraged basis 10 reduce anticipated asset volatility, to gain
exposure 10 an assel class or 10 adjust the duration of fixed-income assets.

The plans' weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2007
and 2008, by asset category, were as follows:

December 2007, the company made a $100 discretionary payment to prefund
a portion of future years' funding requirements for the company’s primary
government pension plan. The company expects 1o contribute approxi-
mately $18 1o its pension plans in 2008, The company maintains several
Voluntary Employees' Beneficlary Association (VEBA) trusts tor some of
its post-retirement benefit plans. For non-funded ptans, ¢laims are paid
as received. The company expects to contribute approximatety $17 o its
other post-retirement benefit plans in 2008.

The company expects the following benefils 1o ba paid from its
retirement plans over the next 10 years:

Pansion Other Post-retrement
Benetis Benafits
2008 $ 3% $ <N
2009 410 94
2010 441 96
20m 441 a7
2012 458 a7
2013-2017 2,581 4

Under the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Madernization
Act of 2003, the federal govemment makes subsidy payrments to employers
to offset the cost of prescription drug benefits provided to employess.
During 2007, the company received $4 in subsidy payments. The company

Other Post-retirement et .

Sension Bengfls o anticipates the following subsidy payments over the next 10 years:
Dxcember 31 2007 2006 2007 2006 l 2008 3 4
2009 4
t1.S. common stocks 53% 52% 65% 65% 2010 5
4.S. common stocks 201 5
with risk-mitigating hedges 44% 4% 28% % 2012 5
F xed income 3% 1% % 4% 2013-2017 25

Assumed heatth care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the Government Contract Consicerations

amounts reported for the health care plans. The health care cost trend rates
are assumed to decline gradually to 4.75 percent for post-65 and pre-65
cialm groups in the year 2014 and thereafter through the projected payout
period of the benefits, The effect of a one-percentage-point increase or
decrease in the assumed health care cost frend rate on the net periodic
banefit cost Is $6 and (35), respectively, and the effect on the accumulated
past-retirement benefit obligation is $67 and ($56), respectively.

The company amortizes changes in prior service cost under qualified
plans resulting from plan amendments on a straight-ling basis over the
average remaining service period of eligible employees.

Contributions and Benefit Payments

K Is General Dynamics' palicy to fund its retirement plans In a manner that
ootimizes the tax deductibiity and contract recovery of contributions,
cansidered within the company's framework of capital deployment opportu-
nities. These contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits
attributed to service to date, but also for benefits to be eamed in the future. in

General Dynamics’ contractual arangements with the U.S. government
provide for the recovery of contributions to the company’s pension plans
covering employees working in its government cantracting businesses.
With respect to post-retirement benefit plans, the company’s government
contracts provide for the recovery of contributions to a VEBA and, for
non-funded plans, recovery of claims paid. The cumulative pension and
post-retiremnent benefit cost for some of these plans exceeds the company's
cost currently allocable to contracts. To the extent recovery of the cost
is considered probable based on the company’s backlog, the company
defers the excess in contracts in process ont the Consolidated Balance
Sheet until the cost is paid, charged to contracts and included in net sales.
For other plans, the amount contributed to the plans, charged io contracts
and inctuded in net sales has sxceeded the plans’ cumulative benefit cost.
The company has deferred recognition of these excess eamings to provide
a better matching of revenues and expenses. These deferals have been
classified against the prepaid benefit cost related to these plans. (See Note
G for discussion of the company’s deferred contract costs.)
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R. BUSINESS GROUP INFORMATION
General Dynamics cperates in four primary business groups: Aerospace, Combat Systems, Marine Systems and Information Systems and Technology.
The company organizes and measures 115 business groups in accordance with the nature of products and services offered. These business groups derive
thelr revenves from business aviation; combat vehicles, weapons systems and munitions; shipbuilding design and construction; and intormation
systems, technologies and services, respectively. The company measures each group's profit based on operating earmings. As 2 resul, the company
does not allocate net Interest, other income and expense items, and income taxes to its business groups.

Summary financtal information for ¢ach of the company’s business grovps follows:

Net Sales Oporating Eamings Sakes 1o U.S. Governmenn
Year Ended Docember 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 o6 005 )
Aerospace $ 4828 § 4116 $ 3433 § 810 $ 644 0§ 495 $ 170 $ 187 § 226
Combat Systems 7.797 5,983 5,021 916 677 576 5876 4,590 371719
Maring Systems 4993 4340 4,605 421 375 249 4902 4830 449
Infoemation Systems and Technology 9622 9,024 7,826 1,027 976 865 7,809 5,788‘ 5713
Corporats® - - - 1) {an ) - - -

$27.240 $24063 $20975 $3113 $2625 $2179 $18757 $16404 $14210

Kentifiable Assets Capita) Expondinnes Depreciation and Amortization

Oecember 31 2007 2006 2005 MM 2005 2007 2006 w5 |
Aerospace $ 3006 $ 2755 $ 2655 § 129 $ & $ 29 & 51 § 47 § M
Combat Systems 7,708 6,347 5,509 118 a2 67 134 108 95
Marine Syslems 2,243 2,347 2,202 130 10 64 57 57 59
Information Systems and Technology 9,485 9,323 7,095 94 12 97 174 165 121
Corporate” 329 1,604 2,239 3 4 5 7 7 8

$25733 $22376 $79700 $ 474 0§ 334 0§ 262 § 423 § /4 § I

* Corpoeate operating resuits Includa the company's stock ontion expense and a portion of the operating results ot the company's commercial pension plans. Corporate ideniifiable assets include
cash and equivalents from domestic pperations, assats of discontinued operations and & portion of the net prepaid penslon cost refated o the campany’s commercial penslon plans.

The following table presents the company's nel sales by geographic The company’s net sales from international operations were $3,905

area based on the focation of the company’s customers: in 2007, $3,404 in 2006 and $3,027 in 2003. The fong-lived assets of
operations located outside the United States were 4 percent of the company's
Yo Encad Decembar 31 27 2006 2005 . tolal long-lived assets as of December 31, 2007, 3 percent as of
North America: December 31, 2006, and 4 percent as of December 31, 2005
United States $22489 $20235 $17.602
Canada 665 429 458
Qther 185 96 184
Total North America 22,339 20,760 18,244
Europe:
Spain 819 700 530
United Kingdom 777 1.0 1,076
Other 1,348 573 459 '
Total Europe 2,944 2,274 2065
Asla/Pacific 382 599 380
Africa/Middle East 378 285 132
South America 197 145 154

$27240 £24063 $20975
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S. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
The fixed-rate notes described in Note J are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured, joint and severa! basis by certain 100-percent-owned
subsidiaries of General Dynamics Corporation (the guarantors). The following condensed cansolidating financial statements illustrate the composilion
of the parent, the guarantors on a combined basis (each guarantor logether with its majority-owned subsidiasies) and afl other subsidiaries on a
combined basis as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, for the balance sheet, as well as the staiements of earnings and cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31, 2007.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Guarantors on 8 Other Subsldiaries Consoldating Total
Year Endwd December 31, 2007 Parent Combined Basls  on a Combined Basis Adjstments Consieidated
Net Sales $ - $ 23329 $ 39 $ - $ 27.240
Cost of sales 3 19.273 3214 - 22,484
General and administralive expenses 64 1,353 226 - 1643
Operating Eamings 1) 2,703 41 - 3113
Injerest expense (13 @ {16} - {13m
Inierest income 25 1 3 - )]
GOther, net @ 3 3 - 4
£amings from Cantinulng Operations before Incoms Taxes (147 2,705 489 - 3047
Provision for Income taxes {26} B70 123 - 967
Discontinued operations, net of tax - ] - - (8}
Equity In net eamings of subsldiarles 2193 - - {2,183} -
Net Eamings $ 2072 § 1827 $ 366 $ (193 $ 20m

Gunpmosone  Other SubsiRades Consokdating Toeal
Yeae Engad December 31, 2008 Parent Combined Basis  on @ Combined Basis Adjstments Consolidated
Net Sates 3 - $ 20,656 $ 3407 $ - $ 24,063
Cust of sales vl 17,099 2,840 - 19,937
Ganeral and administrative expenses 48 1,279 173 - 1,501
Operating Eamings (4n 2278 394 - 2,625
tnterest expense (142) {4) i) - {156)
interest Income 24 2 29 - 95
Othey, net (1} 1 3 - 3
Eamings from Centinuing Operations before Inconte Taxes (166) 2277 416 - 2527
Provision for Income taxes (31 745 109 - 817
DOiscontinued operations, net of tax - 146 - - 146
Equity in net eamings of subsidiartes 1,991 - - {1.997) -
Net Eamings $ 1,85 $ 1678 5 MW $ (1,991) $ 1,856

Guaraniors on & Othet Subsidiaries Consolidating Tota)
Year Enged December 31, 2005 Parent Combined Basis  on a Combined Basks Adustments Consolidated
Net Sales $ - $ 17,945 $ 3,030 $ - $ 20,975
Cosi ol sales 6 14,934 2,551 - 17,49
General and adminstrative expenses - 114 164 - 1,305
Operating Eamings ) 1,870 5 - 2,179
Interest expense (129 [L)] {21 - {154}
Interest income 20 1 19 - 36
QOther, net 4 (9] 10 - 8
Eamings from Continuing Operations bafore Incoms Taxes () 1,861 39 - 2,069
Provision for income taxes {85) 600 108 - 621
Discontinued operations, net of tax - 13 - - 13
Equity In net earnings of subsidiaries 1,487 - - {1,480 -
Net Eamings $ 1481 $ 1274 $ 213 $ (1,487) $ 1481

Genesal Dynamics 2007 Annual Repoct

59




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

Garantors on a Other Subsidiaries Consobdating Total

December 31, 2007 Parent Combined Basis  on a Combinad Basis Adjustmenis Consolidatod
ASSETS .
Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents $ 1875 $ ~ $ 1,016 $ - $ 2891
Accounts receivable - 1,648 1,226 - 2,874
Contracts in process 418 2,872 1,047 - 4,337
Invenlories

Work In process - 766 8 - 774

Raw matsrials - 77 7 - 804

Pre-owned aircraht - 30 - - 30

Other - 16 2} - 13
Assats of discontinued operations - 3 - - 3
Other current assats 281 80 2n - 572
Total Current Assets 2,574 6,192 3522 - 12,298
Noncurrent Assets:
Property, plant and equipment 128 3834 767 - 4729
Accumulated depreciation of PP&E {24) (1,882) (351) - 2,257
Intangibte assets and goodwill - 8,793 1,83 - 10,624
Accumnulated amorilzation of intangible assets - (585) {125) - talt
Other assets 548 420 81 - 1,049
Investment In subsidiaries 17,351 - - (17,351) -
Tota) Noncurrent Assets 18,003 10,560 2,203 17,351) 13,435
Total Assets $ 20577 $16772 $ 5735 §{17,351) $ 25,733
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current Liabilitles;
Short-term debt $ 500 $ 22 $ 15 $ - $ 673
Liabiliies of discontbwed opevations - 46 - - a6
Other current liabilities 500 5,149 2,796 - 8,445
Total Cument Liabllitles 1,000 5217 2.947 - 9,164
Noncurrent Liabllitles:
Long-tarm debt 2.098 12 8 - 2118
Other liabilities 407 1,963 33 - ' 2,683
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,505 1,975 n - 4,80
Shareholders' Equity:
Common stock, incluging srphis 1,623 6,100 1,546 {7,646) 1,623
Other shareholders’ equity 15,449 3.480 g1 {9,705) 10,145
Tota! Sharghelders® Equity 17,072 9,580 2,467 {17.351) 11,768
Total L labifities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 20,577 $ 16,772 $ 5735 $(17,351) 323573
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATSNG BALANCE SHEET

Guaramiors ona  Ofther Subsidtaries Consolidating Total
Qecember 31, 2006 Parent Combined Basis  on b Combined Basis Adjustments Consottated
ASSETS
Current Assets:
(ash and equivatents $ 54 H - $ 1.010 $ - § 1604
Accounts recehvable - 1,389 952 - 2,341
Contracts in process 403 2,963 622 - 3,988
Lventories
Work In process - 714 1 - 715
Raw materlals - 678 3 - m
Pre-owned aircraft - 44 - - 44
Other - 12 2 - 14
Assets of discontinued operations - 109 - - 109
{ ther curtenl assets 181 80 Ak - 354
Tia) Curent Assels 1,158 5,089 273 - 9,880
Koncurrent Assets:
Froperty, plant and enquipment 140 3an 517 - 4,188
Accumulated depreciation of PPSE 23 {1,694) (303) - (2.020)
triangiblz assets and goodwill - 8,798 1,495 - 10,293
Accusmuiated amortization of intangible gssets - {476) @2 - (556)
Cther assets 187 382 34 - 603
frvestment in subsidaries 15,492 - - (15,492) -
i-)tal Noncurrent Assels 15,796 10,481 im {15,492} 12,496
Tatal Assets $ 16,954 $ 16470 $ 4444 § (15,492 $ 23716
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Lablitles:
Shori-tem oed $ - $ 6 $ 1 $ - t 7
L abilities of discontinued operations - 228 - - 228
Qther current Babilitles 586 4,691 232 - 7.589
Totat Curent Liabilities 586 4,925 233 - 7,824
;toncurrent Liatilities:
Lng-term debt 2,597 23 154 - 2,774
Cther fiabilities 234 1,548 169 - 1,951
Tixal Noacusrent Liabilities 2831 1,51 kYA - 4,725
Shareholders' Equity:
Common stock, inchyding surphus 1,362 6,075 1,158 {7.233) 1,362
Qther shareholders' equity 12975 3,899 850 {8,259) 8,465
Tiral Shareholders' Equity 13537 9,974 1,808 (15.492) 9.827
Tinal Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 16,954 $ 16,470 $ 4444 $ 115,482 $ 22376
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Guarantors 00 8 Dther Subsidtaries Consoidating Tota)
Year Ended Decembar 31, 2007 Parent Comtined Basis  on a Combines Basls Adjsiments Corsolidated
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ (o $ 2.765 $ 23 s - $ 2925
Cash Flows from Investing Activitisa: s
Purchases of avaitable-for-sale securities {2,728) {70) - - {2,798
Sales/maturities of avallable- for-sale securities 2,558 61 - - 2,619
Captial expenditures &) {414) Ly, - (474)
Businass acquisitions, net of cash acquired - {49 (281) - (330)
Other, net 38 83 - - 131
Net Cash Used by investing Activitles (135) (379 (338) - (852
Cash Flows trom Financing Activities:
Purchases of common Stock {505) - - - {505)
Dividends pakd {445) - - - (445}
Other, net 274 5 {115 - 164
Net Cash Used by Financing Activites 676} 5 {115 - {786)
Cash sweep/Aunding by parent 2,162 (2,331 229 - -
N=1 Increass in Cash and Equivalents 1,281 - 6 - 1,287
Cash and Equivatants at Beginning of Period 594 - 1.010 - 1,604
Cash ang Equivalents at End of Perfod $ 1875 $ - $ 1018 3 - $ 2891

Guarantors on a Other Subskfiares Corsoldating - Totdl
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Parent Comblned Basks  on a Combined Basis Adjustments Conspbatad
Net Cash Proviged by Operaling Activities $ o $1.81 $ 387 H - $ 228
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired {2) {2,340 - - C (2342
Capital expenditures “ {287) 43 - {334)
Discontinued operations - 300 - - 300
Other, net 48 1 1 - 60
et Cash Used by investing Activities 42 {2,316} 42 - {2,316}
Cash Fows from Fnancing Activities:
Repayment of fixed- rate notes (500} - - - (5009
Dividends paid {350} - - - (359)
Proceeds trom optlon exercises 253 - - - 253
Other, net {38) ® m - 67
Net Cash Used by Financing Activilies {644) (5] 1 - {539)
Cash sweep/unding by parent (297) 511 214) - -
Net Decrease in Cash and Equivatents {969 - 242 - {72n
Cash and Equivalents 2t Beginning of Year 1,563 - 768 - 2.3
Gash and Equivalents st End of Year $ M s - $1.010 s - $ 1.604

Guarantors on 2 Othes Subsidiarias Consolgaiing Total
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Parend Combined Basis  on a Combined Basi Mfustments Concolidated
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activitles $ B9 $1.782 $ I3 $ - $ 205
Gash Flows from [nvesting Activities:
Discontinued operations - 299 - - 299
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired - I - - i)
Capital expenditures S (222} 3 - {262)
Other, net - 58 1 - v 59
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (5) {142) {34) - (181}
Cash Fows from Rnancing Activities:
Purchases of comman stock (348) - - - . 349)
Dividends paid ([314) - - - (314)
Proceeds from oplion exercisas 148 - - - 148
Other, net {5) - M - )
Net Cash Used by Financing Activitles 51 - n - (520)
Cash sweep/Tunding by parent 1,753 {1,640} (13 - ) -
Net Increase in Cash and Equivalents 1,140 - 215 - 1,355
Cash and Equivatents at Beginning of Year 423 - 553 - 976
Cash and Equivatents at End of Year $ 1,563 $ - $ 768 $ - $ 23
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Ta the Shareholders of General Dynamics Corporation:

The management of General Dynamics Corporation Is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and all refated financial information
gantained in this report. The financial statements, which Include amounts based on estimates and judgments, have been prepared in accordance with
1.5, generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.

The company maintains a system of intemal accounting controls designed and infended to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded,
that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with management's authorization and that accountabillty for assets is maintained.
Managemen! maintains and monitors an environment that establishes an appropriate leve! of control consciousness. An important element of the

mionitoring process is an infernal audit program that independently assesses the effectiveness of the control environment.

The Augit Committee of the boasd of directors, which is composed of six outside direciors, meets perjodically and, when appropriate, separately with
the independent auditors, management and interna! audit staff to review the activities of each,

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, whose report follows.

cW, &/L/_.,J’i

L. Hugh Redd John W. Schwartz
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Vice President and Controlter
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of General Dynamics Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of General Dynamics Corporation {a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the related Consolldated Statements of Eamings, Shareholders' Equity, and Cash Flows for each of thfe years in the
three-year period ended Oecember 31, 2007. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited financal
statement Schedule Il. These consofidated financial statements and financlal statement schedule are the responsibility of the company's management.
Our respansibllity is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audi@s.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstaternent. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financlal statements. An audit &lso includes éssessing the
accounting principtes used ang significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consoiidated financial statements referred to above present falry, In all materia! respects, the financial position of General Dynamics
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 20086, and the resuits of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the refated financial
statement schadule, when considered In refation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents faidy, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein,

As discussed in Note P to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted Stalement of Hnanci:'il Accounting
Swandards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, As discussed In Note O o the constlidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2006, the company
adopted Statsrent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Empioyers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pians ~
an amendment of FASB No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), General Dynamics
Corporation's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criterfa established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 22, 2008, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s intemal control over financial reporting.

KPMe P

KPMG LLP '

McLean, Virginia
February 22, 2008
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SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

{Unaudited)
R 3 |
40 30 20 {g) 10 40 () 30 20 (o) 10

Net sales $§7515 §$6834 %690 $ 6,300 $ 6514 $ 5,069 $ 5934 § 5546
Operating eamings 8 B 760 581 703 677 649 596
Earnings from continuing operations 578 544 518 440 463 440 420 387
Net eamings {loss) from discontinued

operations 1 2 ) {6 {55) 2 216 (13)
Net eamings 579 546 513 434 408 438 636 74
Eamings per share - Basic {d):

Continuing operations $ 143 % 135 3% 1.28 ¢ 1.08 $ 114 $ 109 $ 104 $ 096

Discontinued operalions - - 0.07) 0.01) {0.13) - 0.54 003

Net eamings 1.43 1.35 1.27 1.07 1.01 1.09 1.58 0.93
Eamings per share — Diluted {d):

Continuing operations $ 142 % 134 §$ 127§ 107 $ 113 $ 1.08 $ 103 $ 095

Discontinued operations - - (0.01) {0.01) 0.13 - 0.53 {0.03)

Net earnings 1.42 1.34 1.26 1.06 1.00 1.08 1.56 0.92
Market price range:

High $9455 $8570 § 824 § 8128 $ 7798 $ 7292 $ 6962 %6595

Low 82.41 70.61 76.00 73.59 69.29 £4.50 6169 56.68
Dhvidends declared $ 029 §$ 029 % 029 § 02 $ 023 $ o3 $ 023 § 023

[Chaarterty data are based on & 13-week period.)

{a) Socand quanter of 2007 includes $18 tax benefit relatad to resokition of 2003-2004 IRS audits {soe Note B},

{b Fourth quarter of 2006 incldes alter-tax igss of $37 in discontinued operations on the anticipated sate of tha company’s ooal méning operation (soe Note C),

10) Second quarter of 2006 includes after-tax gain of $220 in discontinued operations on the sale of tha company's aggregates business (sae Nate ).

{l) The sum of the basic and dilted eamings per share for the: lour quarters of te year may differ from the anual basic and dituted eamings per share dus lo the
required methed ¢f computing the weighted average number of shares in interfm periods.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial OHicer, evaluated
the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securlies Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) as of December 31, 2007. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December
31, 2007, the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

The certifications of the company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been

filed as Exhibits 31,1 and 31.2 to this report. Additionally, in 2007 the company's Chief Executive Officer certified to the New York Stock Exchange
[NYSE) that he was not aware of any violation by the company of the NYSE's corporate governance listing standards.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Shareholders of General Dynamics Corporation;

The management of General Dynamics Comoration is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting, The company’s Intemal contrg! system was designed to pravide reasonable
assurance to the company's management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published finangia) statements.

Becayse of its inherent imiations, intemal conirol over financia! reporting may not prevent or delect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The company’s management evaluated the effectiveness ol the company’s inlernal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making
this evaluation, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COS0} in Interna! Control —
integrate¢ Framework, Based on our evaluation we believe thai, as of December 31, 2007, the company's intemal contral over financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.

KPMG LLP has issued an audil report on the effectiveness of the company's interal controd over financial reporting. The KPMG report immediately
follows this report.

>y o

Nicholas D). Chabraja L. Hugh Redd
Chalrman and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of General Dynamics Corporation:

We have audited General Dynamics Comporation's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in
Intema! Contro! ~ Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0S0). Genera) Dynamics
Corporation’s management is responsible for maintalning effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
ol Intemal control over financial reporting, inchuded in the accompanying Management's Report on Intemal Control over Fnancial Reporting. Our responsibility
5 10 express an opinion on the company's intemal control over financial reporting based on our audit,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective intemal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of intemal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, Qur audit afso included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary In the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonabie basis for our opinion.

A company's intemal control over financlal reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rellability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial stalements for external purposes in 2ccordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's intemal control over
financial reporting includes these policies and procedures that (1) pertain 1o the maintenance of records Ihat, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairy reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that ransactions are recorded as necessary to pesmit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in acoordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acguisition, use, or dispositics of the company's assets that could have a material efiect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstaternents. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk Ihat controls may become inadequate because of changes in condilions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our oplnion, General Dynamics Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal control aver financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Intemal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COS0.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Consolidated Balance
Sheets of General Dynamics Corporation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related Consolidated Statements of Eamings, Shareholders’
Equity, and Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, and our repon dated February 22, 2008, expressed
an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements,

<PMe P

KPMG LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 22, 2008

CHANGES [N INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no significant changes in the company's intemal contro! over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007,
ihat have maerially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's inlernal control over financial reporting.
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{TEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION '

None.

PART Il '

ITEM 10, DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required to be set forth herein, except for the information Included under Executive Gfficers of the Company, is included in the sections
entltied “Election of the Board of Directors of the Company,” “Governange of the Company ~ Code of Ethics,” “Audit Commiltee Report™ and “Other
Informeation - Section 15{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the company's definitive proxy statement for its 2008 annual shareholders

meeting (the Proxy Statement), which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Officers of the Company

A executive officers of the company are slected annually. No executive officer of the company was selected pursuant to any amangement or
understanding between the officer and any other person. The name, age, offices and positions held for the last five years of the company’s executive

officers as of February 22, 2008, were as follows:

Name, Position and Office
John P. Casey - Vice President of the company and President of Electric Boat Corporation since October 2003; Vice President of
Electric Boat Corporation, October 1996 - October 2003

Nicholas D. Chabraja - Chairman of the Board of Directors of the company and Chief Executive Officer since June 1997; Vice
Chairman, December 1996 - May 1997, Executlve Vice President, March 1994 - December 1996

Michaet E. Chandler - Vice President of the company and Presicent of General Dynamics Information Technotogy since October 2001

Gerard J. DeMuro - Executive Vice President and Group Executive, Information Systems and Technology, since October 2003; Vice
President of the company, February 2000 - October 2003; President of General Dynamics C4 Systems, August 2001 - October 2003

Charles M. Hall - Executive Vice Prasident and Group Executive, Combat Systems, since July 2005; Vice President of the company and
President of Genera} Dynamics Land Systems, September 1999 - July 2005

David K. Heebner - Senior Yice Presigent of the company since May 2002; President of General Dynamics Land Systems since July
2005; Senior Vice President, Planning and Development, May 2002 - July 2005; Vica President, Strategic Planning, January 2000 -
May 2002

Joseph . Lombardo - Executive Vice President, Group Executive, Aerospace, and President of Gulfstream Aerospace Corporation since
Agril 2007; Vice President of the company and Chief Operating Officer of Gulfsiream Aerospace Corporation, May 2002 - April 2007

Christopher Marzilli - Vice President of the company and President of General Dynamics C4 Systems since January 2006; Senior Vice
President and Deputy General Manager of General Dynamics C4 Systems, Novernber 2003 - January 2006; Vice President and
General Manager, General Dynamics Communications Systems, September 1939 - November 2003

Phebe N. Novakovic - Senior Vice President, Planning and Development, since July 2005; Vice President, Strategic Planning, October
2002 - July 2005 \
Walter M. Oliver - Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Administration, since March 2002; Vice President, Human Resources
ang Administration, January 2001- March 2002

L. Hugh Redd - Senlor Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June 2006; Vice President and Contraller of Genera! Oynamics
Land Systems, January 2000 - Jung 2006

David A, Savner - Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since May 1999; Senior Vice President - Law and Secretary,
April 1998 - May 1999

John W. Schwariz - Vice President and Controller since March 1998

Michael W, Toner - Executive Vice President and Group Executive, Marine Systems, since March 2003; Vice President of the company
and President of Electric Boat Corporation, January 2000 - October 2003 '

Lewis F. Von Thaer - Vice President of the company and President of General Dynamics Advanced information Systes since March
2005; Senior Vice President, Operations, of Ganeral Dynamics Advanced Informatlon Systems, November 2003 - March 2005; Vice
President of General Dynamics Advanced Information Systems, October 2001 - November 2003
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required to be set forth herein is included in the sections entitlied “Governance of the Company - Director Compensation,”
*Compensation Discussion and Analysis," “Executive Compensation” and “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation” in the comparny’s
Froxy Statement, which sections are incorporated heseln by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required to be set forth herein ks included in the sections entitied *Security Ownership of Management” and “Security Qwnership of
Cenain Beneficia) Owners" tn the company's Proxy Statement, which sections are incorporated hergin by reference.

The information required io be st forth herein with respect to securities authorized for issuance under the company’s equity compensation plans is included
in the section entitied *Equity Compensation Plan Infprmation” in the company's Proxy Statement, which sectlon is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required 1o be set forth herein is Included in the sections entitled "Govesnance of the Company - Related Party Transactions Approval Policy”
and "Govemance of the Company — Director Independence” in the company's Proxy Statement, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required to be set forth herein Is included In the section entitied “Selection of Independent Auditors — Audit and Non-Audit Fees® in the
company’s Proxy Statement, which section Is incorporated hereln by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(2} 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Eamnings
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Consgiidated Statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statement of Sharehpiders’ Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (A lo S)
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule Description Page
I Valation and Qualifying Accounts 7

AN other financiat schedutes not listed are omitied because they are either inapplicable or not required, or because the required information Is Included
in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

Sea tndex on pages 71 through 72 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securilles Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this repod to
be signed on its behall by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. |

GENERAL DYNAMICS CORPORATION

By: W/ /:Z.-:ri
/anén W Schwarz

Vice President ang Controller

February 22, 2008

Pursuant te the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below on February 22, 2008, by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and In the capacities indicated, including a majority of the directars.

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Nicholas 0. Chabraja {Principal Executive Cfficer}
Senior Vice President and Chlef Financial Officer

L. Hugh Redd {Principal Financlal Offices)
/ v j“% Vice President and Controller
John W. Schwartz {Principal Accounting Qfficen
James §. C{;an Director

William P, Fr;cks Director

Charles H. C:oodman Director

Jay L. Juhn;on Drector

George A. Jt;ulwan Director

Paul G. Kam.lnski Disectar

John M, Kea.ne Director

Deborah J. Lucas Director

Lester L. Lyl;a; Director

Cad E. Munt;y. Jr. Director

J. Christoph;: Reyes Director

Robert Waln.ISIey Director

* By David A. Sawner pursuant 1o a Power of Attorney executed by the directors listed above, which Power of Attomney has been filed as an exhibit here-
to and incorporated herein by reference thereto.

.&MM
David A. Savner

Senior Vice President, General Counsal and
Secretary
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SCHEDULE I-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

{Dollars In millions) m—_ﬁﬁ__—Est-—}

Balance at January § $ 135 $125 $ L
Charged to costs and expenses 5 15 10
Deductions from reserves {4 @ @
Other adjustments’ {49) 3 24
Balance at December 31 $ &7 $ 13 $ 125

Algwance ahd vahsation acoounty consist of accournts recelvable abiowance for doubtiul accounts
o valualion aflowance on defermed tax assets. These amounts ers deducted fram the assets to
which they apoly.

* ncludes amounts &ssuened in bysiness combinations B loreign cumency transtation adgstments,

INDEX TO EXHIBITS - GENERAL DYNAMICS CORPORATION
COMMISSION FILE KO. 1-36T1

Exhibits listed below, which have been filed with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amengded, and which were filed as noted below, are hereby incorporated by reference and made a pant of this report with the same effect as # filed herewith,

Exhibit

Number Description

a Restated Certificate of Incomoration of the company {incorporated) herein by reference from the company's current report on Form 8-K, filed with
the Commission October 7, 2004}

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of General Dynamics Corporation {as amended effective December 6, 2006} (incorporated herein by reference from
the company's current report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commisslon December 8, 2006}

4.1 Indenture dated s of August 27, 2001, among the company, the Guarantors {as defingd therein) and The Bank of New York, as Trustee (incorporated
herein by reference from the company’s registration statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission January 18, 2002)

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 27, 2001, among the company, the Guarantors (as defined therein} and The Bank of New York, as
Trustee (incorporated herein by reference from the company's registration statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission January 18, 2002)

43 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 15, 2003, among the company, the Guarantors (as detined therein) and The Bank of New York,
as Trustee (incorporated hereln by reference from the company’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commisslon May 16, 2003)

4.4 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 14, 2003, among the company, the Guarantors {as defined therein) and The Bank of New York,
as Trustes {incorporated herein by refersnce from the company’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission August 14, 2003}

10.1"  Amended and Restated Employment Agreemertt between the company and Nicholas D. Chabraja dated June 7, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference
from the company's quarterty repont on Form 10-0 for the quarterly period ended July 1, 2007, filed with the Commission August 1, 2007)

10.2* Retirement Benefit Agreement between the company and David A, Savner dated March 4, 1998 (incorparated herein by reference from the company’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, filed with the Commission March 18, 1999)

10.3*  Amendment to Retirement Benefit Agreement between the company and David A. Savner dated June 7, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference
fram {he company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterty period ended July 1, 2007, filed with the Commission August 1, 2007)

10.4* Executive Retention Agreement between the company and Watter M. Oliver dated June 7, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference from the company’s
quarterty report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 1, 2007, fited with the Commission August 1, 2007)

10.5° General Dynamics Corporation Equity Compensation Plan {incorporated hereln by reference from the company’s annual report on Fosm 10-K for
the year ended Dacember 31, 2003, filed with the Commission March 5, 2004)

10.6° Form of Intentive Slock Option Agreement pursuan to the General Dynamics Corporation Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference
trom the company’s annua! report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed with the Commission March 4, 2005)

10.7" Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the General Dynamics Corporation Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by
reference from the company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, fileg with the Commission March 4, 2005)

10.8 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the General Oynamics Corporation Equity Compensation Ptan {lncomporated herein by reference

from the company's annual repart an Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed with the Commission March 4, 2005)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS - GENERAL OYNAMICS CORPORATION
COMMISSION FILE NO. 1-387T1

Exhibit

Number QDescription

10.9° Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the General Dynamics Equity Compensation Plan**

10.10°  Successor Retirement Plan for Directors (incorporated hereln by reference from the company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, fited with the Commission March 5, 2004)

| 10.41*  Genera! Dynamics Corporation Non-gmployee Directors’ 1999 Stock Plan (incorporated herein by reference from the compar}y‘s annual report on
] Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed with the Commission March 24, 2003)

10.12*  General Dynamics Corporation Second Amenced and Restated 1997 Incentive Compensation Ptan (incorporated herein by reference: from the company’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended Seplember 29, 2002, filed with the Commission November 12, 2002)

10.13°  General Dynamics United Kingdom Share Save Plan (incorporated herein by reference from the company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002, filed with the Commission March 24, 2003)

10.14*  General Dynamics Corporation Supplemental Savings and Stock Investment Plan, as amended and restated on December 24, 2005, and conformed
10 include amendments through January 1, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference from the company's annual report on Form 10-X for the year
ended December 31, 2006, filed with the Commission February 23, 2007)

10.15*  Form of Severance Protection Agreement entered into by substantially all executive officers (incorporated herein by reference from the company's
quarterty rapert on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 29, 2002, fited with the Commission November 12, 2002)

i0.16*  General Dynamics Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, restated effective January 1, 2002, and conformed to include amendments through
January 1, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference from the company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, fited
with the Commission February 23, 2007}

10.17° 2007 Compensation Arrangerents for Named Executive Officers (incorporated herein by reference from the company's quarterly report on Form 10-G
for the quarterty period ended April 1, 2007, filed with the Commission May 2, 2007)

21 Subsidlaries™

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

24 Power of Attomey**

KIN| Certification by CEQ pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002"

31.2 Certification by CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20027

321 Certification by CEQ pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002°*

322 Certification by CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C, Section 1350, as adepted pursuant o Section 506 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002°*

* Incicatzs a managamien Contract of COMPENsITNy [¥2n & rangement required to be fled purstant o ttem 150} ¢! Form 10-K.

* Filad hergwih,
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Board of Directors | Officers
Richelas D. Chabraja | Corporate Aerospace Combat Systems Marine Systems Information
Chatirman and Office Systoms and
Chvel Executive Officer Technology
James S. Crown Nicholas D. Chabraja | Joseph T. Lombardo | Charles M. Hall Michae! W, Toner Gerard J. DeMuro
Presijent Chaiman and Exgoutive Vice Prasident Executive Vice President Executive Vice President Evecutiva Vice Presidant
Hervr Grown Ctief Executive Oificer Asruspece Combat Systems Maring Systems Information Systems and
and Company President Technology

Phebe N. Novakovic Gulfstream David K. Heebner John P. Casey
William P. Frichs Serior Vice President Serdor Vice Prasident Vice Prosident S. Dandet Johnson
Former Chanan and Plarving and Development | Larry R. Flynn Prosident Presidert Vica President
Chiei’ Executive Officer Vice Presicent Land Systems Eloctric Boat President
Nowport Nows Walter M. Oliver Prasident information Technology
Shipixsiding Inc. Servor Vice Prasident Aviation Services Michael J. Mulligan Frederick J. Harris

Hurman Resources and Gulfstream Aergspace Vice President Vice Frasident Christopher Marzilli
Charfes H. Goodman | .Adminéstration Prosident President Vice Presidont
Vice Chaiman Ira P. Berman Armament and NASSCO President
Hervy Crown ard L. Hugh Redd Vice Prasident Techrical Procucts C4 Systams
Comparny Senvor Vice President and | Senior Vice Presicont John F, Shipway

Chiet Fnancial Officer Administration John G. Ulrich Vice Prasident Lewts F. Von Thaer
Jay L. Johnson and General Counsel Vice Presidant Praskient Vice Prasident
Presdent and David A. Savner Gultstream Aerospace Presicant Bath tron Works President
Chia! Executive Officer Servor Vice Prasidornt Euopean Land Systams Advanced Information
Dor.infon Delvery Ganaral Counsel and Daniel G. Clare Systems

Secrotary Vice Fresidant Michael S. Wilson
George A Joulwan Sonior Vice President Vico Prosident
Genyal U.S. Amy Tommy R. Augustsson | Finance and Plarning President
{Ratiad) Vice Fresidant Gurfstream Aerospaca Ordnance and

inforrmation Technology Tactical Systams
Paud G. Kaminski Preston A. Henne
Charman and Randy M. Collins Vice Presidernt
Chicf Executive Officer Vice Prasicant Senior Vice President
Tact navation, inc, Fnancigl Planning and Programms, Engineering

Aralysis and Test
John M. Keane Guifstream Aerospace
General, U.S. Amy Marion T. Davis
{Retred) Vice President

Stratege Panning
Detyorah J. Lucas
Prot zssor of Finance Henry C. Eickelberg
Kedoxgg School of Vice Presidart
Mar Hurman Capitad Processes
Nor.iwvestamn University

David H. Fogg
Lester L. Lylos Vicg President
Geareral, U.S. Ar Force Troasurer
{Renired)

Joffrey Kudlac
Cad E. Mundy, Jr. Vice Fresident
Gereral, U.S, Marine Corps | Real Fslate
{Roec}

Kendell Pease
J. Christopher Reyes | We President
Co-chaiman Govarnment Relations and
Reyes Holdngs, LLC. Communicetions
Robert Walmslay Willlam O. Schmieder
Farmer UK, Chéef of Vice FPresideni
Detorca Procurerment fnrerrations!

John W. Schwartz

Vice Prasident

Controder

A S L
Corporate Transfer Agent, Auditors Annual Meeting
Hoadquarters Registrar and Dividend
Disbursing Agent KPMG LLP The annual meeting of Genaral

General Dynamics

2t41 Fairview Park Drive

Computershare Trust Company NA,

Suite 100 Attention: Shareholder Relations
Fzlls Church, Virginia PO Box 43089

2:042-4513 Providence, Rl 02940-3069
(7123) 876-3000 {800} 519-3111
wivw.generaldynamics.com www.computershare.com

1860 International Drive
McLean, Virginia 22102
{703) 285-8000

Shares Listed

Mew York Stock Exchange

Ticker symbol: GD

Dynamics shareholders will be hsid
on Wednesday, May 7, 2008, at
the General Dynamics Corporation
headquarters, 2941 Fairview Park
Drive, Falts Church, VA 22042,

A formal notice and proxy will be

mailed before the meseting to

sharshoiders entitied 1o vote.
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